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PREFACE

The architecture of the United States ranges from the work of Native Americans molding
primitive shelter with few tools, to the ultimate in technology, the USA-developed skyscraper,
which changed the cities of the world forever. The buildings in this book seek to trace our oft-
confused, occasionally sparkling, architectural evolution of some thousand years. It is not a
history of our architecture but a log book of the stepping stones in the evolution of our shel-
ter. Many splendid structures do not appear, while conversely the inclusion of a few may be
unexpected. However, having personally tracked down and photographed almost two thou-
sand distinguished structures in all fifty states, I think the five hundred discussed here are rep-
resentative of their always-ambitious times.

The first half of the book begins with a brief survey of our Native American inheritance,
then traces early New England and Virginia highlights, expanding through the decades with a
succession of influences and fashions from Europe. (Spain, of course, had established an early
settlement in Florida in 1565, but this was a military outpost, not a community.)

The second half of the book inaugurates the twentieth century, carrying new hope—as, of
course, does the imminent twenty-first. Yet the architecture of the earlier part of this centu-
ry—in spite of the “liberation of steel”—was still timid, the architects and their clients long
continuing to drape their skyscrapers with vestiges of Rome and to model their churches on
the Gothic of eight hundred years ago.

In the 1930s, however, a forward-looking, dedicated group of American architects became
impressed by the new, indeed revolutionary, work evolving in Europe. They realized that our
encrusted, largely Classic-inspired buildings were anachronistic and unsuited to meeting
twentieth-century needs. Eventually—especially after World War II—what is broadly if impre-
cisely known as Modern architecture began to flourish. Elementary in its early endeavors, this
approach of generating buildings from their needs—not stuffing them behind symmetrical
facades—Dbecame the lesson of the day. Since then there have been many variations on a
theme—sullied at times by the look-at-me school—but the future is very promising. It is
hoped that some of the buildings in this book will spark interest in this future—while remind-
ing us of much splendid work from our past.

It will be noted that the descriptions of almost all of the post-19oo buildings carry the ini-
tials and date of the architectural magazine where they were published for ease in further
research. The magazines are abbreviated as follows:

A Architecture (AIA)

A+A Arts + Architecture

AD Architectural Design

A+BN Architecture & Building News
AF Architectural Forum

Al Architect’s Journal

AP Architecture Plus

AR Architectural Record

ARev Architectural Review

F Forum (ex-Architectural Forum)
Int Interiors

JAIA AlIA Journal

LA Landscape Architecture

NWA Northwest Architecture

PA Progressive Architecture

PP Pencil Points

SAH| Society of Architectural Historians Journal

W Western Architect
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THE IDEA OF THE AMERICAN BUILDING
Michael . Lewis

What is the American building? It is Protestantism given space and materials and turned into
architecture. Change any one of these ingredients and the building changes instantly, as a sim-
ple look at Holland or Mexico will show. The American building is that familiar place where
we practice and fulfill the ritual transactions of our lives; here we may live or work, study or
trade, find comfort or be laid in our coffin—the American building cannot help but be like us.
It is the American himself, naivete bundled with generosity, the idealistic in service of the
materialistic, a thing perpetually divided between the communal and the individual, yearning
always for the former but choosing by ancient instinct the latter. It has all the virtues and vices
of the Protestant Reformation: the mercantile stance, the distrust of the sensual, and the
capacity to make redemptive myths out of everything. And, like the American, it elbows for
itself a large parcel of open space. In the end it is the ultimate nonconformist, the self-suffi-
cient loner resting at a wary but amiable distance from its fellows.

This essay introduces G. E. Kidder Smith’s remarkable and eclectic catalogue of American
buildings. It proposes several motifs that run through his book, touching lofty skyscrapers and
stately Georgian piles alike. These themes, of course, are only some strands of the compre-
hensive fabric of American architecture, and the thoughtful reader who has seen some of this
country or who has thought about it will discover others.

Through all these themes, inevitably—perhaps tragically—land is the one theme that
embraces all the others. Upon his first visit to the United States, no foreigner, no matter how
well informed, fails to be struck by America’s profligate relationship to the land. Since its
beginnings, American architecture has always been stamped by the extravagant and deliberate
use of space. In no other Western country is the proportion of unbuilt to built land so high;
nowhere else does the idea of land itself play so central a role, especially in houses. The char-
acteristic image of the American house, even if drawn by a city-dwelling child, requires open
space on all four sides. Fewer than four is unacceptable: better four cramped slivers of yard
than two generous yards at the cost of having a party wall. Every American suburban house
has in it the idea of Jefferson’s ideal villa—Monticello perched on its mountaintop above
Charlottesville—even if the villa is a 1947-vintage Cape Cod replica and the mountaintop
merely a street in Levittown.

From Levittown’s Cape Cod imagery to aluminum Georgian pediments that crest the doors
of mobile homes, our enduring domestic symbols are invariably Colonial, which is less of an
anachronism than it seems. Colonial architecture evokes the image of the first settler and the
claiming of land, unlike the infill house, which defers to the character of an existing and sta-
ble community. American suburbs still tend to be Colonial in the broadest sense: new settle-
ments, based on a process of radical land clearing and rapid development, with no need to
heed what was there.

The most characteristic domestic form, however, remains the New England saltbox, which
was already recognizable in its basic outlines in the 1670s. This was among the first of many
American building types that originated in the progressive and incremental variations of an
existing type in response to local conditions, and not from conscious invention. Originally the
form was something of an improvisation: a shed-roof addition to an existing two-story, central-
chimney house extended the gable downward to the rear to encompass a pair of additional
rooms. This served to differentiate the formal street front, generally oriented to the south,
from the now sheltered northern exposure, within which the kitchen functions huddled. As
this irregular but quite sensible addition spread, it soon began to look normal and resolved,



and soon new houses were planned from the be-
ginning with the unequal roof form.

But if the New England winter found its ideal
solution to in the form of the saltbox, the summer
posed another problem entirely. The central dilem-
ma was to devise a structure that suited both win-
ter and summer; in much of the United States, a
house had to be able to huddle like a shivering man
in February, but stretch out like an overheated sun-
bather in July. The solution was a house that in its
core was a cosy, compact volume but that opened
up to nature in an attached wooden porch of gen-
erous dimensions and multiple breezy outlooks
(fig- 1)-

The porch is one of those cultural achievements, like the Italian piazza or the Finnish
sauna, that is inseparable from a certain national character of life. A conscious adaptation to
the climate, it is also an unconscious adaptation to America’s social or moral climate. It rein-
terpreted the stoa of Greece in characteristically private American terms—not as a communal
or civic meeting space, but a transitional zone at once public and private. Here the American
individual presented himself to public view at the front of his private dwelling, addressing the
pedestrian in conversation. This architectural expression of openness and hospitality has no
close counterpart in Europe, and certainly not in the more private architecture of England. At
their climax, in the late nineteenth century, these wraparound verandas might embrace a full
three sides of a house, like the endless tiered decks of a Victorian resort hotel. But their hey-
day has passed and since the 1940s they have been amputated in large numbers as the auto-
mobile and television have together eliminated the citizen-pedestrian. There is no more trag-
ic sign of the atrophying of public life in this country.

Nature is not absent from European architecture, which knows a rustic mode and has its
share of grottoes, hermitages, and picturesque parks. But in the European tradition, nature is
the cultivated landscape of antiquity rather than the primal one of North America; it is the
tilled nature of Nicolas Poussin and Gellée Claude, not the convulsive geology of Jean Louis
Rodolphe Agassiz and Charles Lyell. Europe, haunted for centuries by the memory of Rome,
measured its buildings not against the land but against the dream architecture of antiquity,
and remained ever pessimistic about matching it. Giovanni Battista Piranesi’s fantasies were
tinged by a sense of inferiority to Rome, even as he trumped its scale. Long after Europe
embraced Romanticism and its cult of the natural, and came to understand Edmund Burke’s
doctrine of the sublime, it lagged in applying these lessons to architecture. It is true that the
English writer John Ruskin proposed buildings whose sculptural power might evoke the Alps.
But it is also true that H. H. Richardson first realized such structures in the rock cliffs he
raised in the heart of Chicago, and in Pittsburgh with his Allegheny County Courthouse
(although his stratified geologic language was rather more like that of the Dakotas than the
Alps). In more recent decades, Frank Lloyd Wright stands out for his quixotic attempt to
embrace the machine and nature simultaneously, from the conch-like spiral ramp of the
Guggenheim Museum to the moraine-like scatter of concrete at Fallingwater.

The most direct consequence of this profligacy with the land is that the American building
typically reads as a detached object in space. Even in the city the skyscraper is no mannerly
herd animal, shoulder to shoulder with buildings of similar height, materials, and expression;
instead it rises in solitude. The tower pulls back from all sides to form a separate episode of
personality, as lonely and distinct as the New England saltbox house on its bleak and snowy




slope. Raymond Hood’s blazing Radiator Building
beveled its corners inward to suggest an indepen-
dent tower, while Skidmore, Owings & Merrill
placed the shaft of their Lever Building in an urban
plaza invented for that purpose. At all costs, the
building must read as an autonomous individual
rather than as part of a continuous front, even at
the cost of unbuilt urban land. The American city
is not a collection of equal buildings arranged in
ordered tiers, but rather a collection of competing
and rambunctious individuals, engaged in the rude
business of shouting one another down. Oddly
enough, an eerie premonition of this skyscraper
war came to Erastus Salisbury Field, painting in
isolation near Amherst, in 1867. In that year he
began his Historical Monument of the American
Republic, a reverie about the founding of the nation
that prophesied a height war still another genera-
tion in the future and even Minneapolis-like sky-
walks that were a full century away (fig. 2).

But for all the irregularity of Field’s fevered
vision of America, the plan of the American city is
insistently and rigidly ordered. These twin fac-
tors—schematic order in two dimensions and

riotous disorder in three—are reflexes of the same
understanding of space. The American relation-
ship to the land is quite unlike the English one,
what has recently been called “the Tory view of
landscape.”® Proximity to existing things, which
counts for so much in the conservative English
appreciation of the landscape, counts for practical-
ly nothing here. Instead the American sense of
space, in which space itself is parceled off in the
neutral coordinates of an uninflected grid, is fundamentally Cartesian. From the design of
Philadelphia in 1682 (fig. 3) to the great gridding of the Midwest and West in the nineteenth
century, the gridiron remains the standard American form of the city, even on the Monopoly
board (fig. 4). With its Cartesian space, identical lots, numbered streets, and with no sweeping
Baroque diagonals converging at some central place of power, this is the ideal city of the
Protestant Reformation, embracing the ideal geometry of the Renaissance and eliminating the
spatial dynamics of Catholic urbanism.

It is a peculiar habit of American thought to freight the commercial with spiritual mean-
ing. The prim grid might function as a symbol of ideal order. New Haven, for example, as John
Archer has shown, was paced off in regular quadrants to reproduce the actual dimensions of
the camps of the Israelites in the wilderness, identifying it as a New Jerusalem. And pietist
communities from the Moravians and Ephrata Cloisterers to the Harmonists and Shakers
used rectilinearity as a sacred planning tool, conflating righteousness with the right angle. But
between this heavenly geometry and the plot plan of the real-estate speculator there is precious
little difference. Charles Dickens noted this irony during his American trip and celebrated
it in his Martin Chuzzlewit, where the one-eyed huckster Zephaniah Scadder ruled off a




miasmic swamp into a gridded new “Eden.” Not every grid, as Dickens noted, is religious or
even egalitarian—and even the Monopoly board is only egalitarian at the beginning of play.
For little houses give way to big hotels, and typically, as is ever the case in the American city,
once they are replaced by bigger buildings, they are swept away for good, leaving no memory
of what was there.

The American traveller in Europe is frequently startled to discover the extent to which
Continental manners are based on collective thinking. But Continental buildings likewise tend
toward collective values, architectural manners that are corsetted by ancient consensus and
policed by municipal authority. Height lines conform, materials and style respect the exam-
ples of neighbors, and even the plan must defer to precedent and zoning. The odd European
who violated this protocol of the collective, such as Adolf Loos, who proposed an unconven-
tional building on the Michaelerplatz in Vienna, faced official meddling and public ridicule.
(Loos seemed to have learned his architectural manners during his years in wild Chicago.) By
these European standards, every American building is an unruly loner. This is that second
tough fiber in the genetic makeup of the American building: the conception of the building as
an individual thing, and not an element of a communal order. In particular, commercial archi-
tecture has always shown the greatest impulse to differentiate and define. For much of the
nineteenth and twentieth centuries, America’s most striking buildings were not civic struc-
tures, which as often as not were timid, cringing essays in Classicism—some of America’s
least distinguished architecture. Instead they were mighty urban banks, company offices, and
department stores—the great sprawl of capitalism expressed in architecture. At heart, America
remains a commercial society and as a consequence has given the world consistently success-
ful commercial architects. Nowhere else were overstatement, self-aggrandizement, and jaun-
ty confidence projected with more vitality and more cheek. The best of these are invariably
gone, and are missing from this book. The more startling a building was in its day, the more
likely it was to shock a later generation, who reached for architecture’s great blue pencil, the
wrecking ball. Such was the fate of Frank Furness, America’s most ardent Victorian imagin-
er. Furness gave Philadelphia an even dozen banks in the 1870s and 1880s, each more star-
tling than the last, and often arrayed across the street from one another as if in combat, which
they were. These often terrifying buildings, Gothic behemoths suspended on Gothic columns
and arches, were made to celebrate the savings institution they housed—advertising jingles
executed in terra-cotta and colored granite. But every advertising jingle wears and grates by
repetition, and virtually all of these banks are now gone.

Furness’s architectural hitting streak stood unmatched until Raymond Hood’s spectacular
run of New York skyscrapers in the 1920s. Hood’s designs also depended on vivid architec-
tural imagery, brilliant color, and a sense of architectural physiognomy played so broadly that
it touched on caricature. Buildings such as the Chicago Tribune Tower and the Radiator Build-
ing—that gleaming architectural radiator rendered in black and gold—embody titanic com-
mercial forces and energies at their most primal. These works, and their ilk from the 1920s,
represent the last moment when American architecture was largely free of theory, and when
architects subordinated their judgement to strongly individualistic clients, whose yardstick for
success was neither theoretical nor academic, but rather vigorous in expression and lucidity of
commercial content.?

In the 1980s, commercial architecture once again enjoyed a brief season of prestige as it
had not enjoyed since the 1920s. Its celebrated apostles, including Helmut Jahn and Michael
Graves, entered the stage blithely, but also rather nervously, cribbing their best ideas from
tried and true models such as the Chrysler Building. The apologetic posture is telling, for since
the Depression architects have never felt fully confident in producing unabashedly loud com-
mercial architecture. A death blow was dealt by the Depression, and the model of architectur-



al practice that was imported from Europe in its wake was itself fundamentally incapable of
comprehending the demands of a commercial society. As a result the modern architect seems
unable to desist from parodying the very product he is selling. Only rarely, as in Helmut Jahn’s
unbuilt Trump Tower, does anything approach the swagger of the Empire State Building.
Then again, swaggering in our culture is less likely to be performed by architecture, and more
often by the intangible coin of celebrity and media attention. Perhaps these assets are less eas-
ily seized in court.

If the brashness of the American building is the brashness of vitality and energy, it is also
touched with a certain poignant insecurity. Many a swagger conceals a shudder, and many an
aggressive American building shows the deportment of the nervous bumpkin squeezed into
an ill-fitting tuxedo, the same discomfort, the same nervous overstatement. This is the legacy
of a society with an open class structure where it is the privilege of each individual to shape
his own fortune and status. Being negotiable and elastic, American social status has always
required a certain number of rhetorical devices and status marks to prop it up. And from an
early age, architecture was enlisted in this mission, communicating success and wealth, good
taste and good breeding. Unfortunately these pairs of qualities were generally inversely relat-
ed. This book records some of the wilder examples, such as Samuel Sloan’s fantasia on a
Persian theme for the planter Haller Nutt at Natchez, Mississippi; E. T. Potter’s rollicking belly
laugh of a house at Hartford, Connecticut for Mark Twain; and that gingerbread epiphany at
Eureka, California, the Samuel and Joseph C. Newson’s Carson Mansion.

All these examples are Victorian, for in that overheated epoch of social change the natural
connection between the personality of the owner and his house was pushed to white-hot inten-
sity. Nowhere was this observed more keenly than in Andrew Jackson Downing’s The Archi-
tecture of Country Houses (1850), which understood that the house was the public calling card
of the family. For them, the villa “should above all things, manifest individuality. It should say
something of the character of the family within—as much as possible of their life and history,
their tastes and associations, should mould and fashion themselves upon its walls.”3
Downing’s was no rarefied treatise on the French or German model, no exercise in abstract
system-building. Nor did he begin with a prescribed set of historical forms. Instead he was the
first to show how the architect must address the nature of American life itself, in all its rest-
less, quivering nature. His was the first classic of American architectural literature and he was
soon followed by a host of imitators, including Samuel Sloan, Calvert Vaux, George E. Wood-
ward, A. J. Bicknell, Palliser & Company, and, in our century, Gustav Stickley. In their pattern
books, all historical styles were marshalled out to stand for nuances of achievement, person-
ality or wealth. This indiscriminate shoplifting of the past was the peculiar privilege of the
American architect, who saw himself as the inheritor of the legacy of the old world, and who
regarded architectural history as Thomas Cole did in The Architect’s Dream (fig. 5), his tribute
to his friend Ithiel Town—as a Sears Catalogue of possibilities. When Sears itself began to
offer pattern book houses in the early twentieth century, the circle closed.

America is hardly unique in tarting up archi-
tecture in the service of social representation, and
the hand of individualism and commercialism
rests on many a European building. But in Europe,
these forces were resisted by a web of restraining
factors, among them the cautioning influence of
architectural academies, the snob appeal of official
patronage, the aesthetic control of municipal
authorities, and the brake of vernacular tradition.
In America, however, these restraints were absent;




it was all spur and no bridle. No formal schools of architecture existed before the 1860s, and
even in the present municipal authorities have rarely been able to exercise any aesthetic
restriction whatsoever. The occasional expectoration of public disapproval (for example, the
ridicule given a crass “folly”) often expressed as much envy as outraged taste, which rather
tended to blunt the effect of criticism.

In short, a cauldron of fierce social energies and an indulgent attitude toward their expres-
sion emerged: such is the mental atmosphere under which American architecture blossomed.
Even so, these forces would have exhausted themselves swiftly if not allowed to pour themselves
out upon a material that was equally flexible, permissive, and capable of limitless expression.
Without wood (and without the lessons taught by wood) American architecture would have
tended to remain a provincial, rather conventional variant of northern European architecture.

The American reliance on wood as the primary material of construction is the legacy of the
seventeenth century, when the continent was still largely covered by the world’s largest sur-
viving temperate forest. All along the coast, the first line of Colonial buildings was built with
the felled timbers of this forest: oaks, pines, hemlocks, and chestnuts, marvelously dense
woods, superbly impervious to insects and rot. Where the forest melted away, the houses rose.
A retreating line of trees was fashioned into houses—first saltboxes, then Greek temples, the
Gothic cottages, and then, on the West coast, into bungalows. But if it was a permanent loss,
at least it was a trade, and left a gain in the form of a sturdy, honest house. Unfortunately,
much subsequent development has claimed these houses and given precious little in return.

The earliest wood buildings were the mighty houses of colonial New England, which were
raised on a joined oak frame and built in accordance with the rules of the English joiner. The
near medieval Fairbanks House in Dedham, Massachusetts (1636) is perhaps the most ancient
of all. Adaptations were swiftly made to climate and to new social circumstances, but the great
expressive potential of wood was first realized in the van of the Industrial Revolution. In the
mid-nineteenth century, the industrialization of the building process led to the balloon frame,
which supplanted the heavy joined frame. Mill-sawn boards replaced the riven clapboards and
heavy frame while factory-milled nails replaced the old mortise and tenon joint (fig. 6).

Other building processes were changed or created by the Industrial Revolution. In 1849
James Bogardus patented designs for an all-iron building, while Robert Mook designed a con-
crete house in Port Chester, New York. But in this lengthening pageant of new materials, the
lessons of wood lingered with the American builder. Iron and concrete were used rather freely,
but always in terms of the liberating example of wood. Above all, wood is a material of pla-
narity and suggests that buildings are arrangements of folded planes, boxes with the thinnest
of walls that define an internal volume. Even when
realized in three dimensions, there is a brittle thin-
ness—a sense that architecture is only an affair of
outlines and contours, but not of solids. Even in a
wildly elaborate and decorative structure, one often
finds a certain schematic quality. Such is the men-
tality of the carpenter, the tendency to conceive of
each elevation of the building as a two-dimension-
al object. This carpenter’s mentality stamps much
of American architecture, even buildings of brick
or steel, and it separates American architecture
absolutely and sharply from those countries, such
as Italy and France, where architecture was con-
ceived historically in masonry and has always
remained a much more plastic affair. A keen ob-




server such as Charles Dickens was taken aback
when he encountered this difference, and in his
classic American Notes he grasped for words to
describe it, speaking of “sharp outlines,” “
like edges,” and the “clean cardboard colonnades”
of New England.4

Even the cast-iron front was itself a thin planar
object, like wood, whose form could be varied as
cheaply and as infinitely as any advertising bill-
board, which in fact it was. And like the wood
front, its Neo-Romanesque or Neo-Gothic or Neo-
Egyptian facade could be cast without any particular structural relationship to the building
behind it. The cost of this is an architecture that is, in historical and physical terms, only inch-
es deep (fig. 7). Here was the beginning of the great divorce of construction and expression,
the beginning of those “sheds” and “billboards” that Robert Venturi sees as so essential to the
spirit of American architecture.

In the twentieth century, American architects were innoculated with the ideas of European
Modernism. They continued to embrace new materials and methods, but now with a theoret-
ical self-concsciousness. Modern materials were not to be used as cheap and durable substi-
tutes for traditional materials; instead their use was to be governed by certain absolute and
rather deterministic principles. Most potent of these was the Modernist doctrine of the
machine, with its great imperative of standardization, the law that pushed irresistibly to the
replication of interchangable parts. The architectural corollary of this was also standardization,
but of a higher order: for example, the doctrine that housing must be designed in serried rows
of identical units. Nothing could be further from the mood of American architects who, when
exposed to modern materials and rational modes of buildings, regularly used them as instru-
ments of individual expression. Even Frank Lloyd Wright, that champion of new building
processes, constantly fondled in his imagination the union of the machine with individuality
of expression. His American System-Built houses of 191315 were based on an ingenious sys-
tem of prefabricated concrete elements that could be assembled into houses of dramatically
different character, thereby achieving the Victorian goal of variety through the modern tech-
nique of standardization.

But through it all, a certain schematic flatness has survived in the American conception of
the building. In earlier times, this was due as much to available architectural source material
as it was to the use of wood. Throughout the eighteenth century architectural inspiration came
from Italy, as filtered through those English pattern books, such as James Gibbs’s A Book of
Architecture (1728) and Colin Campbell’s Vitruvius Britannicus (1716—25), that were the main-
stay of architectural practice. In Newport, Rhode Island, Peter Harrison, one of America’s first
professional architects, regularly plundered these sources, emulating the distant and monu-
mental stone architecture of the Italian Renaissance. But neither he nor his contemporaries
knew their Italian models first hand, only imagining them through the two-dimensional plates
of their reference books. In the execution of their versions, these classical prototypes were
shrunk in scale, and often simplified and flattened out (as they were pre-flattened in the pat-
tern book engravings). Moldings and cornices projected rather shallowly; the plastic concep-
tion of the original turned into a planar affair.

Thomas Jefferson’s University of Virginia (1817-25) betrays this same schematic quality.
Often called America’s finest man-made object, it is a surpassing achievement, a vista of
infinite nature at one end with an architectural embodiment of rational order, in the form of
his Pantheon of a library, at the other. The subtlety of its landscaping and brilliant siting are

razor-




precisely what one would expect from a man with
an intimate relationship to the land, one that was
marinated in economic, political, and religious as-
sociations. But for all of his intellectual strengths,
Jefferson was at heart an American with little expe-
rience or sensitivity for plastic expression. When
he came to draft his buildings, he reverted to his
standard graph paper, that wonderfully rational
drafting aid, allowing the convenient extraction of
dimensions and volumes (fig. §). How far apart this
is—at the risk of seeming ridiculous—from the
world of Michelangelo, who might build a full-
scale wood mock-up of a cornice and hoist it aloft
in order to gauge its sculptural qualities under con-
ditions of light and shadow. Contrast this with
Jefferson’s intellectual working method, and his cherished graphs: Jefferson the Platonist fus-
sing with the Classical proportions and Jefferson the frugal planter counting cubic masses of
brick. Seldom were American idealism and pragmatism wed so successfully, or seamlessly.

But idealism and pragmatism, though opposites, do not embrace the whole spectrum of
human possibilities. There is a whole lobe of the human heart that American architecture does
not address, and this is where an honest evaluation of the American building must end.

American architecture, like American food, shuns the sensual. Rarely have explicitly sensual
values—say the play of light and shadow over walls or the sheer physical delight in materials—
played a great role in American architecture. The one era of sensual indulgence in American
art, the aesthetic movement of the 1880s and 189os, is the lonely exception to this broad pat-
tern. Louis I. Kahn'’s late works are another anomaly. American buildings, like American
white bread, processed cheeses, and the modern tomato, provide us the shape of the thing, and
the color of the thing, but seldom the tart, tang, or zest of the thing. In each instance there per-
sists a certain puritanical disinterest in things sensual that has its origins in, but has lost its
moorings from, seventeenth-century puritan theology with its suspicion of the plastic arts, and
its outright hostility to the sensual art of Catholic Europe. Even today, the American will char-
acteristically sacrifice sensual delight to the utilitarian or the pragmatic. (Just to reverse the
terms and sound them out shows how ingrained these concepts are in us.) Few, if any, argu-
ments in America are settled by an appeal to the aesthetic or the sensual; some are settled by
appeals to morality, many more by appeals to efficiency or economy. The great wave of street
widening and tree felling that occurred since World War II, and that permanently affected the
look of every American city, occurred with virtually no murmur of aesthetic indignation,
although it is one of the single greatest changes to the physical character of America in this
century. Even environmental lobbying here is successful on utilitarian grounds—health and
so forth—rather than aesthetic ones.

Architectural criticism flits from topic to topic but in the end always comes to rest on the
formal. Litigation and efficiency, those great shapers of architecture, do not get as much cred-
it as the formal impulse. The most successfully sculptural architecture of this century, the
chiseled and modeled skyscrapers of the 1920s, were not the product of a general aesthetic
movement. Rather they were the direct consequence of New York’s celebrated zoning restric-
tions of 1916, the famous setback laws. Here the developer’s impulse to maximize the volume



of his building met a series of restrictions aimed at
reducing its mass systematically at higher levels.
The contours resulting from these prescribed set-
backs, where cupidity collided with legislation, cre-
ated a new language of chiseled and angular forms,
the characteristic expression of Art Deco America
(fig- 9). But the germinating idea, the controlling
impulse, was based on commercial and civic
forces. Perhaps no other major building type in
world history was less the product of architects,
and more that of lawyers, developers, and politi-
cians.

There is present in American architecture a curi-
ous disembodied quality, a powerful utilitarian
impulse that exists side by side with the ideal and
that often threatens to overpower it. No country was
so quick to make buildings that were utilitarian
intellectual exercises, cerebral creations rather than
historical artifacts. The influential plan of John
Haviland’s Eastern State Penitentiary in Philadel-
phia (begun in 1822), America’s first widely export-
ed building type, is virtually a mathematical diagram
of its function: the central hub with the observation
and service core guards the radiating wings with
cells and private exercise yards. Here was a utilitari-
an map of circulation and observation made without
reference to historical typology (fig. 10).

Just as radically utilitarian was Orson Squire
Fowler, that nearly demented phrenologist who
likewise pursued an abstract diagrammatic archi-
tecture, following to an unsound conclusion a
sound mathematical principle. This was the rule
that the interior area of a polygon increases in pro-
portion as it approaches a circle, which Fowler took as a command to build houses in the
forms of octagons. Utilitarian rationality, nearing the point of lunacy, was intensely fashion-
able in the early 1850s in an America where efficiency counted for much and where the inhi-
bitions against new forms were so weak. There is hardly a New England community without
an octagonal house—and scarcely one with two.

Such is that characteristic American willingness to entertain Rube Goldberg schemes, the
same impulse that marvels at gadgets for expanding hanger space in clothes closets, or multi-
purpose Vegematics. At its best, this impulse made American houses the world’s best heated,
best insulated, and best plumbed, already by the middle of the nineteenth century. At its worst,
this impulse led to coldly mechanistic houses, like Buckminster Fuller’s Dymaxion House, or
to the modern double-wide modular home.

In the past, this utilitarian component was held in rigid check by a ligature of interlock-
ing factors, including the general use of historical source matter, craft standards in the build-
ing trades, a strong social compact, and an agrarian relationship to the land, even if a gener-
ation or two removed. These checks have in recent decades been loosened. While the lines of
continuity traced in this essay connect the seventeenth to the mid-twentieth century, many




have been broken. The naive idealism that is so apparent in much of America’s historical
architecture is conspicuously missing in buildings of the past three decades, starved on the
innutritious spiritual diet of this century. Other lines of continuity have been preserved, but
have pushed themselves to extremes, like an overrank garden. The planar thinness of
American buildings has pushed itself almost to the point of dissolution. American wood is
now the flimsy and porous material of rapid-growth commercial species, sitting as lightly on
the land as any American building ever did, with little promise of permanence. And the most
heralded architectural debates of the last three decades—that between Modernists,
Postmodernists, and Deconstructionists—has been essentially a rather barren debate over the
proper surface cladding of utilitarian sheds, which in their fundamental construction have not
changed appreciably.

During this same time there has occurred a shift in the public attitude toward architecture.
At one time new American buildings were intensely popular, and closely followed by a public
that understood the conventions and rules that dictated their form. If these buildings were
crudely commercial or civic, they needed no intellectual program to be appreciated. But the
anti-intellectual tradition that has always underpinned American art and architecture has been
overturned since World War II. America’s schools of architecture embraced Modernism in the
1930s, and in recent years many have turned to critical literary theory and deconstruction. The
intellectualizing of American architecture in now complete, Jacques Derrida in the outermost
suburbs and Michel Foucault in the mini-mall. Still, a society that remains at heart solidly anti-
intellectual looks on uncomprehendingly at most recent buildings. Few are celebrated now
except by the adept professional celebrators in the press and in the academies.

* ok K

G. E. Kidder Smith’s Source Book of American Architecture is a personal selection of great Amer-
ican buildings. It does not inventory losses, the toll of which is ponderous, but even so it
makes clear that there is a vast architectural legacy in this country. As any personal selection
of buildings should, it has all the quirks and idiosyncrasies of one man. It is not the negotiat-
ed and filtered product of compromise. It is the current fashion (and probably a passing fash-
ion) to quibble over such lists, and over anyone’s authority to compile a canon. But itis a splen-
did compendium, and like Nikolaus Pevsner’s The Buildings of England it is filled with
generosity of spirit, robust wit, and vigor of expression—qualities that resound in the build-
ings it extols. It is as close to a canon as anything I have seen. Some might want to add H. H.
Richardson’s Ames Gate Lodge—but at the cost of a Sullivan bank? Read the book, remem-
bering that architecture is a spatial art, and requires spatial experience. Read it, savor the
prose, and then go to the buildings.

And what of the future of American architecture? The American building is a living thing,
with organic powers of recuperation and regeneration, and with that capacity of all living
things to change infinitely while remaining fundamentally the same. But it is also unlike liv-
ing things in two cardinal ways. On the one hand, it preserves the embodied memory of itself
at almost every earlier stage of its existence, as this great Domesday Book of Kidder Smith
shows. And on the other hand, it is not an independent organism that follows its own laws of
growth and renewal, but a dependent thing, nourished and sustained by American society. It
can survive anything, assimilate anything, except a demoralization of that society. It cannot
regenerate itself from within itself, no more than an empty seashell can—this is the reason for
that odd hollow ring heard in so much of the architectural debate of recent years.
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PUEBLO BONITO (A.D. 919—1067)
NM 57
Chaco Canyon National Monument, New Mexico

Pueblo Bonito represents the meridian of Native American architectural achievement in what
is now the United States. The Yucatan of the Mayas and Machu Picchu of the Incas far out-
stripped North American work in both scope and technical know-how, but this long-deserted
settlement in the Chaco Canyon is nevertheless prodigious. And though its ruins may not be
as visually dramatic as those at Mesa Verde National Park, Colorado (see page 23), the archi-
tectural sophistication of Pueblo Bonito is far superior to that of the cliffside adaptations of the
Colorado Anasazi. Moreover, Pueblo Bonito was not erected for religious rituals, but was an
active four- to five-story town of approximately six hundred rooms spread over 3 acres/1.2 hec-
tares. Until the development of the American housing complexes of recent years it was indeed
the largest megastructure on these shores.

Bonito was planned in a D shape with its high, almost windowless, arced back confronting
the cliffs behind. Its contiguous tiers of southerly facing apartments step down in curved ter-
races to focus, almost like a stadium, on a central plaza, the whole closed by a wall of build-
ings across the straight side near the Chaco Wash. In front of the rooms are thirty-two clan
kivas and two great kivas, the larger 52 feet/16 meters in diameter. Almost all of the cliff set-
tlements, except the smallest, had kivas or ceremonial subterranean chambers, which evolved
from early pit houses, were rounded in shape, and were reached only by a ladder via a small




hatch in their roof. They occupied important spots in front of the apartments, each kiva (a
Hopi word) being a form of “clan” headquarters and council chamber. Measuring 10-15
feet/3—4.6 meters in diameter, the kivas were approximately 6 feet/1.8 meters tall with a half-
dozen masonry “piers” on the periphery providing the vertical structure. On these rested lay-
ers of logs, each course angled to the one below until the roof structure was complete; on this
mud was packed to seal the roof, which also served as “paving” for the courtyard. In the floor
near the center was a fire pit, and, as there was only a small opening for ladder access and
smoke exit, a clever ventilation shaft fed fresh air to the bottom of the kiva, with a small wall
of sandstone placed so as to block direct draft from the fire itself. A tiny hole in the floor, called
a “sipapu,” formed the symbolic entrance for the gods of the underworld. In addition to coun-
cil and religious uses, the kivas doubled as work spaces.

Not only was there a “town plan” for Pueblo Bonito (and other settlements of the Chaco),
but construction techniques here were very advanced. The high curved wall that enfolds much
of the complex is an outstanding example of stonework of any era. This perimeter enclosure,
measuring approximately 8oo feet/244 meters long, is faced on both sides with beautifully
dressed and fitted small stones, while rubble fills the center—an advanced veneer technique
common in ancient Greek and Roman architecture. Wide foundations were laid, with walls
properly narrowing toward the top, and doorways were often placed in line, reflecting a con-
sidered in the room arrangement. The stonework of the short domestic divisions can only be
described as elegant. It should be pointed out that not all masonry was so exact; earlier sec-
tions were of crude stone.

Pueblo Bonito was neither the earliest nor the only settlement in the canyon. It was,
indeed, one of a system of satellite communities. Humans had been dwelling and farming,
instead of nomadic hunting, along the Chaco River at least since the sixth century A.D.
(hunters since, perhaps, 7000 B.C.), and dozens of sizable communities were strung along its
course. Many of their ruins are visitable today. Remote sensing techniques have outlined an
extensive network of uniform, straight roads connecting each pueblo with resource areas
beyond the canyon’s escarpment. Bonito was the largest and architecturally the most sophis-
ticated of Native American settlements in North America in its overall concept and its level of
execution. The settlement was largely abandoned around A.D. 1130-1180, probably in part due
to a prolonged drought; increased population, which led to land exhaustion, may also have
been partly to blame. But what a monument the people left!

Check in first at the Visitors Center for a self-guiding pamphlet and to see the small muse-
um and its reconstruction of the pueblo. A number of sites will merit a visit, with the Great
Kiva at Casa Rinconada (opposite Pueblo Bonito) rating especially high. Built around A.p. 1150,
this restored (1933-35) but now unroofed kiva is, at 63.5 feet/19.3 meters in diameter and a
maximum height of 12.1 feet/3.7 meters, one of the largest in the country. It is characterized
by excellent stonework, which was originally plastered and probably painted. Precise orienta-
tion can be seen in the four holes that once held its roof posts: they align with the cardinal
points. It is probable that Casa Rinconada (Corner House), unlike most kivas, was an isolated
place “of public assembly” (Gordon Vivian and Paul Reiter, The Great Kivas, School of Ameri-
can Research, 1965).

Note: The road into Chaco Canyon National Monument can charitably be described as
poor: in wet weather it is virtually impassable for a two-wheel-drive vehicle. No tourist facili-
ties exist except for rest rooms and a campground.

From the north, take NM 44 to San Juan County Road to NM 57 south; from the south, take Navajo 9 to NM 57 north. Sites
open daily sunrise-sunset. Visitors Center open daily 8:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M. (Memorial Day-Labor Day open daily 8:00
A.M.—6:00 P.M.). Closed Christmas and New Year's Day. Admission is $4 per vehicle. Camping fees are $8 per site per night.
From Memorial Day to Labor Day, ranger-guided walks given daily. For more information call (s05) 786-7014.



WHITE HOUSE (1066-1275)
Canyon de Chelly National Monument
Chinle, Arizona

White House, located at the base of an extraordinary canyon—a red sandstone Permian slash
at times 1,000 feet/305 meters deep—is, like other cliff-dwellings throughout the Four Cor-
ners area (Colorado, New Mexico, Arizona, and Utah), far more of nature than of man. But it
represents, as do the others, such a logical, functional, and handsome fusion of home beseech-
ing cliff that it offers rewards to all interested in the earliest surviving vernacular of the United
States. Its precipitous location did not encroach upon the fertile river-watered land below and
also provided reasonable defense. (These factors also prompted the development of Italian hill
towns in the Middle Ages.) Nature, of course, furnished much of the shelter, as well as a beau-
ty that will excite anyone spirited enough to hike down and back the 500-foot/ 152-meter drop
to the canyon’s broad base via a good but strenuous trail. (River-bottom Jeep trips—plus
accommodations—are available from Thunderbird Lodge.) But even if one does not go to the
canyon base, the automobile trip along the rim, especially with binoculars, is enlightening.

The ruin consists of two sections: a lower part against the base of the cliff and an upper one
from which the name is derived. (“White House” comes from the still-surviving white clay
plastering of the central room.) Neither section is accessible. The higher part is magnificently
perched 40 feet/12 meters above the canyon floor—like the nest of a huge bird—with approx-
imately eleven partially intact rooms notched into the protecting cliffside. Ladders gave access
from the roofs of the lower buildings, which once rose three and four floors but which have
been reduced by river and weather to ruined hulks today. (Unusually high water in 1930 cre-
ated severe damage.)

In 1931 the entire area, which covers 130 square miles/337 square kilometers and which
also includes Canyon del Muerto, was dedicated as the Canyon de Chelly National Monument.
The region was occupied by the prehistoric Pueblo Anasazi culture beginning around A.D.
200, but abandoned at the end of the thirteenth century because of, among other causes, the
disastrous drought that seared the entire Four Corners area for more than a generation. (Some
two thousand known Anasazi sites are left in the monument area.) Around 700 the Navajo—
the largest of the Native American groups—migrated to the canyon, and today it is their tra-
ditional home. Note their hogans scattered along the flat and fertile riverbed. These slightly
domed, roughly circular houses are virtually unique to Navajo culture. Hogans are related to
the shelters of the Navajo’s Athapascan cousins in northwest Canada, but their design
changed from bark covering to hide to packed earth and sticks as the early migratory hunters
and gatherers moved to and settled in the southwest United States, arriving around
1400-1500. The hogans’ basically circular plan, however, remained though the older more
conical form evolved into the low “dome” seen here. Religious symbolism affected the design
of these shelters: their entryways faced eastward so
that they would catch “the first blessing” of the sun.
“Even Navajos with modern houses may have
hogans for religious rites” (The World of the American
Indian, National Geographic Society, 1974).

Located 6.5 miles/10 kilometers east of Chinle. Canyon de Chelly
National Monument open daily 8:00 A.M.—5:00 p.M. Closed Christmas
and New Year's Day. The site can be reached by foot (no charge), by
truck tour through the Thunderbird Lodge (prices vary), or by horse
tour (prices vary). Visitors owning four-wheel drive vehicles can hire a
Navajo guide ($10 per hour, minimum 3 hours). For more information
call the Canyon de Chelly Visitors Center at (602) 674-5500.




AZTEC RUINS NATIONAL MONUMENT (1111-15/mid-13th century)
Ruins Road
Aztec, New Mexico

Erroneously called “Aztecs” by early Europeans, the builders of this substantial settlement—
whose precise dates were determined using dendrochronology—were the Pueblo (that is, “vil-
lage”) Indians. Their ancestors moved into this San Juan River area about two thousand years
ago, and toward the end of the eighth century A.p. began to develop the connected flat-roofed
communities the Spaniards called “pueblos.” (Some historians think that the Pueblos were
driven from Mexico by the Aztecs.) Besides providing us today with an intriguing ruin in the
northwest corner of the state, the complex is important in both urban and architectural terms.
First, this was a geometrically planned community, built in the shape of a rectangle approxi-
mately 278 x 360 feet/85 x 110 meters in size, focused on the circular Great Kiva. Aztec Ruins,
moreover, comprises a megastructure, an interconnected block of about five hundred cellular
dwelling and storage units. These housed some 450 people in two- and three-story “apart-
ments,” each roughly 10 x 12 feet/3 x 3.6 meters in size. On the base level across the back, the
pueblo is as much as six rooms deep, and four to five along the sides. The windowless inner
rooms were used for storing food during the winter months, for personal possessions, and for
work spaces and burial chambers. Finally, like Pueblo Bonito in Chaco Canyon (see page 18)
but unlike New Mexico’s score of other pueblos, this pueblo is constructed totally of dry sand-
stone, not adobe. Its workmanship, considering that the cutting and dressing tools were them-
selves of stone, is astonishing. Note the alternation of wide and narrow bands. The quarries,
incidentally, lie 1 mile/1.6 kilometers away.
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Aztec Ruins is also distinguished by its Great Kiva (there are twenty-nine smaller ones) that
projects half above ground and that has been carefully reconstructed (1934) on the foundations
of the original (see Pueblo Bonito—page 18—for an extensive description of the kiva). This
startling room—which was probably used by the whole community—should by all means be
seen, for it is one of the few extant or restored examples of monumental interior space of early
Native American building. Measuring 48.3 feet/14.7 meters in inner diameter, its center sec-
tion is upheld by four piers made of alternating layers of log sections and stones, with beams
across them and other logs on top radiating to the periphery. Surrounding the central section,
which is set 8 feet/2.4 meters below grade, are fourteen small chambers (their function is
unknown) with two doors each, a small one to the central area and one to the outside. (These
latter were sealed during one of the alterations.) An altar, or fire pit, stands opposite the
entrance with two mysterious, rectangular pits, or “vaults,” on either side. These are held by
some to be sudatories, or sweat baths, while others consider them foot drums when covered
with hides or wooden planks. A circular stone bench rings the whole.

This splendid kiva and town were abandoned around 1150, not very long after completion,
presumably because of lack of rainfall and/or changes in the Chacoan economic and social sys-
tem. However, the pueblo was reoccupied and in part remodeled by others around 1215. These
inhabitants, who displayed cultural traits of the Mesa Verdean people, remodeled many rooms
and modified the kiva to suit their needs, only to abandon the site permanently during the
great drought of 1276—99—the period of the High Gothic in Europe.

Located .7 mile/1.1 kilometers north of us 550. Memorial Day—Labor Day open daily 8:00 A.M.—6:00 P.M. The rest of the year
open daily 8:00 A.M.—5:00 .M. Closed Thanksgiving, Christmas, and New Year’s Day. Admission is $2 per person, free for
children under 17. For more information call (505) 334—6174.
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CLIFF DWELLINGS (c. 1200-1300)
Mesa Verde National Park, Colorado

For utmost symbiosis between architecture and landscape, man and nature, one need proceed
no further than the Mesa Verde cliff dwellings. Circular troglodytic holes in the ground serve
as efficient shelter in Tunisia (Matmata), and square ones in China (primarily in Honan
Province), but one will find more “architecture,” more of the creative act of placing stone on
stone, in the hundreds of cliff dwellings along the precipitous bluffs of this southwest corner
of Colorado. The settlements—the largest and most numerous of their kind in the country—
were established by the ancestors of today’s Pueblos.

The mesa itself, rising 1,300-2,000 feet/396—-610 meters above the plains (8,572 feet/
2,613 meters maximum above sea level), offered some natural defense through its height and
thus its top has been occupied and its soil cultivated (with beans, squash, and corn) since
approximately A.D. 6oo. Until the mid-eighth century these early people—the “Modified
Basket Makers” (A.D. 450—750)—lived atop the mesa in pit houses (that is, half in the ground),
then in individual mud and stone dwellings. In the mid-eighth century the Native Americans
adopted pole, wattle, and mud to build south-facing arcs of rectangular, attached “row hous-
es,” the resulting pueblos (“villages”) giving them the name Pueblos. By the year 1000 stone
began to replace wooden posts: such construction later developed into complexes as long as 50
feet/15 meters and three stories high. Around 1200 the inhabitants moved off the mesas to
shelters under the cliff overhangs. It is not known precisely why they moved, for no evidence
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of unusual violence has been discovered. Defense against their own people during clan disputes
has been suggested, along with overpopulation and environmental factors such as depletion
of soil minerals. In any case many moved into the large alcoves, almost caves, that had been
created from water and frost acting on the soft sandstone cliffsides. Hundreds of cliff
dwellings—five hundred is a frequently used figure (with a maximum of perhaps fifteen hun-
dred rooms)—were then built along the cliff faces of the area. Some were tiny affairs seeming-
ly glued to the canyon wall and obviously capable of holding only one agile family’s posses-
sions; others were virtually of village size. The majority of the population, which some
authorities believe amounted to about seven hundred people in the 1200s, lived in the many
small cliff dwellings, not the few large ones.

One of the largest of the Mesa Verde cliff dwellings is the Cliff Palace, which measures 325
feet/99 meters long, has a maximum depth of approximately 100 feet/30 meters, and accom-
modated 250 to 400 souls at its peak, with some 200 rooms and 23 kivas. (The 110 steps down
and the climb up can be strenuous for some at 7,000 feet/2,134 meters altitude.) Spruce Tree
House (near the museum), at 216 x 89 feet/66 x 27 meters, is better preserved and easier of
access; it has 114 rooms and 8 kivas. All of them are architecturally ingenious, well-ordered
assemblages in a tightly compacted space, in which every square foot was put to use: “a delir-
ium of man-made geometry” (Vincent Scully, Pueblo, Viking Press, 1975). As the Pueblos
lacked all but the simplest tools, the cliffsides themselves were rarely touched, and the build-
ings were adapted to the natural morphology of the setting (except for leveling the floor). Some
of the “apartments” are four levels high, each entered by a narrow (16—25-inch/41-64-cen-
timeter) rectangular or T-shaped door. Almost all exhibit capable masonry work, with the inte-
riors plastered and occasionally decorated. Several stout logs form the ceiling and roof joists,
with smaller logs laid upon them at right angles, then branches and adobe added for finish. A
single window, often no more than a peephole, admitted a bit of light and air; the doors were
closed at night by a sandstone slab. Most units had a small fireplace.

Even more capable work, especially in masonry, can be seen in the nearby Sun Temple, a
ceremonial structure superbly situated on a point of Chapin Mesa. This now forms a sym-
metrical roofless maze whose walls, 8—11 feet/2.4-3.4 meters high and 3 feet/.9 meter thick,
describe a D-shaped form 121 x 64 feet/37 x 19 meters. Possibly begun around 1270, it was
never finished. Except for the reinforcement of the top of the walls no contemporary work has
been needed to preserve this tantalizing and mysterious ruin.

The Four Corners area (Colorado, New Mexico, Arizona, and Utah) suffered a severe
drought from 1276—99—dates established by dendrochronology. It is thought that this, plus
soil loss, forced emigration southward. Cliff Palace lay unknown to the white man until it was
discovered by two cowboys in December of 1888. (Several very small cliff dwellings had been
discovered in Mancos Canyon in 1874 and 1875.) In 1906 the area—which had been heavily
pilfered over the years—was made a National Park; shortly thereafter measures were taken to
excavate the sites and stabilize the weakened remains to make them safe for visitors.

In addition to the Mesa Verde cliff dwellings built by the sedentary Pueblos, there are other
cliff dwellings in the Four Corners region, notably White House at the Canyon de Chelly
National Monument in Chinle, Arizona (see page 20), and the Montezuma Castle National
Monument in the central part of that state. All are well worth seeing; the breathtaking views
en route to Mesa Verde alone merit the trip.

Park entrance is located 10 miles/16 kilometers east of Cortez. The park is open year round; admission is $5 per vehicle. Far
View Visitors Center located 21.5 miles/35 kilometers south of us 160 and is open Memorial Day—Labor Day, daily 8:00
A.M.—5:00 P.M. Tours of Cliff Palace available in summer; tours of Spruce Tree House available in winter. Tickets can be pur-
chased at the Visitors Center. For more information call (303) 529-4475.

24



TAOS PUEBLO (pre-16th century)
North Pueblo Road
Taos, New Mexico

Wheeler Peak, New Mexico’s highest mountain (13,161 feet/4,011 meters), forms the back-
drop, a grove of cottonwood rustles nearby, and a mountain stream meanders through—it is
no wonder that this spot has been continuously settled for over a millennium. And, further, it
is no wonder that its Tiwa-speaking Pueblos, like the ancient Greeks siting their temples, have
treated the land religiously; places like Blue Lake in the hills are indeed sacred. Some seven
hundred years ago at the beginning of the so-called Pueblo 4 Period (c. 1275-1598), the ances-
tors of the present inhabitants, who had long since mastered basic agriculture, moved into the
Taos region and commenced building their famous communal houses of adobe, simple pro-
totypes of which trace back to, perhaps, the eighth and ninth centuries. The “apartment” com-
plexes we observe today are probably little changed from those seen and described (as “pueb-
los” or villages) by the first Spanish explorers under Francisco Vasquez de Coronado in 1540.
Some experts, John P. Harrington among them, believe that the very word “Taos” is “proba-
bly a Spanish variation of the native name ‘Tua,” meaning house, houses, or village” (as quoted
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by Stanley A. Stubbs in his Bird’s-Eye View of the Pueblos, University of Oklahoma Press, 1950).
The present buildings were largely constructed and slightly relocated around 1700 following
the Pueblo Rebellion of 1680-92 and the fire of 1694. Because of their extent and height (up
to five stories) they are unique in the Western Hemisphere for adobe construction. (Abroad,
one finds more daring in the pisé “skyscrapers” and fortified towns in the Hadhramaut of
Yemen and in the Dadés Valley of Morocco, but in these arid spots rain is almost nonexistent.
In New Mexico, rain—and snow—must be contended with seasonally.) The word “adobe,”
incidentally, can be traced back to Egyptian hieroglyphics via Coptic, Arabic, and Spanish ver-
sions. This sun-dried brick construction was introduced to the Spaniards by the Moors; its ori-
gin extends to Neolithic times.

The plan of the Taos Pueblo, officially San Gerénimo de Taos, is puzzling; an open square
with a stream divides the town into north and south houses. Each covers roughly the same
area but the north units (to the left of the church) favor one- to five-story construction, while
the others are primarily one to two stories. The irregular plaza in the center was for ceremo-
nial and propitiatory (mostly rain) dances. But whichever side of the Rio Pueblo (which flows
from Blue Lake) one lived on, egalitarianism of living quarters seemed in order for the approx-
imately one thousand inhabitants. There is democracy in the shelter here without hierarchical
distinction even for the governor (annually elected) and the cacique, or high priest (a lifetime
appointment). This egalitarianism and its accompanying passivity at one time tempted incur-
sions by nomadic Apaches, Comanches, and Utes, who lived largely on pillage. To protect
themselves from raids the Taosefios erected a wall in the mid-eighteenth century around their
pueblo, to which, in times of danger, the neighboring Spanish were invited. Land was com-
munally held, while the farmland and the dwellings could be individually or clan owned, but
generally under informal community control. The ancient mission of San Gerénimo, 1706,
stands in ruins in the northwest corner of the pueblo, shelled into oblivion by American troops
in 1847.

It is the extraordinary cellular living units at Taos that most excite the visitor; the piling of
cube on cube evokes the splendor of abstract geometry and produces a scale buildup that
echoes the surrounding hills. Here is a unique measure of ancient American vernacular: “the
greatest aboriginal communal dwelling in the United States” (Earle R. Forrest, Missions and
Pueblos of the Old Southwest, Rio Grande Press, 1929, reprinted 1965). Moreover, the near
solidity of the adobe walls gains emphasis from the contrast with the tenuous wooden outrig-
ging of the shelters in front and by the ladders used to reach the upper terraces. The open-
sided frameworks are used for drying and to help protect the domical ovens where daily and
ritual bread were baked. Most of the wall openings—the doors and large windows seen
today—date from the last half of the nineteenth century, when depredations ceased and glass
became available. Previously, walls had been nearly solid, except for smoke holes, accessed
only by hatches in the roof in kiva fashion.

Detailed inspection of the pueblo reveals a certain unkemptness, particularly following rain
or snow, and the whole is finer than the parts, but this whole is so strangely encantada (espe-
cially in the late afternoon) that the Taos Pueblo will intrigue most observers. Fortunately,
48,000 acres/19,425 hectares of land, seized by the United States Government in 1906, was
returned to the Taos in 1970. Thus they are once more in possession of their sacred preserve.
Along with the earlier but ruined Pueblo Bonito (see page 18) and the largely ruined cliff
dwellings at Mesa Verde (see page 23)—all tribally related—architecture in the United States
obviously began with Pueblo culture.

Located 2.6 miles/4.2 kilometers north of downtown Taos. Open daily 8:00 A.M.=5:00 P.M. during the summer, 9:00 A.M.—4:00
p.M. during the winter. Closed for six weeks in spring; call for dates. Admission is $5 per car plus $1 per person. There is also
a fee for photographing or sketching. Tours available in summer. For more information call (505) 758-1028.
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PU'UHONUA O HONAUNAU NATIONAL HISTORICAL PARK, PLACE OF REFUGE
(16th—17th century/1966—69)
Honaunau, Hawaii, Hawaii

“The cities which you give to the Levites shall be the six cities of refuge, where you shall per-
mit the manslayer to flee” (Numbers 35:6, Revised Standard Version). Although the ancient
Hawaiian cities of refuge obviously differ in detail from those frequently mentioned in the Old
Testament, the concept for both was similar. As stern vengeance, and often death, was visited
on all who broke the complex system of sacred Island kapus or taboos (tabu itself is a Tongan
word), these sanctuaries (pu-uhonuas) served an essential societal need. Those seeking safety
within their sacred confines—often women, children, and old men in times of bitter inter-
necine war—found sanctuary and/or absolution from their misdeeds, the latter sometimes
rendered by the resident priests in a matter of hours, after suitable prayers. So important was
this haven concept in early Hawaii that “cities” of refuge, sometimes just a designated cave,
were found on all islands. The most impressive one remaining is this partially restored exam-
ple on Honaunau Bay in the Pu’uhonua O Honaunau National Historical Park, not far south
of the spot where Captain Cook met his untimely death.

In 1819 King Liholiho (Kamehameha II, who reigned 1819—24) overthrew the kapu pro-
scriptions—which extended to the type of food women could eat, let alone forbidding them to
eat with men—and destroyed most of the existing heieus, or temples, a startling act of aposta-
sy which undoubtedly facilitated the introduction of Christianity by the missionaries who
arrived (providentially?) the following year. However, this Place of Refuge was spared, only to
be razed in 1829. It occupies the end of a small peninsula, and is defined on one side by an
angled wall approximately 1,000 feet/305 meters long, 10 feet/3 meters high, and 17 feet/5.2
meters thick, and on the other sides by the sea. The ambitious wall, which dates from around
1550, is constructed of rough blocks of lava, some weighing 4—6 tons/3.6—5.4 metric tons laid
without mortar. (The lava came
from the 13,677-foot/4,169-
meter Mauna Loa, the world’s
largest active volcano, which
lies about 22 miles/35 kilo-
meters east of Puuhonua O
Honaunau. Its most recent ma-
jor eruption occurred in 1950
with its lava flowing nearby to
the sea; in much earlier blow-
outs the lava covered the site.) A
large platform that once formed
the base of a temple, and that
also dates from the mid-six-
teenth century, stands within
the enclosure near the site of an
earlier heieu—and was probably
built with its stones. The high-
light of the compound is the
third temple, the Hale-o-Keawe,
which served as the Royal
Mausoleum. This tent-shaped,
thatched structure, built origi-
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nally around 1650, was meticulously reconstructed by National Park Service experts in
1966-69, aided by sketches made by early European visitors. The temple’s sacred ground is
protected by a stout fence of sharpened pales, with perhaps more effective protection afforded
by the fearsome collection of akua ki’i (literally “god images”), here wooden pole-figures rep-
resenting the gods buried within, some twenty-three deified kings and chiefs. (Are these pole-
figures distant cousins of the totem poles of the natives of the northwest continental United
States?)

A few hundred yards to the north and near the shore stand six thatched shelters, one left
purposefully unfinished to graphically show the complexity of the seemingly simple
Polynesian “grass” construction. In sum, Pu’uhonua O Honaunau Historical Park offers an
enlightening display of traditional Hawaiian culture. The Park Service has also designed a
first-rate orientation building near the entrance.

Located on Hi 16, south of Hi 11, 21 miles/34 kilometers south of Kailua. Park open daily 6:00 A.M.—12:00 midnight, Visitors
Center open daily 7:30 A.M.—5:30 P.M. Admission is $2 per person or $4 per vehicle, free for seniors and for children 16 and
under. Orientation talks given at 10:00, 10:30, and 11:00 A.M. and 2:30 and 3:30 P.M. Group tours can be arranged for a $25
fee. For more information call (808) 328—2288.

ST. AUGUSTINE RESTORATION AREA (1565-1821/1960-)
St. George Street
St. Augustine, Florida

St. Augustine is the oldest European settlement in what eventually became the United States.
It was, it must be kept in mind, primarily a Spanish military outpost or, as it has been called,
“a small poor garrison town” for almost two hundred years. It never approached a fully round-
ed agricultural or trading colony like the English established from Savannah, Georgia, to
Machias, Maine. (Spain had to look after and support almost two hundred other bases and set-
tlements in the New World in the sixteenth century. St. Augustine was their northernmost
base on the continent, the eleventh attempted in Florida, and the only one to survive through
the years.) Intended to discourage southward excursions by the French and English, as men-
tioned in the description of the Castillo de San Marcos (see page 42), this Florida community
was thus largely inhabited by military men and their families, not by plantation owners or city
burghers. The greatest resulting architectural achievement was the superb Castillo, the adja-
cent village forming a picturesque if uneven background. Since it was a lonely outpost for so
long, little grandezza was called for, while destruction by fires, both of the enemy and acci-
dental (the last in 1914), have left but a slender residue of earlier days. There is no building,
other than the fort, that survived James Moore’s burning of the town in 1702, virtually all con-
struction until that time being of wood and thatch. After that fire masonry became mandato-
ry, with most structures of coquina or “tabby” concrete.

The early town naturally reflected the Spanish urban pattern and lifestyle, particularly of
those settlements along the Mediterranean and in the West Indies. Streets were narrow to pro-
vide shade and create cool drafts. All dwellings lined the street; in fact their walls defined it.
Most were built with fenced or walled, sometimes grassless, patios where much living and
work took place, and where the well, the precious vegetable garden, fruit trees, and chickens
were safe. An open, south-oriented porch or loggia faced onto the patio, providing a covered
open-air work area and shielding the rooms behind from direct sun. The yard and porch also
led to the entry to the house; almost no dwellings—as opposed to inns or shops—had a door
onto the street. (Compare the somewhat similar Charleston “single house”—see page 134—
with front door opening onto a verandah, thence a fenced garden. There is some thought that
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Britishers from Charleston, during their occupation of St. Augustine, may have influenced the
town’s development of second-floor running piazzas.) Few windows appeared in north walls
and those facing west were small. Chimneys and fireplaces were infrequent; heat was supplied
by charcoal braziers, and cooking via a hearth or in the oft-detached kitchen with only a roof
smoke-hole. The modest (and most numerous) early houses were earth-floored, generally one-
storied, and sometimes flat-roofed. Two-storied examples—not numerous in the First Spanish
Period (1565-1763)—had covered balconies on the street side and pitched roofs more often
than not. During the British tenure of 1763-83, when the English took possession of Florida,
many fireplaces and chimneys were added to existing houses, direct “front” doors cut, and
glazed windows with outside shutters installed (previously shutters had been inside and little
glass had been used). These innovations modified subsequent building, but relatively little
permanent new construction was undertaken during those twenty years. The Second Spanish
Period (1783-1821, when St. Augustine reverted to Spain)—a time of unrest for Spain in
Europe (primarily because of Napoleon)—produced only a few new buildings, notably the
church now known as the Cathedral of St. Augustine (1793—97), which was designed by the
royal engineer. (It was fully restored for the town’s 400th anniversary.)
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The citizens of St. Augustine began to recognize the importance of this slightly unkempt
treasure as early as 1936, but it was not until 1959 that the Historic St. Augustine Preservation
Board was set up, and it was 1962 when the non-profit St. Augustine Restoration, Inc. was
established (though research and land acquisition had commenced earlier). With the nation’s
quickened interest in its extraordinary architectural inheritance, work has gathered speed.
Now the highly appealing and revelatory St. George Street area, hard by the old City Gate and
near the Castillo, is progressing handsomely. These few blocks re-create much of the atmos-
phere of the town’s four major phases, though emphasis is on that of two hundred and more
years ago. (The first three periods have been mentioned, the fourth began in 1821 with Ameri-
can occupation.)

Some thirty buildings have been restored or reconstructed with, it is hoped, more to come.
Unfortunately the fire of 1702, which destroyed most of the town, also incinerated many civic
records that had been stored in the Cathedral. Thus little cold documentation other than foun-
dations and several informative maps exist to aid restoration. The work has been carried out,
however, with as much authenticity as modern archeological research permits. The recon-
structed dwellings range from the extremely simple Gomez House of wood, virtually a shack,
and the almost equally primitive Gallegos House of tabby, both typical of the late First Spanish
Period of 1565-1763, to the far more elegant eighteenth-century Ribera House directly across
the street. This last is a two-story building of stuccoed coquina (once surrounded by an elabo-
rate garden) that bears witness to the wealth of its early owner. As one progresses from the
City Gate southward along St. George Street, other buildings of interest (plus a bit of com-
mercialism) reward the stroller, particularly the often-altered Arrivas House (eighteenth—nine-
teenth century). With more funding from the state, this area, which was laid out forty-two
years before Jamestown and fifty-five before the landing at Plymouth Rock, could be one of
our greatest historic streets; it almost is now.

Located at the north end of St. George Street. Most buildings open 9:00 A.M.—5:00 .M. daily; closed Christmas Day. The
Spanish Quarter Museum, a collection of restored eighteenth-century historic houses, is open daily 9:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M.;
admission prices are $5 for adults, $2.50 for students ages 6-18, $10 for a family pass (2 adults and all children). For more
information call (904) 825-6830. The Museum of St. Augustine is open daily 10:00 A.M.—4:00 P.M.; admission prices are $2
for adults, $1 for students ages 6—18. For more information call (904) 825-5033.

Note: The Historic St. Augustine Preservation Board published a well-illustrated guidebook
(1971) to the area, while the St. Augustine Historical Society brought out an extremely thor-
ough book by Albert Manucy entitled The Houses of St. Augustine (1962), which the specialist
will want to obtain.

A fascinating insight into the original (that is, Native American) settlements in Florida and
along the south Atlantic coast is given in The New World: First Pictures of America, edited by
Stefan Lorant (Duell, Sloan & Pearce, 1946). Jacques Le Moyne de Morgues sailed with René
de Laudonniere in 1564 in an attempt to set up French Huguenot colonies in Florida with
extensions to the north. Though Laudonniere was routed by the Spanish the following year
(with help from a hurricane), Le Moyne, a skilled surveyor and artist, was able to make a num-
ber of excellent drawings showing the palisaded villages, granaries, and houses (generally cir-
cular and domical) that the French encountered among the natives. Some twenty years later
John White, an English artist, made a series of illuminating watercolors of the Huguenot set-
tlement (also short-lived—1585—90) in Virginia. The illustrations of both these men were
vividly engraved by Theodore de Bry (1528-98), a talented Flemish artist, as shown in the
above-mentioned book. White subsequently (15777) went on to join Frobisher and to delineate
“the first European pictures of the Eskimo”—Samuel Eliot Morison (The Great Explorers,
Oxford University Press, 1978).
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JAMESTOWN SETTLEMENT RE-CREATION (1607-14/1957)
Colonial Parkway
Jamestown, Virginia

The beginnings of England’s presence
in the New World—John Donne’s
“suburb of the Old”"—were established
here in 1607, when three improbably
small vessels (reproduced at wharf-
side) tethered their bows to the trees
and America’s first “permanent”
English colony came into being.
Twelve years later the colony was to
organize English America’s first rep-
resentative assembly. The establish-
ment of Jamestown—on an up-river
site to avoid attack by the Spanish—
proved to be rough going for its 104
men and boys, too many of whom
were city gentry who hesitated to get
their hands dirty. Moreover the area
had problems with water supply and
with, at times, hostile Native Ameri-
cans. During the severe winter of
1609-10, by which time the first
colonists of this commercial, not governmental, expedition had been augmented by three sub-
sequent “supplies,” some 150 out of a population of 500 had died, and by that spring an addi-
tional 125 had fled. But reinforcements in May of 1610 gave physical and spiritual infusion.
The introduction of successful tobacco cultivation (by crossing sweet seed from Venezuela
with bitter local varieties) provided a cash crop. Subsequently John Rolfe’s marriage to
Pocahontas (1614) effected peace with the Native Americans (at least until the uprising of
1622) and matters took a turn for the better. When a group of young “maides” arrived in
1620—the settlement had been a largely masculine semimilitary outpost earlier—the seeds
for a permanent colony were planted. Jamestown became the capital of an “empire” that
extended “from sea to sea ” via James I's expanded Charter of 1609. Most of New England,
with its later Pilgrim colonies, was, of course, Northern Virginia (38° to 45° parallel north).

To celebrate the 350th anniversary of the founding of the town, the original palisaded fort,
420 feet/128 meters on the river side, 300 feet/91 meters on the other two, was reconstructed
as closely as archeological research and contemporary descriptions permitted (but on a site
near to, not on top of, the original town). What we see today is thus an off-site reproduction,
but it was carried out with great care, and the results give us a good impression of this early
architecture. The more than a dozen buildings reflect post-medieval English prototypes, mod-
ified by available materials. A sturdy, squared oak and pine frame (most revealingly expressed
in the storehouse interior) constitutes the structure, with walls of mud-daubed wattle and roof
of thatch. Well worth a look—and don't forget to inspect the transportation.

Located 10.8 miles/16.4 kilometers southwest of Jamestown. Open daily 9:00 A.M.—5:00 p.M. Closed Christmas and New
Year's Day. Admission is $9.00 for adults, $4.25 for children ages 6—12, free for children under 6. For more information call
(804) 229-1607.



PALACE OF THE GOVERNORS
(1610-12)

The Plaza

Santa Fe, New Mexico

Santa Fe, founded in 1607, is the
second oldest continuously inhabit-
ed city in the United States. (St.
Augustine, Florida—see page 28—
was established in 1565; James-
town, Virginia—see page 31—was
settled in 1607 but abandoned late
in the seventeenth century.) At
6,990 feet/2,131 meters above sea
level Santa Fe is also the highest state capital. Spaniards from Mexico City, with Don Pedro de
Peralta as governor, founded the city, which in 1610 was officially named La Villa Real de la
Santa Fe de San Francisco de Asis. They immediately commenced construction of a large pre-
sidio or military compound—Casas Reales—containing “Palace,” barracks, chapel (possibly
later), administrative offices, and services. The presidio’s overall measurements were approx-
imately 400 x 800 feet/122 x 244 meters. The Palace itself measures 240 x 36 feet/73 x 11
meters. (In the late 1860s it was shortened a bit for a road program.) The rooms on the front
of its stretched rectangular plan overlook the historic plaza; those on the rear open onto an
enclosed patio. The presidio of which the building originally formed one part has long since
vanished. The one-story facade did not initially have the sheltering portales, and it is not known
precisely when this peristyle was added. Several eighteenth-century maps indicate, roughly, an
arcade, but the only definite knowledge starts with the Mexican period (1821). It is likely that
the first building looked somewhat like today’s Old Spanish Governor’s Palace of 1749 in San
Antonio, Texas.

During and after the Pueblo Revolt of 1680 all of the Casas Reales was heavily damaged and
the Spanish forced to flee southward. In 1693 the town was retaken and the buildings repaired.
In 1909 the ancient structure was given to the Museum of New Mexico—itself created that
year—and major (and questionable) repairs undertaken (1911-13). Since then a thorough, long-
term restoration has taken place under the museum’s auspices and the splendid result today
shows the Palace in its evolution from Colonial structure through its Victorian period.

Although there is little architectural distinction in the Palace of the Governors, as an index
of very early Spanish-Pueblo building it gives valuable insight into the conditions of some 380
years ago. And it is, of course, our “oldest surviving non-Indian building” (Hugh Morrison,
Early American Architecture, Oxford University Press, 1952). Its construction traditions go
back, perhaps, to a thousand years, adobe—earth—being the basic wall material. The Pueblos
had applied adobe in layers until the Spanish showed them the more efficient brick form.
Vigas—tree trunks that could be handled by two men—formed roof beams. As is obvious,
these often project beyond the eaves. The adobe-viga tradition became so strong that in Santa
Fe today there are architectural ordinances to maintain such traditional building appearances.

Be certain to see the other parts of the Museum of New Mexico (adjacent to the Palace).
Incidentally, the museum allows Native Americans only (mostly Pueblos) to sell their hand-
made jewelry and other artifacts in the arcade of the Palace.

Open daily 10:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M.; closed Mondays in January and February. Closed for holidays. Admission is $4 for adults,
free for children 16 and under.
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PLIMOTH PLANTATION RE-CREATION (1627/1957—-76)
137 Warren Avenue
Plymouth, Massachusetts

No archeological foundations or historic graphic material existed for this re-creation of the
first Pilgrim settlement (as was the case, for instance, at Williamsburg, Virginia—see page
54—and New Bern, North Carolina—see page 1006); there were, however, copious and invalu-
able inventories. And, as has since been proved, research for the first buildings in the village
is now outdated. As the administration puts it,
In historical accuracy, the most recently constructed dwellings at Plimoth Plantation have
a considerable advantage over earlier attempts due to new research. This research, done by
Richard Candee and Cary Carson, among others, combined with archaeological informa-
tion gathered by Dr. James Deetz, has revealed that the most probable design for the hous-
es of 1627 would have been the “posthole” style of construction. This construction uses a
frame of heavy oak timbers with sunken corner posts and studs between them that support
a wattle-and-daub cladding on the walls, a chimney of the same material, and a heavy reed
thatch roof. The clay daub walls are protected from New England weather by an outer layer
of riven cedar clapboards fastened to the studs. Other village structures such as the fort,
with its thick sawn boards, display other techniques. This village is a living example of sev-
enteenth-century rural life with animal houses, pens and gardens inhabited by animals,
and costumed individuals who take on the identities of the original settlers.
With regard to Plymouth Rock (at Water Street in the town), the Colonies’ first Thanksgiving
was not given here in 1621, as claimed, but in Berkeley Plantation on the James River in the
Old Dominion in 1619, where “the day of our ship’s arrival. .. shall be yearly and perpetually
kept as a day of Thanksgiving.” To quote the Virginia State Guide (Oxford University Press,
1964), “Virginia narrowly escaped an invasion of the Pilgrim Fathers....Thrown off their
course, the Pilgrims set foot on a rock off the coast of northern Virginia.” The guide errs some-
what in that the destination was northern Virginia, then near the mouth of the Hudson River:
actually the Pilgrims set foot in the New England Grant. To conclude matters, it was not until
1789 that the first national day of
Thanksgiving was inaugurated.
President Washington proclaimed
the day “not in response to the
bounties of the harvest but in grat-
itude for the establishment of the
Constitution of the United States”
(Plimoth Plantation Bulletin). How-
ever, not until Lincoln’s time—
1863—was the last Thursday of
November properly set aside.

Located off MA 3 via Plimoth Plantation
Highway 3 miles/4.8 kilometers south of
Plymouth. April-November open daily 9:00
AM.—5:00 P.M. Closed December—March.
Admission to Plimoth Plantation is $15 for
adults, $9 for children ages 6-12. Admission
to Mayflower Il is $5.75 for adults, $3.75 for
children ages 6-12. A combined admission
ticket is $18.50 for adults, $11 for children ages
6-12. All tours are self-guided. For more infor-
mation call (508) 746—1622.
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SAN ESTEVAN (1629—42)
NM 23
Acoma, New Mexico

The acropolis of Acoma, verily a city on a hill, is the most dramatically situated pueblo in the
country. Surveying a terrain of petrified desolation, its height and steep escarpments have
offered protection, hence encouraged settlement, for perhaps two millennia, making it proba-
bly the oldest continuously inhabited town in the United States (a distinction that the now
crumbling and semiabandoned Oraibi pueblo disputes). (Many dwellings have been partially
abandoned as inhabitants have moved to farms on the plain and return mainly for summer or
for festivals.) Today, it is readily accessible to motorists via good gravel roads, including one to
the top, and it welcomes visitors graciously. (However, be certain to get permission—for a
fee—to take photographs or videos or to sketch.)

Acoma’s soilless sandstone mesa, roughly 7o acres/28 hectares in extent, rises some 357
feet/109 meters above the plains and 7,000 feet/2,134 meters above sea level; it is appropri-
ately called “The Sky City.” The village’s natural defenses are strengthened on the north side
by a near-solid lineup of contiguous houses of one to three stories in height that stretch
approximately 770 feet/235 meters near the edge of the bluff. These are (or were originally)
windowless on the side facing out. Two other rows of stone and adobe cellular dwellings, in
roughly parallel lines but more casually dispersed, made up the rest of the urban pattern until
1629. Then the Spanish, who had taken over the village in 1540, built on its south edge the




first church, San Estévan, setting up an antipodal contrast of buildings for conqueror and con-
quered on opposite sides of an invisible line. The Spaniards did not want their building to
impinge upon the village. There is, however, a lack of spatial organization, or even proper
plazas for ritual dancing, in the basic layout of Acoma. In addition to the three lanes of hous-
es there are seven rectangular kivas for the men. All material for building, from adobe and
stone to the great beams for the church, had to be lugged to the top via precipitous paths, as
the mesa itself offers only bare rock, defense, and views to its inhabitants.

As the Native Americans had few tools to dress stone, and lacked the skill (and the wood
for formwork) to construct arches and vaults, the churches of the region were thick-walled,
narrow, flat-roofed buildings with few side windows (and these, as at Acoma, changed occa-
sionally), and sometimes a high transverse transept window illuminating the sanctuary. The
Native Americans’ building procedures were simple: adobe for walls, and trunks, branches,
and packed earth for roofs. Arches and domes were never used in early New Mexico or by
Native Americans anywhere except with bent reeds. (Compare the much later vaulted church-
es in Texas and California.)

San Estévan typifies these building characteristics, and, with its front “yard,” its raised
cemetery, and its attached convento for resident Franciscan friars, it attains a rough grandeur
on the outside and offers a regional treat within. Its nave is long (126 feet/38 meters) and nar-
row (31 feet/9.4 meters) and without transept, but with a pronounced taper at the chancel, cul-
minating in a painted reredos. As the vigas, here undressed trunks some 37 feet/11 meters
long, had to be hauled from forests 20—30 miles/32—48 kilometers away, a restricted nave
width was inevitable. These beams were placed atop the stone and adobe walls—how such
weights were lifted is not precisely known—and given added bearing by outsized corbels, often
fancifully painted. The wooden beams used for the altar were also brought from faraway
forests, and for religious reasons were not to touch the ground—*“a sacrilege” (Mary Katrine
Sedgwick, Acoma: The Sky City, Harvard University Press, 1927). The walls themselves are of
great thickness (up to 7.8 feet/2.4 meters), tapering at the top. The building’s plan was inev-
itable; San Estévan had the same ancestry and reflected the same rationale as village church-
es in Mexico, whose tradition was carried by the padres up the Rio Grande to find expression
in New Mexican examples. (New Mexico was so called in the sixteenth century; after Florida it
bears the oldest state name.)

San Estévan underwent repairs and small changes through the generations (two windows
in the apse were at one time put in and then subsequently walled up), but for much of the last
hundred years it has needed more attention than it has received. Undoubtedly parts of the first
church (1629) are incorporated in the one we see today, for beams and stone brought to place
with such travail were not likely to be thrown away. The Pueblo Revolt of 1680-92, during
which many churches and Spanish buildings were ransacked and incinerated, seemingly left
it largely in peace. In 1924 the Committee for the Preservation and Restoration of New
Mexican Mission Churches undertook major repairs, including a hidden concrete roof.
Restoration has been very active of late. One of the great chapters of Native American life and
Spanish religious influence, Acoma is, of course, a National Historic Landmark. (George
Kubler in his admirable book The Religious Architecture of New Mexico, 1940, reprinted by Rio
Grande Press in 1962, offers expert background on all the Hispanic churches in the state. Also
recommended is The Missions of New Mexico, 1776, Francesco Atanasio Dominguez, translat-
ed by Adams and Chavez, University of New Mexico Press, 1956.)

Located 13 miles/21 kilometers southwest of I-40 at Casa Blanca exit, via NM 23. Open daily April-October 8:00 A.M.—7:00
p.M., November—March 8:00 A.M.—4:30 p.M. Closed for some Native American holidays (including July 10-13 and the first
weekend in October). Admission is $6 for adults, $5 for senior citizens, $4 for children ages 6-17, free for children under 6.
One-hour guided walking tours given daily. For more information call (800) 747-0181.
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ST. LUKE’S CHURCH (c. 1632-65)
14477 Benn’s Church Boulevard (va 10)
Smithfield, Virginia

St. Luke’s Church pro-
claims itself to be “The
Nation’s Oldest Standing
Church” and most histori-
ans are inclined to agree.
The National Register of
Historic Places gives its
date as 1632. But even if we
use the date of 1682 (fa-
vored by only a few), St.
Luke’s is the oldest church
in the United States of
Gothic derivation that has
come down to us essentially
as built. Moreover, at near-
by Jamestown stands the
tower of a brick church con-
structed there in 1639—47,
so it would certainly seem probable that St. Luke’s was completed around the early-middle
seventeenth century. When speaking of the age of the nation’s churches, it is illuminating to
read Hugh Morrison in his admirable Early American Architecture (Oxford University Press,
1952), who writes, “By 1626 43 churches had been built” by the Spanish in New Mexico.
However, none of these survive as constructed, with the probable exception of parts of San
Estévan at Acoma, 1629—42 (see page 34).

The square, almost Norman tower of St. Luke’s, the stepped Flemish gables, the round-
headed windows with two lancets, the buttresses, the startling interior with its timber truss-
work and tie beams and its rood screen—all these elements when put together suggest a
medieval south English parish church. There is a primitiveness about it, but the results are
ingenuous.

In the late seventeenth century the church was modernized on the interior by plastering
over the medieval ceiling and, outside, by adding a story and the quoins to the tower. After dis-
establishment it languished, in 1821 it was reactivated, in the early middle of the nineteenth
century it was semiabandoned, and in 1887 a storm severely injured the roof, causing it to be
replaced. In 1953-57, the church was declared a National Shrine. Following the discovery of
crumbling foundations and lower walls, and after four years of research, it was meticulously
restored to its conjectural original condition. This was based on contemporary English prece-
dent, with the strange exception of the late-nineteenth-century stained glass instead of clear
diamond panes, which the first church undoubtedly had. The church is a primitive but illu-
minating building. As Professor William B. O’Neal points out in his Architecture in Virginia
(Virginia Museum, 1968), “St. Luke’s is the only original Gothic building to have survived in
the nation.”

Located 4 miles/6.4 kilometers southeast of Smithfield, near southwest end of James River Bridge. Open Tuesday—Saturday
9:30 A.M.—4:00 P.M., Sunday 1:00—4:00 p.M. Closed on Mondays, holidays, and the month of January. All visits are guided; free
tours given daily. For more information call (804) 357-3367.
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HENRY WHITFIELD HOUSE (1639)
248 Old Whitfield Street at Stonehouse Lane
Guilford, Connecticut

The oldest remaining house in Connecticut and the oldest stone house still standing in New
England, this ancient dwelling suggests England’s Cotswolds, though most of Master Henry
Whitfield’s Puritan group were from Surrey and Kent (south and southeast of London). Stone
was surprisingly little used in rocky New England, for wood was cheaper, easier to work, and
offered better insulation. Also, lime for mortar was scarce. Though what we see today repre-
sents less than a third of the original Whitfield House, the dwelling remains a fascinating
example of seventeenth-century housing. It was built to serve not only as a home but also as a
fort. The outer walls range in thickness from 18 to nearly 30 inches (46-76 centimeters), with
most of the ground floor taken up by the great hall, some 33 feet/10 meters long and 15 feet/
4.6 meters wide. An unusual overhead hinged partition added in the 1930s—which was also
used to cut the cross draft set up between opposing fireplaces—can be lowered to divide this
lengthy room. Although the south fireplace was not added until 1868, the wall and giant chim-
ney at the north end, whose fireplace occupies almost the full width of the room, are nearly all
original, as are about half of the facade and part of the east wall. Most of the rest is restored.

Adjoining as an ell to the main room is the hall or parlor chamber and the stair hall, while
above are chambers and a garret. The whole is topped by a roof sharply pitched at an angle of
sixty degrees. Additions and changes, including stucco-covered walls from an early date, were
made to the house by its various owners through subsequent centuries. Fires demolished
parts of the house at least twice but it was always rebuilt—most recently under private owner-
ship in 1868. The state of Connecticut acquired the Whitfield dwelling in 1900. An architect
of the time, Norman Isham, prepared the building for use as a museum, removing the second
floor to make a large exhibit hall, but it was not until the 1930s that the late J. Frederick Kelly,
a leading expert in old New
England architecture, com-
pleted (1937), with a mini-
mum of conjecture, the
restoration we now see. The
furnishings, some English
and some American, cover
a time span of well over one
hundred years. A fine herb
garden adjacent to the
house shows plants that
were in common use in the
seventeenth and eighteenth
centuries.

1 February—14 December open Wed-
nesday—Sunday 10:00 A.M.—4:30 P.M.
15 December—31 January open by
appointment only. Closed Good
Friday, Thanksgiving, Christmas, and
New Year's Day. Admission is $3 for
adults and $1.50 for children ages
6-17 and senior citizens. A brief
introductory talk is given upon
arrival. Guided tours can be arranged
by calling (203) 453-2457.
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SAUGUS IRON WORKS NATIONAL HISTORIC SITE
(1646/1948-54)

244 Central Street

Saugus, Massachusetts

This reconstruction of the earliest ironworks in the American colonies, generously financed
by the American Iron and Steel Institute, stands high on the list of historic re-creations of
industrial beginnings. (An earlier ironworks at Falling Creek, Virginia, was ready to begin
operations in 1622 but the workers were killed by Native Americans and the project aban-
doned.) Restored by Henry Charles Dean, buttressed with technical consultants, and utilizing
archeological thoroughness, the ironworks at Saugus gives an illuminating insight into the
earliest industrial groundwork of this country. Though the ironworks itself lasted only some
twenty years—high production costs, low capital, and lack of skilled labor occasioned its down-
fall—the foundation of the future nation’s iron and steel industry was established here. Six
years of patient research and informed conjecture were needed for the complicated tech-
nological facets of this reconstruction, as excavations revealed only limited traces of the origi-
nal. Today, with wheels wheeling and forges forging in simulated operation, the results are
fascinating.

In addition to the technological restoration, the nearby Iron Works House (earlier known
as the Appleton-Taylor-Mansfield House) is itself very worthy of a visit. It has been standing
on the same spot since around 1680 and was continually occupied until 1915. Radically altered
through the years, it was restored by Wallace Nutting beginning in 1915. The ironworks and
house are now under the aegis of the National Park Service.

May—October open daily 9:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M., November—April open daily 9:00 A.M.—4:00 p.M. Closed Thanksgiving, Christ-
mas, and New Year's Day. Admission is free. During May—October one-hour tours are given daily at 9:45 A.M., 11:15 A.M. 2:15
P.M., and 3:45 P.M. For more information call (617) 233—0050.
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OLD HOUSE (1649)
Cases Lane
Cutchogue, Long Island, New York

Eastern Long Island, puzzlingly, did not develop in the Colonial period as did much of New
England. With good harbors at Greenport and Sag Harbor, excellent soil, and a sea-moderat-
ed climate, it is surprising that greater advantage was not taken of these natural blessings. A
number of settlers from the New Haven Colony (of which Cutchogue was a part) and from
Connecticut (which absorbed the former in 1665) came over, but their influx, seemingly, was
never great. The oldest dwelling that they left, probably the oldest still standing in New York
State, is this venerable number: one of the States’ major examples of English-inspired domes-
tic building. The facade of Old House, also known as the Horton-Wickham-Landon-Case
House, is attended by a rakish quality that stems from its slight cant to the windward (largely
fixed in 1990 when the foundation was repaired). The small wave of its shingled roof and
eaves (reflected in the curved door lintel), the untethered character of its clapboards (no fram-
ing by corner boards), plus a doll’s-house window over the front door epitomize a wood skin
pierced by openings. A massive, paneled chimney of English inspiration and three-division,
diamond-paned windows complete the exterior scene. (ITwo original triple casements were
found in the north wall.) Sea grass and clay were used for insulation. About one hundred years
ago barn doors and large windows were cut in its 4o-foot/12-meter side (it is 20.5 feet/6.2
meters deep) and it was used as a barn until 1939. At that time the Case family sold the prop-
erty to the Independent Congregational Church and Society of Cutchogue with the express
provision that the house be given to the people of the town. The village itself paid none of the
costs. The house, with its bundled chimneys, was then completely restored and refurnished to
commemorate the town’s tricentennial in 1940. Reputedly built in 1649 in Southold, 5 miles/
8 kilometers to the northeast, it was moved to this site in 1659 as the wedding present of the
then owner to his daughter.

Located one block south of Ny 25. June and September open Saturday-Sunday 2:00-5:00 P.M. July and August open
Saturday—Monday 2:00-5:00 P.M. Visits can be arranged in May—October by calling (516) 734—7122. Admission is $1.50 for
adults, 50¢ for children under 12. Informal tours are available.
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JOHN WHIPPLE HOUSE (c. 1655/c. 1670/c. 1700)
1 South Village Green
Ipswich, Massachusetts

In the John Whipple House we find a good evolutionary example of the “growing” house so
often seen in early New England. However, the Whipple House is also unusual in that all the
stages of its expansion took place within a forty-five year period, which is much shorter than
the standard. Initially the dwelling started life as a two-and-one-half-story box with one room
per floor covered then as now by a steeply pitched roof in the post-medieval English tradition.
Some years later (c. 1670), a slightly larger section was added to make four rooms; a lean-to ell
at the rear followed around 1700. Considering its very early date, its two main rooms are
unusually spacious, its hall (also known as the “great room”) outstanding. Note, however, that
the enormous summer beam, which longitudinally bisects the older part, is supported by cross
bracing above the end windows instead of having its weight transferred directly to the ground
by an upright post; this ingenious solution allowed for a centrally placed window. Note also
that there is no overhang across the front of the house—resulting in a close-cropping—but two
at the east gable end.

In the mid-1720s the house was made Georgian, which included cutting off the facade
gables, replacing the casement windows with double-hung sash windows, and adding plaster
ceilings. The house (then in deplorable shape) was purchased by the Ipswich Historical Society
in 1898, restored on its original site and opened to the public the next year. In 1927 it was
moved from the center of town across the river to the present location, and in 1953—54 it was
again restored. The garden was designed c. 195057 by Arthur A. Shurcliff (of Williamsburg
fame), who decided on its placement and layout, and Ann Leighton, who chose the plantings
based on extensive research (including a 1683 inventory of the Whipple House, which lists its
garden “products” then on the shelf). She planted only the typical flowers and herbs raised
domestically in the seventeenth century when gardens were basically for function (remedies,
seasoning, and dyes), not looks. The house is discussed in detail in Abott L. Cummings’s book
The Framed Houses of Massachusetts Bay, 1625—1725 (Harvard University Press, 1979).

Open May to mid-October, Wednesday—Saturday 10:00 A.M.—4:00 P.M., Sunday 1:00—4:00 P.M. Admission is $5 for adults, $2
for children ages 6-12; the admission ticket also includes entry to the nearby Federal-style John Heard House. All visits are
guided; tours given every hour on the hour. For more information call (508) 356—2811.
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BACON'’S CASTLE (c. 1656)
Route vA 10
Surry, Virginia

The almost legendary Bacon’s Castle is now fortunately open to the public for at least part of
the year. Preservation News (of the National Trust) terms the castle “the sole surviving high
Jacobean manor house in America” (January 1974), so it is doubly welcome that it can be seen.
The Jacobean was an elusive period of English (hence early Colonial) architecture, emerging
largely during the reign of James 1 (1603—25) but picking up the thread of development begun
under his predecessor, the redoubtable Elizabeth 1. Under James, it moved away from the tran-
sitional Tudor style toward greater employment of newly fashionable Renaissance motifs,
especially in details. It never fully established itself, however. What it lacked in finesse it
sought to assert in bravura. There are awkward moments in the Jacobean—even the use of the
Greek Jakobos (James) seems odd—but it made for a spirited scene in domestic building.

At Bacon’s Castle (actually built by a man named Arthur Allen) the two boldly curvilinear
gable ends, recalling Flemish work, are topped by three square semidetached chimney flues
set on the diagonal and rising with Tudor-Jacobean conviction. Note the unusual cross plan of
the house with gabled “porches,” a typical medieval feature.

In 1856 the dwelling was substantially expanded to the east by uncongenial additions.
Partial restoration took place in 1939—41, but by that time the house had lost much of its orig-
inal medievalism (the casement windows, for example). Also gone is the original roof, which
some believe was of stone tiles, as one of them has been discovered. The interior has been
altered but the superb paneling installed around 1740 fortunately remains. Note, also, the two
original fireplaces with their heavy wood beams finished with a chamfer and “lambs tongue.”

Nathaniel Bacon (1647-76), incidentally, organized the first armed rebellion against
British authority (the tyranny of Governor William Berkeley) ninety-nine years before the bat-
tles of Lexington and Concord. His troops’ use of Allen’s house in 1676 gave it its subsequent
sobriquet. Bacon died during the campaign (of either malaria or poison) but his actions were
influential in initiating an “Ameri-
can” consciousness.

Bacon’s Castle and 40 acres/16
hectares of land were purchased in
1973 by the Association for the
Preservation of Virginia Antiqui-
ties. As Professor William H. Pier-
son, Jr., put it, “Bacon’s Castle is a
milestone in the history of the
Virginia Colony” (American Build-
ings and Their Architects, Double-

day, 1970).

Located off va 10 just northeast of Surry on va
617. April-October open Tuesday—Saturday
10:00 A.M.—4:00 P.M., Sunday 12:00 noon—4:00
p.M. November and March open Saturday
10:00 A.M.—4:00 P.M., Sunday 12:00 noon—4:00
p.M. Admission is $5 for adults, $4 for senior
citizens, $3 for students, $2 for children ages
6-18. 40-minute tours of the house and go-
minute tours of the house and grounds are
available. For more information call (804)
357-5976.




CASTILLO DE SAN MARCOS (1672—95/1738—62)
1 Castillo Drive East (us 1) at the Mantanzas River
St. Augustine, Florida

The Spanish, who were the first Europeans to settle permanently in what came to be the
United States, made several determined but futile efforts to set up shop on the New World’s
mainland before finally establishing a base at St. Augustine in 1565. (Spain was well organized
in the West Indies by the early decades of the sixteenth century, having built a fort and town—
Isabela, now in the Dominican Republic—following Christopher Columbus’s second voyage
in 1494.) Juan Ponce de Ledn, who had settled in Puerto Rico (1508), landed in Florida with
colonists and cattle near present-day Charlotte Harbor (1521) but Native Americans soon drove
him back. In 1526 Spain took five hundred men, women, children, slaves, and animals to
Winyah Bay near Georgetown, South Carolina, but they, too, because of Native Americans,




disease, and bad winter, were forced to return to their West Indian base. The Spanish, alarmed
by the French Fort Caroline (1564) at the mouth of the St. John’s River (near today’s
Jacksonville), wanted a fortified settlement in Florida to prevent further European incursions.
The struggle for bases in Florida was initially between the Spanish and French, but the English
burned St. Augustine in 1586, and then continued to move southward down the coast. To
counter this movement, the Spanish ordered the construction of an impregnable stone fort
(previous ones of wood were of short life and little value). Work began in 1672 and it lasted for
many arduous years.

Massive, businesslike, yet strangely elegant, the Castillo de San Marcos (at one time called
“Fort Marion”) stands as the finest and oldest example of military architecture in the United
States. The star-shaped Castillo was designed by Ignacio Daza; it was probably inspired by the
principles for bastioned fortifications worked out by Francesco de Marchi (1490-1574) and
modified by Italo-Spanish and Dutch examples—with perhaps additional influence from
Sébastien de Vauban, whose first Mémoire ap-
peared in 1669. It was as successful as it is hand-
some, never having been taken in battle—though
bitterly besieged—and was used as recently as the
Spanish-American War to house disciplinary cases.

The fort, which is constructed of coquina, the
local shell-based marine stone, was built on the
edge of Matanzas Bay around a square courtyard
with four-sided, spearlike bastions projecting diag-
onally at each corner. A 4o-foot-/12-meter-wide
moat surrounds the whole. The thickness of the
scarp, or outer wall, ranges from 13 feet/4 meters at
base to nearly 5 feet/1.5 meters at the top of the
parapet, which is approximately 30 feet/9.1 meters
above the moat. (Until the 1738—40 strengthening,
the walls were only 20 feet/6.1 meters high.) To
provide sustenance against siege, wells were dug in
the courtyard and several of the fort’s twenty rooms
were used for storing food. The garrison and the
people of the village were to rely on these on sever-
al desperate occasions.

Modernization of the fort was carried out in
three stages: 1738—40, when the previously wooden
gun deck, or terreplein, on the east side was
replaced by arched masonry walls that could with-
stand bombardment; 175256, when the other
three sides were vaulted; and 1762, when the rav-
elin (a triangular outwork) in front of the gate was
enlarged. The fort was made a national monument
in 1924, and today, thanks to the National Park
Service, is in grand shape. One of the world’s great
forts, it is among the chief secular inheritances of
the Spanish occupation in the United States.

Open daily 8:30 A.M.—5:30 P.M. (last ticket sold at 4:45 p.m.). Closed
Christmas. Admission is $2 for adults, free for children 16 and under
if accompanied by an adult.
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OLD TRINITY CHURCH (c. 1675)
1718 Taylor’s Island Road
Cambridge, Maryland

This gem of a small church (38 x 20 feet/12 x 6 meters nave) is set amid an ancient cemetery
and along the water that served as a highway for most of the early congregations. One of the
oldest churches in the country in continuous active use, it is one of the finest buildings open
to the public on Maryland’s Eastern Shore. The exterior, though possessed of a certain quaint-
ness, carries little architectural distinction, being primarily a simple rectangle with steeply
gabled roof. A small semicircular apse (note the neat wood shingle pattern) stirs up this geom-
etry, while the burnt headers of the brick add a touch of interest, but the framing and mullions
of all windows, while authentic, are weighty. The interior, however, is a pure delight, with a
towering, bare wood pulpit in the midst of the congregation on the left wall, surrounded by
unpainted box pews. A delicate brass chandelier hangs over the aisle, a fine complement to the
wood, to the square bricks of the floor (mostly original), and to the white plastered walls. The
church suffered grievously in the 1850s when it was “modernized in the Gothic style,” but
from 1953 to 1960 it was meticulously restored to its seventeenth-century condition through
the generosity of the late Colonel and Mrs. Edgar W. Garbisch, who formerly lived nearby. The
restoration’s architectural consultant was Louis Osman of London.

Located .9 mile/1.4 kilometers west of Church Creek, off Mp 16, 6.3 miles/10 kilometers southwest of Cambridge (take us 50
to Cambridge, then take route 16w for 8 miles). Open Saturday 10:00 A.M.—4:00 P.M. and Sunday 1:00—4:00 P.M. May—October
also open Monday, Wednesday, and Friday 10:00 A.M.—4:00 p.M. All other times open by appointment with the rectory at (410)
228-3583. Admission is free, but a donation is suggested. Guided tours available.




OLD MARYLAND STATE HOUSE (1676/1934)
MD 5
St. Mary’s City, Maryland

Maryland, under the famous Calvert family, was established as a colony at St. Mary’s City in
1634, when some hundred and fifty weary souls stepped ashore from the Ark and the Dove.
They had left England in November and did not reach their destination until March. St. Mary’s
thus became the capital of the new colony and remained such until the government was
moved to the more accessible Annapolis in 1695. Isolated geographically near the end of the
peninsula where the Potomac enters Chesapeake Bay, and bypassed politically when it lost the
seat of power, St. Mary’s City entered into a long period of amiable desuetude. When Maryland
celebrated its tricentennial in 1934 one of the most laudable acts associated with this birthday
was the reconstruction of the statehouse. The original Jacobean building (1676) had been
razed in 1829, and its locally made bricks were used to construct Trinity Church. The present
reconstruction (1934), therefore, sits near, not on, the spot on which the first structure arose,
but it is precisely of its dimensions (measured from the existing foundations) and appearance
(known from early documents). Much of the hardware was copied from appropriate prototypes
in Annapolis. The two-story result, of modified Greek cross plan and slightly medieval exteri-
or, forms one of the handful of distinguished buildings of the colonies that survived (or, as
here, derived from) the seventeenth century. The large ground-floor assembly hall (some 45 x
30 feet/14 x 9 meters) dominates the interior. (It served as a chapel when the capital was
moved.) The top floor holds a replica of the former council chamber and a room that was prob-
ably originally a waiting room. With hospitable Native Americans, rich soil, and—thanks to
Lord Baltimore (Cecilius Calvert)—unprecedented religious freedom (as long as it was Christ-
ian—the good Lord was probably also motivated by a desire for more colonists), Maryland
was—and is—a favored land, and the well-laid-out city of St. Mary’s a picturesque palimpsest
of its beginning. Plans are under way to continue preservation and restoration, including a
reconstructed Dove.

The Old State House is part of the Historic St. Mary’s City Museum. The museum is open 25 March—the last weekend in
November, Wednesday—Sunday 10:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M. Admission is $6.50 for adults, $6 for senior citizens and students, $3.25
for children ages 6—12. Group tours can be scheduled by calling (301) 862-0990.
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ADAM THOROUGHGOOD HOUSE (c. 1680)
1636 Parish Road
Norfolk, Virginia

On a creek of Lynnhaven Bay, and only a short distance from the Chesapeake, stands one of
the oldest brick houses in the United States. It is one of the oldest of any material. (Compare
the much-added-to wood-frame Fairbanks House, c. 1637, at Dedham, Massachusetts; St.
Augustine’s oldest house obviously dates from post-1702 when the British sacked and burned
the town.) The Thoroughgood House is a minuscule, medieval affair, one and one-half stories
high, girdled by two T-shaped chimneys. The one at right (south) is set on the outside of the
wall and marked by four belt courses, the second of which wraps around the house at its eaves
to define the upper floor level. The chimney at left lies within the wall to warm the house bet-
ter (this is the north end). (Compare the great central chimneys of New England.) Brick set in
English bond encloses the two sides and the wall facing the river, but the front wall is of the
more exacting Flemish bond. The texture is rich, the sharp slope of the gabled roof, now cov-
ered with fireproof tiles but of oak shingles originally, medieval, and the whole picturesque.
Note the low door and the high-set windows. This dwelling represents a distinct advance over
the earlier ones built in the colonies.

There are only two rooms on each floor, with a “hall” (living room/kitchen) and parlor
downstairs; a passage and stair were added in 1745 at the time the bedrooms were converted
from the original loft area. In 1957 the house was purchased by the city of Norfolk and com-
pletely restored; the facade was returned to two windows from three, the late dormers were
removed, and the window sash was changed from double-hung to casement. (The largest case-
ments found in the seventeenth century measure only 1 x 2 feet/.3 x .6 meter.)

The Thoroughgood House has been thoughtfully furnished in the late-seventeenth-/early-
eighteenth-century fashion, while its garden, with excellent box hedging, has been put back in
fine if hypothetical condition. There is little stylistic importance to the Thoroughgood House—
it is not high fashion—but it is very useful in showing the survival, with only small adapta-
tions, of English medieval traditions in the earliest American colony.

Take 1-64 to Northampton Boulevard, right on Pleasure House Road, then left on Thoroughgood Drive to Parish Road, 8
miles/13 kilometers east of Norfolk. January—March open Tuesday—Saturday 8:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M.; April-December open
Tuesday—-Saturday 10:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M. and Sunday 12:00 noon-5:00 P.M. Closed New Year's Day, Independence Day,
Thanksgiving, and Christmas. Admission is $2 for adults, $1 for senior citizens and children ages 6-18, free for military per-
sonnel. A thirty-minute guided tour is included with admission.




VAN CORTLANDT MANOR (c. 1680/1750-1815)
South Riverside Avenue
Croton-on-Hudson, New York

The early Dutch settlements along the Hudson River, which the Lowlanders craftily estab-
lished as far as Albany, provided that lovely region’s earliest and most picturesque domestic
types. (Henry Hudson anchored in the river in 1609, while Fort Nassau was built in 1614.)
However, the Treaty of Westminster in 1674 gave New Netherland to the English, creating an
Anglo-Dutch cultural influence, and a century later, when the lower Hudson became a battle-
ground during the American Revolution, the fighting destroyed and injured much, including
the Van Cortlandt Manor.

The earliest part of the house (c. 1680) with 3-foot-/.9-meter-thick sandstone walls proba-
bly stems from a pre-Van Cortlandt trading post at the confluence of the Hudson and Croton
rivers. Beginning in the 1740s Pierre Van Cortlandt and his wife added a second floor and
other improvements and the house was made a permanent home instead of a hunting lodge
and trade station. The porch wrapping three sides dates from the same mid-eighteenth-centu-
ry period. During the Revolution the family had to flee Tory attacks, and when able to return
after the war they found the house ill served and in immediate need of attention. Much of the
finer work that we see today (the paneling in the main rooms, for instance) dates from this
period. The house remained in the family for 200 years (until 1945), and through the genera-
tions changes and additions were made, and so although there is not purity in the Van
Cortlandt Manor, there is unusual continuity—and appeal. The house, much original furni-
ture, outbuildings, and gardens were purchased through the generosity of John D. Rockefeller,
Jr. in 1953, and all has been put back (1953—59) into shape of the 1750-1815 period. Be sure to
see the grounds, the restored ferry house, and the reconstructed tenant house.

Located .3 mile/.5 kilometer off Ny 9A. April-December open Wednesday—Monday 10:30 A.M.—4:30 P.M. Closed Thanksgiving
and Christmas. Admission is $7 for adults, $6 for senior citizens, $4 for children ages 6-17, free for children under 6. Tours
given every half hour. For more information call (914) 271-8981.
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OLD SHIP MEETING HOUSE (1681-1755)
90 Main Street
Hingham, Massachusetts

As the only surviving relic of the squarish, clapboarded meeting houses of the late seventeenth
century, Old Ship ranks high in importance historically and esthetically. It is, moreover, the
oldest wooden church in the United States and claims to be the oldest in continuous use. (The
seating plan of its 1681 dedication still survives.) The exterior takes advantage of its hillock
location, with diamond-paned windows on its broad sides (the top sashes meet the eaves), a
hip roof with gently upcurved ridges, and a railed platform at the roof summit, with a belfry
spire that carries the sweep of the ridges heavenward. Yet it is the interior that is most fasci-
nating, an interior far more “Gothic” than its clapboarded sides suggest.

Squarish in plan and surrounded by balconies on three sides, the inner space rises to a mag-
nificent framework of three oak trusses and knee braces that uphold the roof with a display of
Gothic wood engineering that gave the meeting house its name: inverted, the upper part would
resemble the ribs of a ship. This medieval structure—the most efficient means then of span-
ning such an ambitious width—defines its space to create a memorable interior. The original
meeting house, now demarked by the columns upholding the balconies and roof trusses, mea-
sured 45 x 55 feet/14 x 17 meters and was entered from the southwest. In 1729-31 the church
was extended 14 feet/4.3 meters to the northeast, and in 1755 an equal distance to the southwest,
making it 55 x 73 feet/17 x 22 meters overall. This, of necessity, involved a new roof extending
above and beyond the old, creating thus a dead “attic” between old roof and new. In 1930 the
church was completely restored (by Edgar T. P. Walker of Smith & Walker), and a dropped ceil-
ing was taken out so that the interior structure now stands revealed as it was three hundred
years ago. (The low ceiling had been installed only fifty years after completion to reduce the
frigid air volume in a stoveless room, particularly with the new lateral expansion.) The restora-
tion left the expansions and pulpit—dating from the mid-eighteenth century—as is.

One hundred years after its
completion (1780), the town’s
civic gatherings were moved
elsewhere, and the meeting
house became completely reli-
gious. In 1791, the parish-
ioners, feeling that their
church was old-fashioned com-
pared to the new style of
Christopher Wren, voted to
tear down the building, a vote
that happily was countermand-
ed a year later. They did vote,
however, to add the 10 x 10
foot/3 x 3 meter vestibule in
front, which is now in use.
One of the nation’s boldest
early buildings.

July—August open daily 12:00 noon—4:00
P.M. September—June open by appoint-
ment only; call (617) 749—1679 to arrange
a visit. Free 15-minute tours are available.
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PARSON CAPEN HOUSE (1683)
1 Howlett Street
Topsfield, Massachusetts

Built in the medieval fashion of its day, and nestled on a low ridge with an enormous ash tree
in front and oaks and maples on the side, this picturesque house numbers high among the
slender remains of seventeenth-century wooden architecture. (Its precise date of erection, 8
July 1683, is carved on one of the beams.) The unencumbered directness, even purity, of its
basic shape is authoritative. Note that its framed overhang projects the second floor 16 inch-
es/41 centimeters over the lower along the front and, at the gable ends, the third floor over the
second. Animating what would otherwise have been a simple box form—and visually tying the
house to the ground by emphasizing horizontality—these overhangs also demonstrate the
skilled heavy carpentry that came to the northern colonies from southeast England. The carved
pendants under these overhangs—which also mark the framing of the rooms astride the chim-
ney—are noteworthy. The enclosing clapboards, or “weatherboards” as the English call them,
were well known in the mother country, particularly in Kent and Essex.

In plan the ground floor is divided into two slightly unequal rooms that abut a large cen-
tral chimney fancifully paneled in Tudor fashion. A sizable parlor—as demanded by a parson’s
duties—occupies the left-hand end while a hall that is kitchen and family room takes up the
right. (A reproduction of the kitchen with its 8.3-foot/2.5-meter-wide fireplace was for many
years in the American Wing of the Metropolitan Museum of Art.) Bedrooms, reached by the
original narrow stairs, occupy the second and third floors; a basement runs beneath. The inte-
rior was restored (in 1913-14, by George Francis Dow) to its original (if somewhat theoretical)
Puritan condition. Of necessity, much woodwork and all shingles and clapboarding are new.
A small museum annex extends at rear. The house is currently owned by the Topsfield Histor-
ical Society.

Located at the northeast edge of common. Open mid-June through mid-September, Monday, Friday, Sunday 1:00-4:30 P.M.
Also open for tea Wednesday 1:00-4:30 P.M. Open other times by appointment; call (508) 887-3998. Guided tour available.
No admission fee, but a donation is requested.
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PHILIPSBURG MANOR, UPPER MILLS (c. 1683/1720-50)
381 North Broadway
North Tarrytown, New York

Philipsburg Manor was once part of the enormous holdings of Frederick Philipse (1626-
1702), a Dutch carpenter-immigrant turned miller, burgher, and entrepreneur. It was pre-
served and restored by John D. Rockefeller, Jr., who purchased the 20-acre/8-hectare site in
1940 on hearing of its probable subdivision. The plain but sturdy manor house, begun around
1683, had been added to and tampered with through two centuries. However, its central stone
core remained basically intact, and after meticulous study it has been taken back (1943) to its
authentic mid-eighteenth century condition. A 1750 inventory listing the contents of all rooms
facilitated refurnishing. The second-floor kitchen/dining room is of particular interest. The
gristmill, small wharf, and dam had disappeared long before, but archeological excavations
uncovered the original foundations, so that general outlines are precise though aboveground
appearances are somewhat hypothetical. Even the beams in the reconstruction of the mill were
hand-hewn and the nails handmade. Be sure, incidentally, to see the interior of the gristmill;
its heavy timbers and wooden gears are fascinating. The dam itself is of oak with stone infill-
ing. The millpond and its birds complete a pastoral scene. Reputedly a century ago there were
around fifty thousand operating water mills in the United States. Though relatively few are left
today, interest in alternative energy may soon increase their number; Philipsburg Manor
offers a fine model.

Located on Us g at the north edge of North Tarrytown. Open March-December, Wednesday—Monday 10:00 A.M.=5:00 P.M.
Closed Thanksgiving and Christmas. Admission is $7 for adults, $6 for senior citizens, $4 for children ages 6-17, free for chil-
dren under 6. Half-hour tours given every half hour. For more information call (914) 631-3992.
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ELEAZER ARNOLD HOUSE (c. 1687/mid—eighteenth century)
487 Great Road (Rl 123)
Lincoln, Rhode Island

An obvious primitiveness characterizes the two-and-one-half-story, four-room Arnold house.
A herculean, solid fieldstone wall (original), fairing into a splendid chimney at top, steadies
one entire end of the structure and anchors it against northwest winds. The rest of the
house—called a “stone-ender” in Rhode Island—appends this wall, clutching it for stability
and barely attaining such. Narrow, unpainted clapboards, tiny diamond-paned casements, and
a studded front door (all restored), with the long lean-to of an ell at the rear, mark the exteri-
or, indicating the widened four-room plan of the mid-eighteenth century (the brick chimney
was added at the same time). The interior, some of it original, reveals the medievalism of its
early Colonial day; its substantial summer beam bisects the hall/kitchen in typical fashion,
while unpainted boarding (all new) lines the walls. In 1918 the dwelling was acquired by the
Society for the Preservation of New England Antiquities. In 1952, it was restored (some
authorities believe this restoration questionable in parts); the greatest changes took the exteri-
or back to its seventeenth-century appearance and replaced rotted timbers within. A lack of
funds, presumably, prevented restoration of the gable that once graced the front, and whose
original valley framing beams are still in place

Located west of intersection with R 126 (3 miles/4.8 kilometers northwest of Pawtucket). Open by appointment only; call the
SPNEA at (617) 227-3956 to arrange a tour. The cost is $2 for adults, $1 for children 5-12, $1.50 for senior citizens, free for
SPNEA members.
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JEAN HASBROUCK MEMORIAL HOUSE (1692-1712)
Huguenot Street at North Front Street
New Paltz, New York

Interspersed along Huguenot Street above the Wallkill and Hudson rivers is a group of sur-
prisingly unaltered houses built at the end of the seventeenth and early in the eighteenth cen-
turies by French Protestant refugees. Highlighted by the Hasbrouck House (1692 beginning,
1712 major part) at the end of the street (a museum-house that has been open to the public
since 1899), the collection comprises a vignette from a too-little-known period of early
American architecture. Even the street—“the oldest street in America with its original hous-
es”—was designated a National Historic Landmark in 1960.

Architecturally the houses show a northern French-Rhinelander-Dutch influence (many
Huguenots spent some years in Germany and the Netherlands before fleeing to the New
World) with local limestone walls, steep medieval roof, and (often) wood gable ends. The hous-
es are directly and simply expressed, but at times, as in the Bevier House, sport an almost fey
fenestration. The interiors are structurally impressive, particularly the roof trusses framing the
attic where grain was stored, and where enormous hand-hewn beams are revealed. Be sure to
notice, also, the unusual open-hearth fireplaces.

Take exit 18 on Ny Thruway, west on NY 299/Main Street. Open the Wednesday after Memorial Day until the end of September,
Wednesday—Sunday 9:30 A.M.—4:00 P.M. Closed Labor Day. All visits are guided. Tours of one house are $2.75 per person.
1 1/2-hour tours (two houses and the church) cost $3.50 per person. 2 1/2-hour tours are given at 9:30 and 1:30; the cost is
$7 for adults, $6 for senior citizens, $3 for children ages 7-11. All tours begin at Deyo Hall. For more information call the
Huguenot Historical Society at (914) 255-1660 (office) or (914) 255-1889 (tours).
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SAN JOSE DE LA LAGUNA (1699-1706)
Exit 114 on I-40
Laguna, New Mexico

San José’s exterior massing
recalls the softly molded,
white-stuccoed  architecture
of the Mediterranean, while
its interior is spiced by ener-
getic wall decorations. The
mission and its small church
(zo5 feet/32 meters long by
22 feet/6.7 meters wide) rank
high in our inheritance of
Spanish-Native American ar-
chitecture. Note the integra-
tion of the twin bells on its
planar facade—typical of its
Balearic precursors. Though
of the same standard plan as,
say, the larger San Estévan at
nearby Acoma (see page 34),
the Laguna mission is more
intimately scaled in its siting
and architecture, and, having
been reasonably cared for in
this century, is also in finer
condition. A simple walled
courtyard with a few trees,
the priest’s house to the left, and a small baptistry to the right with an inner door to the nave
of the church form an introduction to the mission.

The church itself is constructed of rough stone covered by whitewashed plaster worn by the
elements to a tactile smoothness. The long, darkish interior, with three windows on the south
wall plus a smaller one over the entry, reaches a climax at the chancel with its beautiful retablo
(1804—05, restored by E. Boyd in 1950). The splayed side walls adjacent to the reredos were at
one time also decorated, mostly with scrolls, but they have since been whitewashed out. The
ceiling over the chancel is also ornamented. The lower walls of the nave are convoluted with
boldly primitive paintings, rich in symbolic colors and designs to represent the elements
affecting crop growth. They were probably added some fifty years after the dedication of the
church itself. The ceiling of the nave is spanned by the usual vigas, here debarked tree trunks
on simple corbels, covered with brightly painted herringboned branches. Father Antonio de
Miranda supposedly designed the church and supervised its construction. The mission was in
a badly deteriorated condition in the middle of the last century but was eventually stabilized.
A new roof was added in 1923 by the Committee for the Preservation and Restoration of New
Mexican Mission Churches. In the 1930s and 1940s further restoration was carried out under
the supervision of the Franciscan order.

Located on a hillock at the west edge of Laguna. Open Monday—-Friday 9:00 A.M.=3:00 P.M. Sunday services held at 10:00 A.M.
Tours can be scheduled by calling (s05) 552-9330.
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COLONIAL WILLIAMSBURG RESTORATION (1699-1780/1927—)
Williamsburg, Virginia

Sir Francis Nicholson, town planner
Perry, Shaw & Hepburn, initial architect of restoration (1927-34)
Colonial Williamsburg Foundation (1935-)

For three quarters of the eighteenth century, Williamsburg epitomized Colonial building in
America. Today it is the world’s greatest open-air museum of architecture. No other English
settlement, either in the South or North, approached the urbane sophistication, the civic unity,
and the comeliness achieved here on the high land between the James and the York rivers.
(The capital of Virginia was moved here in 1699 to get away from the malarial coast at
Jamestown,; it was transferred to Richmond in 1780 during the Revolution, where, of course,
it remained.) It is beyond the scope of this book to comment more than briefly on the indi-
vidual buildings and gardens—excellent guides may be had at the site—but let it be clearly
stated that any architect, urbanist, or landscape architect can profit enormously from a visit,
while the nonprofessional will be immensely rewarded.

The plan of Williamsburg is no casual string of public buildings and houses, but an orga-
nized, dynamic play of axis and cross-axis that has immense vitality. The town’s essential les-
son is not so much one of a carefully restored, beautifully landscaped collection of picturesque,
historic buildings as it is of spaces. There are pulsating axial and lateral spaces, building spaces
respecting each other, building spaces working with garden spaces, the two together delimit-
ing the street spaces. This climaxes on Duke of Gloucester Street (see photo below), where
trees, bricks, and weatherboard are intertwined in an extended urban partnership.

The town, as mentioned, did not simply accrete randomly; it employed one of the first
major “composed” plans—not a repetitive unfocused grid—of the colonies. It was based on a
Baroque-derived urban layout with the two ends of its spinal avenue, Duke of Gloucester
Street (99 feet/30 meters wide),
nailed down by an existing col-
lege (Wren Building) and the
new Capitol, .75 mile/1.2 kilome-
ters away. A cross axis of major
importance, composed of a broad
green, 210 x 825 feet/64 x 251
meters, with the Governor’s Pal-
ace facing it, tapped onto this
main thoroughfare. With the key
foci established, the lesser streets
developed from this brilliantly
off-center T shape. The core in
many respects anticipated Pierre-
Charles L’Enfant’'s T plan for
Washington by ninety-three years.

Though there were ground
rules for the placement of houses
on their half-acre lots—rules
that included mandatory fences
against grazing animals—the
resulting townscape is not regi-
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mented. Sir Francis Nicholson (1655-1728), a too little-known but apparently extraordinary
governor, or lieutenant governor, of six American colonies from Nova Scotia to South
Carolina, was responsible for the urban plan of the new capital. A few years earlier he also
planned Annapolis, a far less successful effort that dimly reflects both Christopher Wren’s
never-built plan for London and the palace layout at Versailles (Nicholson was familiar with
each). For the town of Williamsburg, with a planned population of 2,000, he could scarcely
have done better. Alexander Spotswood, governor from 1710-22, made subsequent modifi-
cations.

All of the Williamsburg structures are, as would be expected, basically Colonial Georgian
with a hint of the slightly earlier Queen Anne, plus an inevitable sea change. Elegance in archi-
tecture in the colonies can be said to have begun here. Peripherally, none of the buildings even
anticipate the domestic “white pillars” of Greek Revival/Southern Colonial, which first appeared
across the front of Mount Vernon (see page 94) at the very end of the eighteenth century.

The concept for restoring this notable town began in 1927 (the “dream” was nurtured twen-
ty years earlier). It was then that the Reverend William Archer Rutherfoord Goodwin, rector
of Bruton Parish Church, persuaded John D. Rockefeller, Jr., that if he would restore the
town’s splendid but run-down buildings, and reconstruct those whose foundations lay only a
few inches beneath their feet, a cultural richness of the greatest magnitude would evolve.
Rockefeller, who had visited Williamsburg the previous year to attend the dedication of Phi
Beta Kappa Hall (the society was founded at William and Mary in 1776), magnanimously
agreed, and preliminary work began shortly thereafter. Seven years later the major buildings
were opened. Perry, Shaw & Hepburn and their distinguished consultants were admirably
successful in their formidable task of restoring and rebuilding—for the first time in the
United States—a whole historic city. Following the completion of the original program for the
restoration of the major buildings in 1934, Colonial Williamsburg set up its own architectural
office to carry out the remaining work. The nation will be eternally grateful to Rockefeller. It
is probably correct to say that the work he made possible here has been the single greatest fac-
tor, conscious or not, in our present and future concern for saving the great buildings of our
past. Today, after an expenditure of prodigious sums of money and sixty years of work, impor-
tant restoration and reconstruction still remain to be studied and executed, and the work
continues.

The famous Wren Building of William and Mary College, the colonies’ second oldest col-
lege and their oldest surviving academic building, was still standing in the 1920s, as was
Bruton Parish Church. The only major structures that required total rebuilding were the
Capitol (opened in 1934), the Palace (1934), and Raleigh Tavern (1932). Altogether 88 build-
ings have been completely restored, while 413 minor buildings and many simple outbuildings
have been built afresh, generally on their early foundations, guided by drawings, inventories,
wills, and, of course, excavations. To accomplish this, 454 buildings of the last hundred or so
years were removed from the 130-acre/53-hectare historic core.

Some quarrel that the resulting Williamsburg “style” has blighted American architecture
by encouraging so many copies of its houses, much as the 1893 World’s Columbian Exposition
in Chicago congealed the building of its time in a Neo-Classical mold. But considering the
state of architecture in the 1930s and 40s, such an accusation does not seem as stultifying now
as it once did. Moreover the restoration sparked a keen interest in architectural preservation
all across the country. However one assesses Williamsburg (and there are those who say it is
“sanitized”) there are urban lessons for tomorrow that can readily be gleaned from this restora-
tion of the past. Its architecture gives us an illuminating insight into eighteenth-century
English influence on the buildings of Virginia—England’s earliest, largest, and (for a time)
most populous possession in the New World. It is, thus, not to be missed.



The major buildings deserve
brief comment. The Wren
Building (see photo left)—des-
ignated as such in 1928—ini-
tially housed the entire William
and Mary College and provided,
as mentioned, the flagship
building by which the new town
was anchored. (The site, where
a scattering of buildings stood
in 1699, had been established
as early as 1633 as Middle Plan-
tation, with a palisade at the
west against attack by Native
Americans.) First built from
1695-98, the college suffered
several fires (1705, 1859, and
1862), which consumed the
interior, but the external walls
are almost all original, although the building was several times altered. As Professor Marcus
Whiffen brings out in his encyclopedic The Public Buildings of Williamsburg (Colonial
Williamsburg, 1958), the attribution of Christopher Wren as the architect is based solely, thus
somewhat strangely, on a book written in 1724 by the Reverend Hugh Jones, a mathematics
professor at William and Mary, a man who should certainly have known. Jones wrote in The
Present State of Virginia (London) that “The Building is beautiful and commodious, being first
modeled by Sir Christopher Wren [Jones’ italics],” immediately adding that it was “adapted to
the Nature of the Country by the Gentlemen there,” and, after the fire of 1705, “altered and
adorned by the ingenious Direction of Governor Spotswood.” As it stands, the facade lacks the
mastery of proportion we would expect from Wren, particularly in the central pedimented bay
(too narrow for the building’s length, with arched entry too wide for its bay). For this we can
probably thank Alexander Spotswood. (A wide, triple-arched pedimented bay graced the build-
ing from the 1865 “rebuilding” to the present restoration.) The Hall, projecting at the rear
northward, was part of the original L-shaped building and survived the fires mentioned. The
Chapel, at the rear to the south, was not added until 1729—32: the college was initially intend-
ed to form a complete rectangle. In front of the academic grouping at south stands The
Brafferton, built, as the plaque proclaims, “as an Indian School in 1723.” The near-identical
President’s House (1732—33) stands opposite on the north side of the College Yard. Accident-
ally burned in 1781, it was restored in 1786 with funds from the French Government.

The Bruton Parish Church seen today is the third for the community; the first, whose pre-
cise site and date are unknown, was probably built shortly after 1633, when, as mentioned, the
area was settled. It was superseded by the second, which dates from 1681-83, and lasted until
the college was established and the capital moved here (1699). Then in 1711, hard by the sec-
ond church, the present larger edifice, designed by Alexander Spotswood, was started; it was
completed in 1715. A 22-foot/6.7-meter expansion, to make the chancel length equal that of the
nave, was effected in 1752. In plan the church is symmetrical about both nave and wings, with
a square tower and bell steeple (of little elegance) added in 1769. The interior, several times
altered, does not match several of its contemporary Virginia churches for brio, being low of
ceiling, but the exterior forms a highly useful nodal point, an urban fulcrum, at the intersec-
tion of Duke of Gloucester Street and the Palace Green. George B. Tatum points out in The
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Arts in America—Colonial Period (Scribner’s, 1960) that the church “must be counted one of
the earliest American examples of the use of the Georgian style by the Church of England.”
The Governor’s Palace (1706-20) (see photo below) is no arbitrary reconstruction. It is
built on the precise excavated foundations of the old building, with a measured plan by
Thomas Jefferson—who lived in it for six months while governor of Virginia—filling in the
details. The reconstruction of the exterior massing and window treatment was enormously
facilitated by a sharp one-point perspective engraving found in the Bodleian Library at Oxford.
(This engraving, invaluable to the reconstruction, contains views of four other major buildings
at Williamsburg.) Extensive inventories and descriptions helped with the interior and its fur-
nishings. It is a five-bay Georgian mansion (note that the bays vary symmetrically in width),
almost square in plan, with two dependencies at right angles in front, the whole wrapped in a
double-curved brick wall entered by a well-scaled gate. The dormered roof rises steeply to a
balustraded deck flanked by paneled chimneys and topped by a high cupola. Some historians
think that Dutch Palladianism was a source of inspiration. A ballroom was added at the north
side in 1751, and other subsequent repairs were carried out from 1767—70, possibly to enable
the building to meet the challenge of Tryon Palace in New Bern, North Carolina (see page
1006). Be certain to see the richly pedimented exterior of the ballroom, which shows the florid
later development of the Georgian style. The gardens, too, should not be missed. The palace
was burned in r781 while being used as a hospital for the wounded from nearby Yorktown.
The Capitol (see photo on following page), which forms the climax of Duke of Gloucester
Street, was begun in 1701 and finished four years later (but occupied before completion). Two
and one-half stories high, it is H-shaped in plan (compare the Stratford Hall Plantation, page
65), with two identical wings, round-ended on the south, coupled by a nexus of the same
height with an open ground floor piazza framed by three archways. Like the Governor’s
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Palace, it is built on the foundations of the original building, its exterior restoration greatly
helped by the aforementioned Bodleian plate. To avoid the danger of fire there was originally
no heating, hence no chimneys—and no candles or smoking—until 1723. Ironically, twenty-
four years later, the building burned almost to the ground. The second capitol, on the foun-
dations of the first but differing somewhat in appearance, was commenced in 1747 and com-
pleted in 1753. (This, too, burned, in 1832.) It is the restoration of the first capitol which we see
today, well proportioned outside, comely within. Incidentally, the double-hung windows in the
Capitol represent one of the first such uses in the colonies. (The Venetian blinds are also
authentic to the period.)

The houses of the Williamsburg Restoration, the vast majority of which are of wood
sheathed in weatherboard, merit careful attention, as do their gardens. Like the major build-
ings, some have been restored, others totally reconstructed, but all were done meticulously.
Two of the finest examples face each other across the green near the Governor’s Palace: the
wooden Brush-Everard House (1717-19, with later additions), and the imposing, brick Wythe
House (1752—54). Both are owned by Colonial Williamsburg and are open to the public. (For
detailed guidance consult the Official Guidebook and Map, and William B. O’Neal’s excellent
Architecture in Virginia, published by the Virginia State Museum [1968]. For more serious
research see Marcus Whiffen’s The Public Buildings of Williamsburg [1958] and The Eighteenth-
Century Houses of Williamsburg [1960], both published by Colonial Williamsburg and both very
knowledgeable.)

Open daily 9:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M. (hours vary seasonally). A one-day admission pass (does not include museum admission) is
$25 for adults, $15 for children ages 6-12. A one-year pass (which includes museum admission) is $30 for adults, $18 for chil-
dren. Various tours offered daily. For more information call (800) His-Tory.
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ST. JAMES EPISCOPAL CHURCH (c. 1713-19)
Snake Road
Goose Creek, South Carolina

Though difficult to find, this venerable church in a primitive country setting is well worth the
expedition. With its pink stuccoed brick walls, white quoins and woodwork, and jerkin-head
roof the exterior is highly unusual among early (or even late) colonial churches. (It should be
mentioned that 1708 and 1711 have also been given as dates for its construction.) Note the elab-
orate, large-scaled door whose pediment depicts a pelican nourishing her young with blood
from her breast, the emblem of the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel. The interior is
dominated by an extraordinarily elaborate chancel; its sanctuary wall, or reredos, is vigorously
molded in stucco and brightly painted. (Note the hatchment of the Izard family on the balcony
wall.) The pulpit with its freestanding axial position and prominent sounding board almost
speaks by itself; it completely eclipses the altar. The entry end of the church, in contrast, is
naively simple.

St. James Episcopal Church was founded and built by Francis LeJau (1665-1717), a Hugue-
not who fled his native France to safety in England where he eventually became a canon of St.
Paul’s Cathedral in London. He was sent to South Carolina by the Society for the Propagation
of the Gospel in large part “to cater to the desire of the French population.” He lies buried near
the altar. Many of the early settlers of Charleston and its environs were Englishmen from the
Bahamas and Barbados; the “Goose Creek Men” were, supposedly, mostly Barbadians, with
some Huguenots. There is, thus, a touch of West Indies background in this pastel-colored,
stuccoed masonry church. The church was spared destruction during the American
Revolution because the coat of arms of George I was still behind the pulpit, then lapsed into
disuse for much of the nineteenth century. The earthquake of 1886 caused grave damage.
Makeshift repairs were made from time to time, but not until 1955-60 was a complete restora-
tion and a strengthening of the foundations carried out. The building was repainted in 1973.

Located 15 miles/24 kilometers north of Charleston via us 52 or 78; just north of branching of 52 and 78 turn east .6 mile/
1 kilometer on Goose Creek Road, then .4 mile/.6 kilometer south at first fork (Snake Road). The church is currently under-
going restoration. Open by appointment only; call (803) 722-1462 to arrange a free tour.




MACPHEADRIS-WARNER HOUSE (1718-23)
150 Daniel Street at Chapel
Portsmouth, New Hampshire

The Macpheadris-Warner House is considered by many to be one of the finest early-eighteenth-
century brick dwellings left in New England. With its thick Flemish-bond walls it would be dis-
tinguished early Georgian anywhere. (It should be remembered that brick, not wood, was the
favored building material at this time throughout the South.) The roof originally had a double
gable with two ridges and no dormers. The valley formed by the gables filled with snow and
ice in winter, and thus the roof was redesigned as now seen to prevent structural rotting. The
anachronistic cupola, however, is original. The Chapel Street end of the house (at left) is
crowded by two large chimneys; the opposite end uses only one because the fireplaces are con-
joined at the inside corners. Attention to detail can be seen in the segmental pediment over
the front door, a shape that is softly echoed by the relieving arches over the windows on the
lower floor and the alternate dormers on the roof. (The pedimented door and dormers seem
to have been added c. 1760.)

Notable features of the interior include the fascinating, semiprimitive murals of the stair-
way (restored in 1988), the large size of the rooms (the parlor measures 19.5 feet/6 meters
across) and their pine paneling, the marbleizing of the dining room walls, the furnishings (few
original), and the portraits: an impressive assembly. In 1931 the dwelling was purchased from
the descendants of Jonathan Warner by the Warner House Association so that it could be
maintained and opened to the public. Some restoration, particularly in the kitchen, was car-
ried out by Norman Isham and William Perry, and proper refurnishing begun. The fence
along Daniel Street was designed in 1953 by Mr. Perry (who did much work at Williamsburg).

Early June—October 31, open Tuesday—Saturday 10:00 A.M.—4:00 P.M., Sunday 1:00 P.M.—4:00 P.M. March 15—early June, open
by appointment; call (603) 436-5909. Admission is $4 for adults, $2 for children. Guided tours available.
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STANLEY-WHITMAN HOUSE (c. 1720)
37 High Street
Farmington, Connecticut

Weathered oak clapboarding (restored and now protected by a stain), diamond-pane triple win-
dows, massive central chimney, and projecting “framed overhang” with heavy pendants are all
hallmarks of one of the best-preserved early eighteenth-century houses in the United States.
This quality carries over to the inside, particularly in the hall to the right and the bedrooms
above. Roof changes made at the time of a later addition to the house create a straight line
from ridge to eaves and thus give the house its saltbox shape. (A fireproof wing was added to
the rear during the late nineteenth century to accommodate additional items of local interest.)
The plan of the house embraces its central chimney with two rooms per floor each with siz-
able (and original) fireplace. A tiny staircase (restored) against the chimney gives access to the
upper level. Although the “purity” of the house is somewhat compromised by its additions—
compare the Parson Capen House in Topsfield, Massachusetts (see page 49), for example—
the main body of the Stanley-Whitman remains one of the classics of its type. The framed over-
hangs that are so prominent in both front and gables of the house—as in the Capen as
well—stem from the medieval tradition. Some believe overhangs arose because houses were
taxed on the amount of ground they covered; others trace them to cramped town lots. (By com-
parison, many English windows were walled up from 1696 to 1851 because of the tax levied on
them. And, of course, Francois Mansart’s [1598-1666] Mansard roof not only provided more
under-roof space, it also avoided the tax per floor on French buildings.) The building was
restored by J. Frederick Kelly in 1934-35, and a second restoration was completed in 1988,
which returned most of the rooms to their original condition. The horticulturist visiting the
Stanley-Whitman House will want to see the herb and flower gardens at the rear.

May—October open Wednesday—-Sunday 12:00 noon—4:00 P.M., March, April, November, and December open Sunday 12:00
noon—4:00 p.M. All other times by appointment only. Admission fees are $3 for adults, $2 for children 6-18 and senior citi-
zens. There is an orientation exhibit. To schedule visits or tours call (203) 677—-9222.
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GRAEME PARK MANSION—KEITH HOUSE (1721-22/1739-55)
859 County Line Road
Horsham, Pennsylvania

The Graeme Park Mansion (also known as the Keith House), with its duck pond, trees, fences,
and well-tended lawn, is the center of a complete early-eighteenth-century country gentle-
man’s estate. The exterior of the house is casually dressed fieldstone, with prominent mortar
joints and a lack of finesse in its details. The interior was totally renovated in 1r739—55 by Dr.
Thomas Graeme, the son-in-law of the original owner, Sir William Keith. Richly paneled par-
titions and large fireplaces are found in the three ground-floor rooms, which are unusually laid
out in that there is no central hall.

The nearby barn should be noted, especially the juxtaposition of its massive stone ends
with the wooden southern projection, which provides an open-air sheltered work space.
Notice, too, the neatly turned white-washed pillars and, on the north side, the ramp to the
upper floor. Part of the barn’s lower floor has been converted to a visitors center and admin-
istrative quarters for the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, which acquired the property in 1958.

Located .9 mile/1.4 kilometers west of us 611, 3.2 miles/s.1 kilometers north of Horsham. Open Wednesday—Friday 10:00
A.M.—4:00 P.M., Saturday 9:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M., Sunday 1:00 P.M.—5:00 P.M. Closed Veterans Day, Thanksgiving, Christmas, and
New Year's Day. There is an admission fee. All visits are guided; 45-minute tours given regularly until one hour prior to clos-
ing. For more information call (215) 343—-0965.
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CHRIST CHURCH—OLD NORTH (1723-24)
193 Salem Street at Hull
Boston, Massachusetts

When the non-Puritan churchgoers of Boston outgrew the first King’s Chapel—which was
their earliest Anglican parish—and sought to build a second church, they turned to
Christopher Wren and James Gibbs for inspiration. Christ Church was the result. It shows the
typical English, U-shaped, long-aisle interior with balconies, but one tempered by New
England simplicity and marked by a primitiveness of detail. Note, incidentally, the cheerful
quantity of daylight compared to that in most Boston churches of any period. The building
measures 51 feet/15 meters wide by 7o feet/21 meters long. In the approved Church of
England manner, Old North’s pulpit stands at left—not at center, as in the Puritan tradition—
its height enabling those in the balconies and the high box pews to see the minister (and vice
versa). The pew boxes were tall to ward off drafts and square in plan so that the occupants
could share the foot warmers they brought with them in winter (the church was not heated).
The brass chandeliers, which are still used during some services, were made in England; the
organ is a 1992 restoration of the 1759 original.

Christ Church today suffers from being closely hemmed in by a packed neighborhood, but
the well-tended Washington Garden at its side does let it breathe a bit. It was from this
church’s superior steeple (190 feet/58 meters high) that Robert Newman hung the celebrated
lanterns for Paul Revere.
The wooden steeple was
several times damaged
by gales, and in 1954
was totally destroyed by
hurricane. Charles R.
Strickland restored it to
the original design the
following year. The
church, probably, and
the steeple unquestion-
ably, were designed by
William Price, a local
draftsman who reputed-
ly had studied Wren’s
churches when in
London. However, the
extensive parish records
reveal no known archi-
tect. Thomas Tippin and
Thomas Bennett were
the master builders.

Open daily 9:00 A.M.=5:00 P.M.
Closed on Thanksgiving. Sunday
services held at 9:00 A.M., 11:00
AM., and 4:00 P.M. No admis-
sion fee, but a donation is
requested. A short talk on the
building is available to all visi-
tors.
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TRINITY CHURCH (1725-26)
Queen Anne Square between Spring and Thames streets
Newport, Rhode Island

Richard Munday, architect

Richard Munday de-
signed Trinity Church,
or, as has been said,
“made a copy in wood
of Boston’s Old North”
(Hugh Morrison, Early
American Architecture,
Oxford University Press,
1952). While the inte-
rior is unmistakably
derived from London
precedents, the outside
is sheathed in beaded
white clapboards, its
wide sides given a lilt
by the double row of
roundheaded windows.
This is accentuated by
the scale relation of the
narrow clapboarding
and the “thirty over
twenty-four” panes of
the windows. The exte-
rior is also marked by a
first-rate steeple (spire
and cupola inspired by
Old North) with what
was supposedly the first
church Dbell to ring in New England. (The steeple has recently been restored.) An open
square—dedicated by Queen Elizabeth 11 in 1976—sets off the whole. The interior was based,
as mentioned, on the just-completed interior of Christ Church (that is, Old North—see page
63), but Trinity is longer than the former, having been sliced in half, and had two additional
bays, totaling 30 feet/9 meters, added in 1762. (Note the unusual superimposed square
columns upholding gallery and vaulted ceiling in each building.) Trinity has otherwise been
little touched through the subsequent years even to the extent that real candles are set in the
chandeliers that hang down the aisle. This aisle aligns with the prominent wineglass pulpit,
whose axial location—and superb sounding board—almost completely blankets the altar:
almost unheard of in an Anglican church. The interior is colorful, with white walls and ceil-
ing, light green woodwork, and seasonal vestments.

Open 10:00 A.M.—4:00 P.M. in summer and 10:00 A.M.—1:00 P.M. in winter. Closed for holidays. Admission is free, although a
donation is suggested. Tours are available during the summer and on Sunday year round. For more information call (401)
846—0660.
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STRATFORD HALL PLANTATION (c. 1725-30)
VA 214
Stratford, Virginia

The visual pleasures of Stratford lie both in its ground-hugging mansion, probing the four
points of the compass, and in its collection of dependencies and outbuildings. Stratford, like
the Shirley Plantation (see page 67), resembles no other Virginia plantation house. Its H-
shaped plan derives from Italian books (Serlio) and English publications, and was possibly
influenced by the H-shaped Capitol at Williamsburg (see page 54).

In any case the house exhibits a remarkable interacting geometry with two symmetrical
wings with squared ends jutting out from either side of a recessed central block—thus giving
two exposures to each room. The piano nobile is elevated one-half story by its raised basement.
Note that the brick size of the lower part differs from that above the water table, though both
are laid in Flemish bond. The lower brickwork with its glazed headers is picked up again in
the chimneys. Above, topping the intersections of the uniform hipped ridges, erupt two enor-
mous clusters of Vanbrughian chimneys comprised of four interlocking but independent
flues. A balustraded lookout couches in each. Flanking the house near the corners stand four
dependencies, arranged with Palladian symmetry, the two on the approach side (kitchen at
east, clerks’ quarters and servants’ hall on west) placed at right angles to the overseer’s office
and gardener’s house, which stand on the river side.

The heavily balustraded flights of stairs, one on either side of the central hall block, van-
ish—that is, narrow sharply from 13 to 5 feet/4 to 1.5 meters—as each ascends to a simple,
brick-pedimented door. This creates a visually dominant perspectival effect, in spite of the fact
that they are sandwiched between the challenging projections of the wings. It must be added
that current research reveals that the late Fiske Kimball, who was in charge of a major stage
of the restoration, made arbitrary decisions for the splayed stairs (south flight 1935, north
1940) for which there was no archeological evidence. There is, indeed, no documentation that
the north stairs existed. These stairs lead onto the great hall with the major rooms disposed in
identical rectangular wings on either side, thus producing the H plan. The hall (28.5 x 28.7
feet/8.69 x 8.74 meters), with its inverted tray ceiling, handsome painted paneling, and brass
chandelier, forms one of the country’s impressive entrances. During the first two generations
of occupancy by the family of Robert E. Lee, the lower floor, served only by a small interior
stair, functioned as a service, storage, and utility area.

Fortunes waned with time, and changes were made (all outside stairs were removed or
pushed around, and most interiors, except the hall, altered). In 1929 the Robert E. Lee
Memorial Association purchased the house and grounds and undertook its masterful restora-
tion, a process that began in 1933 (initially, as mentioned, under the direction of Fiske
Kimball) and that still continues. The
rehabilitating and refurnishing of the
house cover the eighty-four-year occu-
pancy of the Lee family, c. 1738-1822.
No architect has been discovered.

e

Located 42 miles/68 kilometers east of Fredericks-
burg on VA 3 to Lerty, then 2 miles/3.2 kilometers
northeast on va 214. Open daily 9:00 A.M.—4:30 P.M.
Closed Thanksgiving, Christmas, and New Year's
Day. Admission is $7 for adults, $6 for senior citi-
zens and the military, $3 for children ages 6-18, free
for children under 6. All visits are guided. For more
information call (804) 493-8038.




CHRIST CHURCH (1727-44/1754)
2nd and Market streets
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Dr. John Kearsley, probable architect

Christ Church represented the most accomplished and urbane development of religious archi-
tecture in the colonies at the time of its completion in 1744 (tower and steeple 1754). Its basic
design comes straight from London; James Gibbs’s St. Martin-in-the-Fields (1721-26) is most
frequently mentioned as its inspiration, although its interior, especially, is tamer. Christ
Church’s red brick walls, projecting chancel, and parapet with balustrade and urn show by
their articulation the full development of Georgian architecture. This finds its climax in the
209-foot-/64-meter-high wooden steeple resting easily upon its brick base. (Note the carved
heads on this tower.) The richness of the exterior is reflected within by the chancel with its
enormous Palladian window—which the church claims is the first of its size in America—and
by the ornate entablature. The Tuscan columns with impost blocks that parade down the nave
are virtually a Gibbs trademark. From these columns spring arches that carry the elliptical ceil-
ing. In 1954 the Victorian-era stained glass in the great window behind the altar was replaced
with clear glass to restore the window to its original style. Six of the downstairs stained-glass
windows underwent similar treatment in 198s.

As the founding Anglican church (1695) in Pennsylvania—the colony of Quakers—Christ
Church’s first building was probably made of wood; in 1727 work was begun on the building
we see today. Dr. John Kearsley, a physician, vestryman, and amateur architect who was born
(c. 1684) and educated in England, is generally credited with the church’s design. The church
prospered greatly and was by the mid-eighteenth century the most fashionable in
Philadelphia. It was here also in 1789 that the Protestant Episcopal Church in the United
States was born, severing ties with the Church of England. Though interior changes were
made during the last century, the building stands basically as designed, a significant landmark
in Colonial architectural heritage. Seven signers of the Declaration of Independence are
buried in its churchyard and nearby graveyard (Arch Street at 5th).

Open Monday-Saturday 9:00 A.M.=5:00 P.M., Sunday 1:00-5:00 P.M. Services held Wednesday at 12:00 noon, Sunday at 9:00
and 11:00 AM. Closed Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve, Christmas Day, New Year's Eve, New Year's Day. Also closed Monday
and Tuesday during January and February. Tours are available; reservations encouraged. For more information call (215)
922-1695.




SHIRLEY PLANTATION (c. 1730/1831)
501 Shirley Plantation Road
Charles City, Virginia

Shirley Plantation stands on property established as a plantation just six years after the found-
ing of Jamestown. Tall and precisely square, with extraordinary outbuildings, this Queen
Anne manor has a unique personality among the Virginia river houses; “it alone is of the old
monumental style” (Thomas Tileston Waterman, The Mansions of Virginia, University of
North Carolina Press, 1945). While the house, as Waterman and Hugh Morrison (Early
American Architecture, Oxford University Press, 1952) both show, stems from the designs of
Andrea Palladio, with its two-tiered porticos, the relation of house to dependencies is unique.
These outbuildings frame an ingratiating courtyard on the land side of the dwelling. A care-
fully composed grouping with a brace of two-story gabled houses facing each other—the one
at right (north) originally for kitchen, that at left (south) for laundry—occupy the lawn on the
land side of the mansion. Beyond lie two one-and-one-half-story warehouses whose L shapes
close the composition of the five buildings. These dependencies date from the mid-1700s.

The main house (c. 1730) is of three stories with a steep mansard roof and overly promi-
nent dormers sheltering the third floor. The porticos of Shirley, which are highly similar to
those on several South Carolina houses of the period (compare Drayton Hall in Charleston,
page 74), were added in 1831 (as recent archeological research has brought out). The plan of
the house is unusual in that there is no central hall, but a “hall room” in the northeast corner
with a remarkable “flying” stair of walnut and pine, three stories high. Note the details of the
underside of the steps and the balustrade. The extensive interior paneling and the carving of
fireplace mantels, overmantels, transoms, and cornices are very fine examples of eighteenth-
century craftsmanship. Because the plantation has been continuously inhabited—even during
the Civil War when nearby Richmond was in flames—the house is remarkably well preserved.
Shirley is still a working plantation.

Located west off vA 5, turnoff 19 miles/31 kilometers southeast of Richmond. Open daily 9:00 A.M.-5:00 pP.M. Closed
Christmas. There is an admission fee; call for rates. Free tours of the house given daily. Self-guided tours of the grounds are
also available. For more information call (800) 232-1613.
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WESTOVER (c. 1730—34)
7000 Westover Road
Charles City, Virginia

Westover is one of the preeminent houses in this
country; however the visitor must keep in mind that
what is seen today is only partially as originally built.
For the house (like Carter’s Grove Plantation, see page
80) has been transformed from a central dwelling
with separate flanking dependencies into one extend-
ed mansion with three previously detached units con-
nected to it. The house stands close to the James River,
with gigantic tulip poplars in front, planted almost two
hundred years ago, to shade the building from the sun
yet not obstruct the view. Called “the most famous
Georgian house in America” (Hugh Morrison), its
central block is, indeed, superb. Its distinguished
south door with an elaborate scroll pediment is one of the most copied in the country (it, in
turn, was largely copied from Palladio Londinensis of 1734: the Portland stone enframement
itself came from London). William Byrd II, who commissioned Westover and undoubtedly
had a hand in its design, possessed a superb architectural library.

Note that the entablature of the door aligns with the pink-painted brick stringcourse to bind
the entry to the whole facade. On either side are three segmental brick window frames with
arched window heads to match their slight curve; generally such wood framing and glass of
the era were rectangular. These windows are repeated on the second floor, and as they rise they
diminish slightly in pane size, lending a highly unusual refinement to the facade. Here stands
perfection of proportion with a nicety of detail unmatched in the early Georgian architecture
of the colonies. Moreover the north (that is, land) facade is almost equally rewarding, for
though the doorway—from the same Palladio Londinensis—is not as exuberant, it displays
equally fine workmanship. In front of this side of the house are wrought-iron gates that were
made in England and, it is thought, installed around 1711, before the main house itself was
commenced. These gates well merit detailed inspection. The gardens themselves were plant-
ed in about 1900.

It would be agreeable if this paean could continue in describing the remainder of the
house, but it cannot because of the insensitivity of the hyphens that were put in (19o1-05) to
connect the house with the two dependencies. (The west dependency was built in the late sev-
enteenth century.) Not only are they weak in design themselves, the hyphens extend the same
ridge as the dependencies, thus slurring their junctures. In addition, the east dependency,
which had been destroyed in the Civil War, was rebuilt with a gambrel roof so that there is
gable, hip, and gambrel along one roof line. (Compare the much more accomplished result in
joining together three units at Carter’s Grove.) But concentrate on the exterior of the mansion
proper and enjoy one of the greatest achievements of American domestic architecture. If pos-
sible, arrive during Garden Week, usually toward the end of April, when the interior is also
open to the public. The design of the stair and the stunning marble mantel in the drawing
room (from James Gibbs’s Book of Architecture, London, 1728) are particularly recommended.

Located south off va 5, turnoff 22 miles/35 kilometers southeast of Richmond. Grounds and garden open 9:00 A.M.—6:00 P.M.
daily. Admission is $2 for adults, so¢ for children under 16, free for children under 6. During Garden Week the house interi-
or is also open to the public; admission prices are higher. Tours of the house can be scheduled by calling (804) 829—2882;
the cost is $7.50 per person.
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MISSION CONCEPCION (1731-55)
807 Mission Road
San Antonio, Texas

Mission Nuestra Sefiora de la Purisima Concepcién de Acufa, alas, no longer ranks among
the architectural elite of a legacy of missions that the Spanish founded from Tejas (“friends”)
to California in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. It is, however, well worth a visit. Its
large compound, which once housed 247 Native Americans, is gone and the facade of the
church (1740-55), though intact, has faded to monochrome; it has also always been marked by
a lack of cohesion, and harried by its geometrically determined pediment. Its cruciform inte-
rior is today simple to the point of plainness; even the contemporary main altar lacks verve (the
transept altars are original). This blandness was not always so, as examination of the baptis-
tery and belfry will suggest, even though their surfaces (but not structure) have largely disin-
tegrated. The vestiges of former frescoes remaining inside recall that at one time both interi-
or and facade were alive with geometric color. In 1824, following complete secularization (it
had been partially secularized in 1793), the church was abandoned for thirty-one years, during
which period it suffered defacement and partial destruction of the living quarters. But the
church itself, 89 feet/277 meters long by 22.5 feet/6.8 meters wide, fortunately remained struc-
turally intact, and claims to be the oldest unrestored church structure in the United States. The
church was rededicated in 1887 and has been in active service since. Its strength resides in the
45-inch-/1.1-meter-thick walls constructed of dressed stone on both faces with small stones
and some adobe between. The north and east walls were also made windowless against possi-
ble attack. Shortly after World War II, the United States Government marked the kitchen of
the mission an official fallout shelter. The remaining fragments of the wall and ceiling paint-
ings in the library room of the convento (missionaries’ quarters) were recently restored to their
original vibrancy.

Located near intersection I-10 with us 281. Part of San Antonio Missions National Historical Park. Open daily 9:00 A.M.—6:00
P.M. in summer, 9:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M. in winter. Closed Christmas and New Year’s Day. Tours can be scheduled by calling (210)
229-5701.
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CHRIST CHURCH (c. 1732)
Routes 646 and 709
Irvington, Virginia

Christ Church rises behind a well-tailored brick wall (restored) with a perfection that makes it
a strong contender for the most handsome church exterior in the United States. Its slightly oft-
set arms, 68 feet/21 meters on a side, are topped by four hipped roofs with an unexpected
slight upturn at the eaves, while its three entries are cut precisely into the respective arms of
the plan. Understated elegance can be seen from the compact overall proportions down to
details such as the rubbed brick-on-brick of the entries with Portland stone caps and bases.
This masonry was probably not equaled in the colonies. Note that the main doorway is marked
by a delicate segmental pediment, while those over the two transept doors are triangular with
unusual oval windows above. The prominently keystoned windows are roundheaded to reflect
the main entry. The 3-foot-/.9-meter-thick brick walls, set in Flemish bond, are of three colors
to give subtle variety.

Within there is such an abundance of natural light that the two windows in the chancel
(east) wall do not produce a glare. The four arms of the church are simply but neatly vaulted
in white plaster. (Though the east-west and north-south measurements are identical, the
north-south transept is 4 feet/1.2 meters off center, which gives the west arm of the church
extra length.) A narrow stringcourse, aligned with the springing of the roundheaded windows
and threading the windows visually together, runs throughout the interior. The Ten Com-
mandments stand forth boldly above the altar, attesting to the importance of the Word in the
Protestant church and providing a form of prayer book for those who did not possess one. The
three-decker pulpit stands at a corner of the transept in the midst of the congregation. The
original pews, high-backed to ward off drafts, are of natural-finish pine, while virtually all of
the other wood, including paneling, is walnut, its dark color playing against the white of walls
and ceiling.

Funds for the church, which occupies the site of an earlier fane (c. 1669), were provided
by the famous Robert “King” Carter, and Carter graves can be seen in the chancel and outside.
Because of its semi-remote location, and the fact that it was owned by the Carter family until
1961, the church was fortunately spared injury following disestablishment and the Civil War.
Only minor restoration has been necessary. A slate roof was added in the 189os, and a gener-
al overhaul, including the brick girdling
wall mentioned, was undertaken in
1965—66 under the direction of Professor
Frederick D. Nichols. Strangely, the
architect is unknown. It is one of the
greatest, or as Alan Gowans writes, “It
may still claim to be the finest single
piece of pure eighteenth-century classical
architectural design in America” (King
Carter’s Church, University of Victoria,
Maltwood Museum, 1969).

i

Located 3.6 miles/s.8 kilometers southwest of Kilmar-
nock via VA 3, 222, 646, and 709. Open daily 9:00
A.M.—5:00 P.M. Closed Christmas. Sunday services held
in summer at 8:00 A.M. Free tours available April—
November Monday—Friday 10:00 A.M.—4:00 P.M.,
Saturday 1:00—4:00 P.M., Sunday 2:00—5:00 p.M. Tours
can also be scheduled by calling (804) 438—6855.
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INDEPENDENCE HALL (1732-56)
5000 Chestnut Street between sth and 6th streets
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Edmund Woolley and Andrew Hamilton, architects

Independence Hall is so emotionally
intertwined with the origin of the
United States that we often neglect its
architecture. It is—in parts (chiefly its
tower and interior)—architecturally
superb. The brick tower, it should be
mentioned, was not even started until
1750, and the first wooden steeple was
so poorly built that it had to be
removed in 1781. This was rebuilt with
major alterations (made more elabo-
rate with clocks and oak wreaths) by
William Strickland in 1828—perhaps
the earliest Colonial restoration.
Without tower and steeple, the Old
State House, to use its original name,
would be a competent but dullish building. The tower, almost exactly as wide as each flank,
and the treed square on the south side save all. From the north (Chestnut Street side) the
building is horizontally prominent; from the south it seems vertical. Its park on the south,
which was once enclosed by a 7-foot-/2.1-meter-high brick wall, provides a respectful bosky set-
ting for this Palladian-descended group. (The same distinction cannot be claimed for the mall
to the north, which has been cleared of earlier buildings and landscaped.) On either side of the
Old State House and connected to it by triple open (originally solid) arcades are two curiously
scaled office wings (r736), which were built and rebuilt (once by Robert Mills) until the final
restoration of 1898. Standing as separate entities on either side of these wings are Congress
Hall (the former County Court House) to the west (1787-89) and Old City Hall—the tempo-
rary United States Supreme Court (1791-1800)—to the east (1789—91). Their exteriors are
basically as originally built; their interior arrangements were altered on several occasions but
have now been restored.

The interior of Independence Hall is splendid both in scale and in the detailing of its
woodwork. It is divided by a central hall into two equal (but unequal-appearing) rooms. One
of these accommodates the supreme court of the province (arched and open to the hall) and
the other, to the east, the Pennsylvania Assembly (behind a door), where the Declaration of
Independence was signed. Both number among the United States’ great early chambers. The
second floor, reached by an impressive stair tower, is dominated by a long gallery. Edmund
Woolley, a master carpenter, designed the building aided by Andrew Hamilton, a talented
lawyer and amateur architect. After neglect following the removal of the state capital to
Lancaster in 1799, then a slight sprucing up for the centennial in 1876, the group comprised
of Independence Hall, Congress Hall, the Old City Hall, and the square was restored early in
this century. In 1951 the buildings came under the watchful protection of the National Park
Service.

Open daily 9:00 A.M.=5:00 P.M. (July—August until 8:00 p.m.) All visits are guided; free tours are given every 15 minutes. For
more information call (215) 597-8974.
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SQUARES OF SAVANNAH (1733-1855)
Savannah, Georgia

James Edward Oglethorpe, planner

James Edward Oglethorpe (1696-1785) was a military man and a humanist, and it can be legit-
imately argued that the plan he laid out for his new settlement in Georgia combined his career
with his concern for mankind. His military experiences ranged from successfully fighting the
Turks at Belgrade (1717) to chasing the Spanish from the seas around the colonies (1742). His
humanism, as expressed in his concern for prison reform and for “the oppressed Protestant
on the continent,” was directly responsible for his asking George II if he could set up a colony
for these lonely and troubled souls in the New World. This request was granted (primarily as
a foil to the northward-looking Spaniards long established in Florida), and in February 1733 the
last—and the largest—of the thirteen English colonies was established some 18 miles/29 kilo-
meters up what came to be known as the Savannah River (named, or rather misnamed, for the
character of the countryside: a savannah is treeless).

The humanitarian castrum that Oglethorpe immediately began to set up for some 114
colonists (including many debtors)—and that he had determined in principle in England—




was based on a military layout—but military with a difference. Historians disagree as to the
inspiration for Oglethorpe’s plan—with theories ranging from the plan of Peking, to
Palmanova (a marvelous star-shaped city of 1593 in Italy’s Veneto—which must have influ-
enced Sébastien le Prestre de Vauban), to London’s squares, and to The Villas of the Ancients
Illustrated, a book that Oglethorpe possessed and that was authored by an architect-friend. In
any case the plan that evolved for Savannah was not a rigid gridiron, stereotyped by the Roman
city of Timgad, but a town plan based on a series of “wards,” precisely dimensioned, with each
focused on its own open square. The wards were composed of “tythings” (lots) lined two rows
across the north side and two across the south, each row containing ten lots 60 x 9o feet/ 18.3
x 27.4 meters—forty altogether. On these sat identical houses 16 x 22 feet/4.9 x 6.7 meters.
Separating the north and south bands of dwellings in each ward was a broad space for com-
munity buildings with the center left open as a square. A net of streets, which varied in width
from 75 to 37.5 to 22.5 feet/23 to 11.4 to 6.9 meters, subdivided the whole. Such wards creat-
ed a far more gracious layout for living than an unrelieved grid, yet lacked nothing in military
ordination. The central open space of each ward also enabled the outlying settlers and their
animals to move into the palisaded town and occupy the squares in case of danger. (Each fam-
ily had, in addition to its lot, a 5-acre/2-hectare garden plot in the outlying town common, with
a 44-acre/18-hectare farm beyond.) Oglethorpe himself is said to have laid out the first four of
his famous wards before returning to England (r743). His module, won-
drously, was repeated as the town extended, until 1855, when available
common land ran out. Savannah then boasted twenty-four squares,
none, it should be added, identical. Mere open spaces—at times with a
well and puzzlingly few trees in the earliest days of the settlement—this
network of piazze eventually flowered into a series of planted parks,
resulting in a unique urban entity. Proper fencing and planting, it might
be noted, did not appear until the prosperity that followed the War
of 1812.

Virtually all of the world’s cities have squares, but none other uses
them as patterned cadences to orchestrate the streets. Savannah, howev-
er, produced “a plan so exalted that it remains as one of the finest dia-
grams for city organization and growth in existence” (Edmund N. Bacon,
Design of Cities, Viking Press, 1967). The scale of these outdoor rooms is
human; the local automobile is tolerated, but through traffic is routed on
wide avenues. Each square is different not only in planting but in statu-
ary, each square’s name and its sculpture recalling a long-deceased hero
or statesman. Bull Street—William Bull was an Oglethorpe aide—is one
of the most rewarding to stroll along, but meander about. Would that
later American cities had employed such pulsations of squares, street lay-
out, and street variations. Instead we often entrust our urban patterns to
our water commissioners. Savannah’s great contribution, it should be
emphasized, lies more in urban planning than in distinctive architec-
ture. In this latter regard Savannah did not produce a domestic response
equal to the felicity of the houses of Charleston (see page 134), though
both deal with similar site conditions.

Inquire at the Savannah Visitors Center, 305 Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard, telephone (912)
944—0455, for useful maps and data (open daily 8:30 A.M.—5:00 P.M.). It is housed in the 1860-76
Central of Georgia Railroad Station, accurately restored by Gunn and Meyerhoff in 1975. For a
thorough review of each square and the buildings on it see Historic Savannah (Historic Savannah
Foundation, 1979).
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DRAYTON HALL (1738-42)
3380 Ashley River Road
Charleston, South Carolina

Drayton Hall, according to the late Henry Francis du Pont, founder of the Winterthur
Museum, is “the greatest house in America.” Of the three superb Ashley River plantations
open to the public, this is the only one whose plantation house dates from the eighteenth cen-
tury. (The houses of nearby Magnolia Gardens and Middleton Place were burned by Federal
troops.) It is remarkably unchanged from the day it was built except for the disappearance of
its two dependencies or flankers, which were built fifteen years after the main house. No
plumbing will be found within Drayton’s rooms, no electric wires chase through its walls.
Even the paint in the great hall is only the second coat. Legend has it that the house was saved
from destruction in the Civil War by being used as a smallpox hospital.

Designed roughly at the same time as the great James River houses (and a century before
the Louisiana and Mississippi plantations), the entries are a great hall in front and a stair hall
on the river side, each superbly paneled. Antiques (April 1970) calls the latter “the finest in
America.” Many of the rooms in the house are fully paneled with rich fireplaces, in general
designed after handbooks. The mansion had been slightly vandalized but is now being pre-
served. Drayton Hall was acquired by the National Trust for Historic Preservation in 1974 and
opened to the public in 1978.

Located 9 miles/14 kilometers northwest of city. March—October open daily 10:00 A.M.—4:00 P.M., November—February open
daily 10:00 A.M.—3:00 p.M. Closed Thanksgiving, Christmas, and New Year’s Day. Admission is $7 for adults, $4 for children
and students, free for children 5 and under. Free tours are given every hour on the hour. For more information call (803)
766-0188.
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OLD COLONY HOUSE (1739-43/c. 1841-45)
Washington Square
Newport, Rhode Island

Richard Munday, architect

The Old Colony House, or the Old State House, was once the capitol of Rhode Island, the sec-
ond oldest capitol in the United States (after Philadelphia’s Independence Hall, see page 71).
For a time it was the largest—and certainly the most ambitious—building in Rhode Island.
The location prominently terminates the head of Washington Square with Peter Harrison’s
Brick Market (see page 100) at the west end. The facade, which shows Dutch influence, dis-
plays what might be termed a rustic originality as it sprouts a strange pediment, its truncated
triangular shape recalling the gable ends of the building, the whole topped by a balustraded
flat deck with octagonal cupola. Every door and window (and even the clock) have received lav-
ish attention, with sandstone quoins emphasizing their shapes in the red brick walls (the
building exhibits the city’s first major use of brick). Competing with the pediment is the com-
bined entry and balcony, which, with the profusion of other elements, produces a facade of
some agitation. However, the one-room main floor, measuring 40 x 8o feet/12 x 24 meters
and with a central row of six square Doric columns, makes a substantial meeting hall. As the
noted historian Antoinette Downing has written concerning this second floor: “The Senate
Chamber, enlarged one bay in 1841, has fine floor-to-ceiling bolection paneling dating from
1r740. The Assembly Room, which took its form c. 1841-45, has excellent mid-nineteenth cen-
tury paneling, coffered ceiling and furnishings. The room was designed by Russell Warren,
who was responsible for the Providence Arcade.” The Old Colony House was used as a hospi-
tal during the Revolution but it was restored in 1785. In 1917 Norman M. Isham carried out a
second restoration, in the process opening up the ground floor, which had been partitioned
through the years. The whole building is now in excellent condition.

The interior is closed to the public.
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FANEUIL HALL (1740-42; 1805-06)
John L. Smibert and Charles Bulfinch, architects

QUINCY MARKET (1824—26)
Alexander Parris, architect

FANEUIL HALL MARKETPLACE (1978)
Benjamin Thompson & Associates, architects of rehabilitation

Dock Square between North and South Market streets
Boston, Massachusetts

“Fan’l” Hall and its market had for years formed a spontaneous browsing and shopping spot
for Bostonians and visitors alike, and the building’s brilliant restoration for the bicentennial
made this area even more enticing. The group is located just east of the government center
(Boston City Hall, see page 494) and extends to the Fitzgerald Expressway, which cruelly
slashes through the edge of the city. Recently, the city legislature has shown wisdom in rec-
ognizing and rehabilitating the surrounding architecture to the advantage of today and tomor-
row. There is a vitality in this ancient section of town that in no small part stems from the
stimulating variety of its buildings and the intriguing, often unexpected spaces between them.

Faneuil Hall itself was designed by the Edinburgh-born John L. Smibert, the fashionable
painter (one of the earliest) of American notables, who this once applied himself to architec-
ture. The accomplished result burned in 1761, leaving only the outer walls, but work was
immediately commenced on its rebuilding, a task finished two years later. In 1805 Charles
Bulfinch effected a vast enlargement of the hall by increasing the gable end from three bays
to seven, adding a third story, and enclosing the previously open ground-floor market. (It
should be added that the Bulfinch hall was completely rebuilt of fireproof materials in
1898-99.) With the new interior height Bulfinch created a taller and more handsome assem-
bly room. From the exterior the Bulfinch edition, although copying Smibert’s structure for the
two lower floors, is less elegant than its prototype (to judge from an old engraving): the three-
by-nine-bay original simply could not expand with grace to seven-by-nine plus a fifty percent
increase of height. Lumpiness results.

The Greek Revival Quincy Market was designed by Alexander Parris, a Maine-born
(1780-1852) architect who did much work in Boston. With Doric porticos clamped on each
end and a low domed block rising at the center (dome added in the 1880s), the Quincy Market
struggles to maintain cohesiveness over its 535-foot/163-meter length and 52-foot/16-meter
width. However, its design and its granite construction—one of its initial backers was a gran-
ite contractor—command respect after over one hundred and seventy years of strenuous
usage. (The one-piece column shafts were the largest then quarried in the United States.)

The sparkling restoration, really more a recycling than a restoration, by Benjamin Thompson
& Associates took the formerly run-down area, jammed with automobiles and lined with often
untenanted buildings (the markets having moved to new suburban quarters), and transformed
it into a tree-lined pedestrian mall bordered by a series of bright and attractive restaurants and
shops. The central backbone market (Quincy) expands laterally via glazed and awninged enclo-
sures that in summer open onto the mall as sidewalk cafes. Numerous benches under the
locust trees extend the munching possibilities and add to the informal “do-it-yourselfness” and
jollity that characterize the whole development night and day. (Note the multiple twenty-watt
lamp standards; also the graphics). Pushcarts—Thompson-designed—and occasional enter-
tainers contribute to the scene.
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On the Quincy Market interior the architects and developer were careful to maintain the
market heritage and to establish “non-arty” specialty shops and restaurants, generally ethnic
(almost all family-owned), without supermarket domination. They also kept Parris’s central
colonnade to maintain the bazaar atmosphere and ensure circulation ease, established strict
rules for signs, and opened up the floor under the restored dome. Tempting sights and redo-
lent smells contribute no small part to the atmosphere. The two flanking buildings are pri-
marily devoted to shops (clothing, jewelry, luggage), with several upper-bracket restaurants
and office floors above.

Significantly, the architects not only wanted to make the three-block enclave alive and fes-
tive, and, of course, commercially viable, they also sought to create a pedestrian isthmus, the
whole acting as an active link between the government center to the west, the new skyscraper
development on several sides, and the residential waterfront sector then being rapidly devel-
oped—much of it by rehabilitating old docks—to the east. The area shows enlightened urban-
ism and a marvelous use of the old. The Rouse Company of Columbia, Maryland was its wise
and sympathetic developer, while the Boston Redevelopment Authority had a contributory
hand in both planning and financing, with preservationists eagerly backing the project. As Ben
Thompson has said, “Bringing people and vitality back into the city. ... That's what Quincy
Market is all about.” A glorious urban metamorphosis.

Most buildings open Monday—Saturday 10:00 A.M.—9:00 P.M., Sunday 12:00 noon-5:00 P.M. For more information call (617)
523-1300. PA 9/71, PA1/75, AR 12/77, JAIA 5/78, Int 1/79, JAIA 6/81
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EPHRATA CLOISTER (1740-46)
632 West Main Street
Ephrata, Pennsylvania

The Ephrata Cloister is one of the country’s major architectural groups of the eighteenth cen-
tury and, reputedly, the earliest Protestant monastery in the United States. Fortunately some
of its major buildings, which date from the 1740s, survive and have been carefully restored to
give a revealing index of Palatinate-inspired architecture. They reflect the northwest German
homeland of Georg Konrad Beissel, who founded Ephrata in 1732 as a religious, primarily celi-
bate community for the German Seventh-Day Baptist Church. The society prospered and ran
a successful farm, tannery, and several mills; it also founded a noted choral school and estab-
lished one of the finest printing presses in the fledgling colonies. The most compelling single
building is the three-story Saron, or Sisters’ House (1743), with steeply pitched roof, shed
dormers (instead of gabled ones), vertically lapped shakes, and tiny windows. The attached
Saal, or chapel (1741), stands at a right angle, creating a fine medieval, almost Hanseatic,
group. Note the projecting framing beams of the Saal capped against the weather.

The interiors, meticulously restored, reflect the frugal life of the community. In what
might be called architectural masochism, the halls are lengthy and narrow to suggest the only
path to heaven, the doorways are low to encourage humility by requiring constant stooping,
and the wooden beds were made too short to allow indulgent rest. The Sisters” House and
most of the smaller buildings are of wood (several have vanished), but the Almonry, where not
only alms were distributed to the poor but where bread was baked and grain stored, is of local
stone. The Saal is of half-timbering and stone. Celibacy, factionalism, and the changing socio-
economic pattern of America’s development occasioned the demise of the communal society,
and in 1814 it was incorporated into the German Seventh-Day Baptist Church, which used the
buildings until 1934. The Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission acquired the site
in 1941 and restored the surviving buildings.

Open Monday—Saturday 9:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M., Sunday 12:00 noon—5:00 p.M. Closed for holidays. Admission is $5 for adults,
$4 for senior citizens, $3 for children ages 6-17. Tours given daily 10:00 A.M.—4:00 P.M. on the hour. For more information
call (717) 733-6600.
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CARTER’S GROVE PLANTATION (1740-55/1927-28)
8797 Pocahontas Trail
Williamsburg, Virginia

Though the exterior of Carter’s Grove has been substantially altered by additions, the house
remains one of the nation’s most distinguished Georgian examples, while the interior is of the
greatest splendor. The kitchen dependency (to the east) is the oldest part of the house; its back
section probably dates from 1740. The mansion previously consisted of a two-story central
block, hip-roofed and without dormers, 72 feet/22 meters long, and separated by 24.5 feet/7.5
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meters from flanking gable-roofed, story-and-a-half dependencies 40 feet/12 meters long.
(The dependencies antedate the main house.) It was set in standard plantation pattern, which
was derived from the usual English prototypes. Then in 1927-28 carefully designed hyphens
were put in to connect the three detached buildings, while rows of dormers were installed on
the main roof, which was then raised 11 feet/3.4 meters to accommodate new rooms on the
third floor. The entire operation (plus the addition of slate roofing and removal of an old
porch) was skillfully carried out, and the house is more impressive as a 201-foot-/61-meter-
long, ground-loving mansion than as three individual buildings—as a look at old photographs
will confirm. Carter’s Grove is very similar to the earlier Westover in Charles City, Virginia (see
page 68), which has also been altered by the addition of hyphens.
However the more recent hyphens at Carter’s Grove are far supe-
rior, as is its elegant massing. The terraced gardens—called
“falling gardens” in the eighteenth century—which originally
stepped down to the James River, have been reconstructed.

On the interior, the mansion reaches its impressive peak. Its
axially aligned entry salon and stair hall have no peer in this coun-
try—“the finest room in all Georgian architecture” (Hugh
Morrison)—while its parade of other chambers is not far behind.
Both entry and hall are paneled in locally cut heart pine, which
was painted when the house was built, while stairs and balusters
are of walnut. The tread nosings are secured with nails concealed
behind inlays in the form of stars and hearts, and the carving of
the consoles at the end of each tread is noteworthy. (The stairs
from the second to third floor date from the 1927-28 changes.)
The hall is vibrant, its space pulling one up the stair while the lat-
eral halls attract one through the front rooms. The interior has
recently been reinterpreted to reflect the period of the 1930s
through the ’5os. The long corridor seen today through and be-
yond the two riverfront rooms did not exist, of course, before the
hyphens were added and the previous windows made into doors.

The conjoined halls, with the suave elliptical arch separating
them, are reputedly the work of Richard Bayliss, who came from
England to do the woodwork. David Minitree, a local brickmason,
was the contractor/builder, while Richard Taliaferro, some
authorities believe, may have had a hand in the mansion’s overall
design. Whoever the progenitor, and whatever we may feel about
the changes carried through, the house unquestionably is one of
the country’s greatest. Upon the death of the owner, the property
was purchased in 1963 by the Sealantic Fund and opened to the
public the following year. Late in 1969 the Rockefeller-supported
fund gave the house to the nearby Colonial Williamsburg
Foundation, which wisely doubled the acreage to preserve the
estate from intrusion.

Located southwest off us 60, turn off 6.2 miles/10 kilometers southeast of Williams-
burg. Run by the Colonial Williamsburg Foundation. Open Tuesday—Sunday 9:00
AM.—5:00 P.M. Closed from the end of December until the second week in March.
Admission is $17 for adults, $10 for children ages 6—12. The Colonial Williamsburg one-
year pass ($30 for adults, $18 for children) also allows admission to Carter’s Grove. Self-
guided tours available. For more information call (804) 229-1000, ext. 2973.
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CHARLESTON GARDENS (1741-1920s)
Charleston, South Carolina

Middleton Place, Magnolia Plantation and Gardens, and Cypress Gardens, two on the same
road northwest of Charleston and the third nearby, are, in season, among the greatest gardens
to be seen. Even in late summer, they will stir the soul, but from February to April, when first
the camellias and then the azaleas are in bloom, these plantations will leave the beholder
stunned by nature’s poetry in plants, trees, lawns, and waters.

MIDDLETON PLACE (1741-51)
Ashley River Road
Charleston, South Carolina

Middleton Place was begun in 1741, and is the country’s oldest landscaped garden still in exis-
tence. Its 65 acres/26 hectares were formally organized, with enormous parterres stepping
down to the Ashley River. Several pools, including the 664-foot/202-meter reflection pool, are
appropriately situated. The whole is carefully related to the mansion. It reputedly took one
hundred men ten years to lay it out.

The gardens boast uncountable camellias—introduced to Middleton in 1786 by André
Michaux, a French botanist: only one of the four original plants are still alive. Azaleas and other
flowers abound, while the enormous live oaks, veiled with Spanish moss, add a mysterious
dreamlike quality to the landscape. After years of almost total neglect the parterres and gardens
were restored primarily through the efforts of the J. J. Pringle Smiths—Mr. Smith was a
Middleton descendant—earlier in this century. The Garden Club of America, in celebrating the
two hundredth anniversary of Middleton, called it “the most important garden in America.”

Unfortunately the main house and the north flanker were destroyed in 1865 during the
Civil War; only the battered south wing remains. This “gentlemen’s guest wing” was repaired
in 1870 by Williams Middleton and adorned with what Hugh Morrison termed “anachronis-




tic Flemish gables” (Early American Architecture, Oxford University Press, 1952). The ends
indeed resemble the Jacobean influence evident at Bacon’s Castle (see page 41) in Surry,
Virginia, built c. 1656. The interior, opened to the public in 1975, is well worth seeing, being
furnished with many original Middleton furnishings. The stable yards are nearby. The prop-
erty is administered by the non-profit Middleton Place Foundation.

Located 14 miles/22.5 kilometers northwest of downtown Charleston, on sc 61. Open daily 9:00 A.M.=5:00 P.M. Admission is
$12 for adults, $11 for senior citizens and military personnel, $6 for children ages 6-12. Half-hour tours are available Monday
1:30—4:30 P.M., Tuesday—Sunday 10:00 A.M.—4:30 P.M.; the cost is $6 per person. For more information, call (803) 556—6020.
Lunch is served in the restaurant (open daily 11:00 A.M.—3:00 P.M.). PA 5/86

While in the vicinity, be sure to see the Middleton Inn (located on Ashley River Road, tele-
phone [803] 556—0500), which opened to the public in 1986. Designed by Clark & Menefee
Architects, this imaginative fifty-five-room hotel made predominantly of wood, stucco-covered
brick, and concrete is just one-quarter mile from Middleton Gardens. A main lodge plus three
smaller buildings of guest rooms with floor-to-ceiling glass windows overlook the Ashley River.

MAGNOLIA PLANTATION AND GARDENS (1830-50s)
Ashley River Road
Charleston, South Carolina

Magnolia Gardens has an ancient horticultural history; the house on the site dates from 1672,
and the Flowerdale French formal garden—which remains today—was formed in 1680. The
present English formal garden was added in the late 1700s, and a major period of growth and
planning occurred in the 1830s. As at Middleton, the original house was wantonly destroyed
during the Civil War. The house standing today was moved to this site after the war; it dates
from the pre-Revolutionary period. However, the gardens sustained fairly limited damage and
were opened to the public in 1870 to provide income for the family. There are, among other
flowers, some five hundred varieties of camellias. The layout is more romantic than
Middleton, with a number of lakes, including several lined with bald cypress with their typical
“knees”; their waters have been made almost black from the tannic acid of these roots.
Altogether a dream, or, as John Galsworthy said, “the most beautiful garden in the world.”

Located 12 miles/19 kilometers northwest of downtown Charleston, on sc 61. March—November open daily 8:00 A.M.—5:30
.M. December—February open daily 8:30 A.M.—4:30 P.M. Admission to the grounds and gardens is $9 for adults, $7 for teens,
$4 for children ages 6—12, free for children under 6. Admission to the house is $5 per person, free for children under 6. A 45-
minute nature-train tour of the plantation is available at a cost of $3 for adults, $2 for teens, $1 for children ages 6-12, free
for children under 6. For more information call (803) 571-1266.

CYPRESS GARDENS (1920s)
3030 Cypress Gardens Road
Moncks Corner, South Carolina

The Taxodium distichum buft will find at Cypress Gardens a satisfying quota (160 acres/65
hectares) of this wonderful tree, which is best seen by rowboat. (The lake was originally used as
a freshwater impoundment for cultivating rice.) The gardens, laid out in the 1920s and ampli-
fied by azaleas and other flowers, were generously given to the City of Charleston in 1963.

Located approximately 24 miles/39 kilometers north of Charleston, 4 miles/6.4 kilometers east of us 52. Open daily 9:00
AM.—5:00 P.M. Closed Thanksgiving, Christmas, and New Year's Day. March—April admission is $6 for adults, $5 for senior
citizens, $2 for children ages 6-16. May—February admission is $5 for adults, $4 for senior citizens, $2 for children. For more
information call (803) 553-0515.
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HUNTER HOUSE (c. 1748)
54 Washington Street at ElIm
Newport, Rhode Island

As one of the finest examples of the Colonial period in the country, the Hunter House merits
a visit. The house faces Narragansett Bay so that its original owner, the merchant Jonathan
Nichols, could watch his ships enter the harbor, a body of water that has seen a busier and tidi-
er past. The dwelling experienced declining fortunes, then serious alterations, beginning in
the latter part of the nineteenth century. It served as a convalescent home and later sheltered
the Sisters of St. Joseph. Originally the most elaborate entry was on the waterfront side but
this disappeared at the time a porch was added (c. 18772). When recently discovered in a near-
by rectory the door was retrieved and placed on the front of the house because the water
approach is now unimportant (a duplicate was made for the rectory). The beaded clapboards
establish a neutrality that emphasizes the garlanded, broken pediment of the entry, one of the
period’s most regal doorways. But it is within that the chief richness lies. On each of the two
main floors there are four rooms, all small in size though the central halls are spacious. The
rooms on both floors at the northeast corner (right on entering), with their fireplaces verged
on each side by shell cupboards, and with pilasters that fill and turn the corners, are notewor-
thy, but the wainscoted halls and the other rooms are outstanding. All has been beautifully
restored (1949) and refurnished by the Preservation Society of Newport County, a dedicated
group organized in 1945. (See Antoinette F. Downing and Vincent J. Scully, Jr.’s admirable
The Architectural Heritage of Newport, Rhode Island, Harvard University Press, 1952; Clarkson
N. Potter, Jr., 1967, for the historic background.)

May-October open daily 10:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M. April open Saturday-Sunday 10:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M. Admission is $6.50 for
adults, $3 for children 6—11. Tours available. For more information call (401) 847-1000.
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REDWOOD LIBRARY (1748-50)
50 Bellevue Avenue (between Old Beach Road and Redwood Street)
Newport, Rhode Island

Peter Harrison, architect

Palladio’s S. Giorgio
Maggiore  (1560) in
Venice was the double-
pedimented great-grand-
father of the Redwood
Library, but its direct
parentage, as Fiske Kim-
ball first pointed out,
was Edward Hoppus’s
Andrea Palladio’s Archi-
tecture, in Four Books of
1736. The skillful, British-
born and educated Peter
Harrison, though a sea
captain and merchant by
trade and later a Royal
Customs Collector, was a
knowledgeable architec-
tural amateur who had
the Hoppus book in his
library, along with works on Inigo Jones and Lord Burlington. For the Redwood Library
Harrison mulled the possibility of combining several vocabularies—at that time architecture
in America was still largely a vocabulary art—and came up with this accomplished, if deriva-
tive, result possibly in association with his brother Joseph. It vaunts, moreover, one of the ear-
liest portico and temple facades in the colonies following the much larger one on the second
St. Philip’s (1710—-23) in Charleston, a church that Harrison had visited. (Harrison also used a
portico in his later King’s Chapel in Boston—see page 86.) The Classic Revival expression of
the library is given greater similarity to its European prototypes by its precise imitation in
wood of ashlar construction, with paint sanded to resemble stone. Some feel that Harrison’s
use of the Classical was the forerunner of Thomas Jefferson’s.

A transverse wing by George Snell with octagonal cupola was added to the library in 1858;
a larger wing, designed by George C. Mason, was added at the rear in 18y5; four other addi-
tions were made in this century. Thus when viewed from the side—and only from the side—
there is an accretive and even awkward quality to the building. The facade, however, is
sophisticated. The interior, in spite of the additions, is surprisingly homogeneous, lofty and
dignified. In addition to its rare books—almost half the original collection survives—the
library has an important assemblage of eighteenth- and nineteenth-century portraits, includ-
ing one of Abraham Redwood, for whom the library is named. Note the garden’s eighteenth-
century octagonal gazebo, which formerly graced the Redwood country house; it is attributed
to Harrison.

Open Monday—-Saturday 9:30 A.M.—5:30 P.M. Closed for holidays. Group tours can be scheduled; a donation of $50 per group
is suggested. For more information call (401) 847-0292.
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KING’S CHAPEL (1749-54/1785-87)
58 Tremont Street at School Street
Boston, Massachusetts

Peter Harrison, architect

The truncated exterior of King’s Chapel—with 4-foot-/1.2-meter-thick dark granite walls (the
first in the colonies of stone) and a highly serious portico—is not inviting. Plans for a tower-
ing steeple had to be abandoned when funds ran out, and even the construction of the wood
Tonic portico came later (1785-87, but to Harrison’s design). But within one finds a lustrous,
ambitious nave aglow with chandelier, cream-colored walls, ornate coupled Corinthian
columns and entablature, vaulted galleries, a fine canopied pulpit (pulpit 1717, canopy later),
and red-damask-lined box pews. A lack of architectural coordination characterizes the chancel,
but the nave, which set out to be the most splendid in the colonies, wears well. Some histori-
ans consider it the finest Georgian church interior in the United States.

The original parish was established in 1686 as the first Church of England parish in the
Massachusetts Colony, and the earliest building was of wood. (The Puritans held organized
religion solely in their control until that time.) In the mid-eighteenth century Peter Harrison
designed the present structure, influenced by James Gibbs’s work in London. The new church
was built around the old, which was then thrown out through the windows of the new stone
building. The cemetery alongside gives a good contrast to the crowded site around the build-
ing. The American Revolution caused, understandably, a period of crisis for the Church of
England, and King’s Chapel was briefly closed during that war, to open in 1782 as the first
Unitarian church in the United States.

June—August open Monday—Saturday 9:30 A.M.—4:00 P.M.; April, May, and September open Monday, Friday, and Saturday
10:00 A.M.—4:00 P.M.; October—March open Saturday 10:00 A.M.—4:00 P.M. Admission is free, although a $1 donation is sug-
gested. Tours can be arranged by calling (617) 227—2155; there is a fee of $5 per person.
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PARLANGE (c. 1750)
False River
New Roads, Louisiana

Parlange was built only thirty-two years after New Orleans was founded (r718), so it gives us
an informative index of early domestic architecture in Louisiana. (This finds a climax eighty to
a hundred years later in the great Mississippi River plantations.) Parlange’s architecture is an
excellent example of the French-influenced raised cottage style or early Louisiana type.
Moreover it has been lived in continuously, mirabile dictu, by descendants of the same family
for eight generations. The house is built of stuccoed brick on the ground floor for the usual
protection against water and dampness (there was no stone in the Delta region for the stone-
trained French builders), and the circular columns that help support the gallery that surrounds
and “protects” the house are also of brick. (Their original, wedge-shaped formwork still exists.)
The upper part of the house was constructed of cypress and moss packed together with clay
and stuccoed, a technique known as bousillage, literally “bungled” or “botched.”

Although some changes have taken place over the years—the front stairs were probably
inside the gallery originally, the roof at the rear was extended in the middle of the last centu-
ry, and the formal garden in front has disappeared—Parlange provides as nostalgic a picture
as is to be had of an unfortunately vanishing species of French culture in the United States.
Note the unusually steep, French-influenced hip roof—its height precisely equals that of the
two floors—and the two dovecotes in front. The interior reveals some fine detailing (note, for
instance, the fanlights over the windows). For years only minimum upkeep could be made,
but after World War I the family was able to spruce the building up somewhat. The interior
and exterior were fully restored in the mid-1980s under the direction of a member of the
Parlange family.

Located 8 miles/13 kilometers north off us 190 on LA 1 or LA 78; or on LA 1, 6 miles/9.7 kilometers south of New Roads. Open
daily 9:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M. All visits are guided; tours are $7 per person. All visits must be scheduled in advance by calling (504)
638-8410.
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AQUIA CHURCH (1751-57)
2938 Jefferson Davis Highway
Stafford, Virginia

Almost hidden atop a knoll, Aquia Church (pronounced ak-quiah) stands peacefully sur-
rounded by a graveyard and a vast variety of trees. The muffled sounds of traffic seem eons
away. The building was constructed of red brick with prominent, locally quarried, Aquia Creek
sandstone quoins, echoed strongly around the doors. (This stone was also used for the United
States Capitol and the White House.) A certain quaintness characterizes the exterior but the
interior is marked by a lively cheeriness. The church grows from a Greek-cross plan (like that
of Christ Church in Irvington, Virginia, see page 70), its all-white plastered and painted inte-
rior producing a welcoming atmosphere. The interior is also thought to be a near copy of a
parish church in Overwharton, Staffordshire, England, whence came many of the region’s
early settlers.

There are two dominant elements within that attract attention: the pedimented panel on
the sanctuary wall and the three-tiered pulpit known as a “triple decker” at right. The pediment
is sharply detailed in white-painted wood with the Ten Commandments, the Apostles’ Creed,
and the Lord’s Prayer in four arched black panels impressively installed above the altar table.
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(In most seventeenth- and many early-eighteenth-century churches in England and the
colonies these works were built into the architecture because of the scarcity of books. This
ordinance stemmed from the 1604 Hampton Court Conference that stated, among other
requirements, that “the furniture of a church must include the Ten Commandments on the
east wall, with other chosen sentences.” Faith, prayer, and law—the Apostles’ Creed, the
Lord’s Prayer, and the Ten Commandments—were commonly used.) The pulpit at Aquia,
unlike many of the period, is spatially related to the sanctuary by its angled projection and its
triple desks, seasonally vested, creating thus good three-dimensional activity. The balusters in
the pulpit stairs and in the sanctuary railing are painted white and topped by dark walnut rails.
The square box pews are low and white with the same dark rails seen in the chancel. The organ
and choir are in the gallery over the west door. Natural light floods the interior via its double
row of windows, the top one roundheaded to emphasize from the outside that only one floor
exists within (as at Pohick Church in Lorton, Virginia, see page 109); the whole feeling of
space is admirable. (Inigo Jones’s Banqueting Hall in London probably inspired the window
arrangement.) Though no longer used, note the well-branched chandeliers.

A few years after its completion the church interior burned (1754), but it was rebuilt three
years later by the same “undertaker,” that is, builder/contractor, a gentleman with the lugu-
brious name of Mourning Richards, who did the work for 110,900 pounds/50,000 kilograms
of tobacco. Though repaired through the years, fortunately no major changes were made.
Its upkeep has been noteworthy due to a generous endowment given the church in 1873.
James Wren (little or no relation to Christopher) was, some feel, the architect, but this is by no
means certain.

Located just east of Aquia exit of I-95 and Us 1, 3 miles/4.8 kilometers north of Stafford Aquia Church. The church is open for
services on Sunday morning. Visits during the week by appointment only: contact (703) 659—4007.

ST. MICHAEL'S EPISCOPAL CHURCH (1752—-61)
14 St. Michael’s Alley
Charleston, South Carolina

Samuel Cardy, probable architect

St. Michael’s, its neighbor St. Philip’s (see page 190), and Philadelphia’s Christ Church (see
page 66), were three of the colonies’ great churches of the mid-eighteenth century. All three
derive from English prototypes with inspiration primarily from the architecture of Christopher
Wren and James Gibbs. The tower of the steeple of St. Michael’s rises in line with the entry
wall of the church a la Gibbs, unlike churches by Wren who “attached” towers outside the fab-
ric. The design of the lovely, much-copied, triple-stage, octagonal steeple on a square base
hints of Wren’s St. Bride, Fleet Street, London (1680), whose slender 227-foot-/69-meter-high
steeple has four octagonal stages on a square tower. The designer of the well-knit St. Michael’s
is not positively known, though the church believes that Samuel Cardy is the likeliest candi-
date. This conclusion is seconded by Gene Waddell, former director of the South Carolina
Historical Society. Cardy is also mentioned by HABs (Historic American Buildings Survey) as
probably being responsible for the design, while almost all agree that Cardy undertook con-
struction and supervision of the church. The attribution by some to Peter Harrison of Rhode
Island is thus very insubstantial.

St. Michael’s is rightly admired for its monumental Roman Doric portico (the present one
was rebuilt after the earthquake of 1886), and this was long considered the first of its great size
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to grace any church in the colonies. (The first English church with a freestanding portico with
giant columns was probably London’s St. George’s, Hanover Square [r712—24] by John James.)
However, the argument can be well advanced—and, it is thought, sustained—that the triple
porticos at the west end of nearby St. Philip’s, built in 1723, though destroyed by fire in 1835,
were almost exactly rebuilt (except for degree of projection) in 1835-38, making them the first
by almost thirty years. As St. Michael’s former historiographer put it, “It is clear that the
architect for St. Michael’s intended to copy St. Philip’s in the way of porticoes and out-do St.
Philip’s in the way of the tower.” (Which he certainly did.) The columns and walls of St.
Michael’s are of brick stuccoed and painted white, with the tower rising, as mentioned, flush
with the front wall, directly behind the portico. (The steeple’s high arcade level offers a fine
panorama of the city.)

The interior—changed only a bit through the years (1772, 1905)—is daringly trussed from
wall to wall, without intermediate supports. (The interior of Nicholas Hawksmoor’s St. Allege,
Greenwich, England [1712—14] has been mentioned as inspiration and is similarly spanned.)
The nave, which measures 70 feet/21 meters long by 51 feet/16 meters wide, tends to be rest-
less, contrasting the white plaster of ceiling and walls with the heavy cedar of the galleries,
which encroach upon the nave with their low broadness upheld by one-story supporting
columns. Highlighting the insistence of this dark wood is the freestanding, octagonal pulpit,
the massive cap of which rises above the gallery on the side. Behind this stands the chancel,
renovated and re-stenciled in 1905,
and resplendent in almost Byzantine
glory. The Victorian glass of the
Palladian chancel window (by Lewis
Comfort Tiffany, 1893), like that on
the side aisle, is anachronistic to the
eighteenth-century  spirit of the
church. (Such glass gives the same
infelicitous effect in several Greek
Revival churches and a Greek Revival
synagogue also in Charleston.)

A major renovation was completed
in 1993, restoring much of the church
to its original appearance. The organ,
some pipes of which are original,
stands in the case initially made for it
in 1768 by Johann Snetzler and im-
ported from London. The eight bells
in the steeple were also from London
(1764), sent back for repairs during
the Revolution and again to be recast
following their destruction during the
Civil War. Be sure to see the adjacent
cemetery with delicate wrought-iron
gate (1838) by J. A. W. Justi.

Open Monday—Friday 9:00 A.M.—4:45 P.M., Satur-
day 9:00 A.M.—12:00 noon. Sunday services held at
8:00 and 10:30 A.M. 10-minute tours given after
Sunday 10:30 service. For more information call
(803) 723-0603.
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NASSAU HALL (1754—56; 1855)
Princeton University

Nassau Street at Witherspoon
Princeton, New Jersey

Robert Smith and William Shippen, architects

When Nassau Hall (named
for William of Orange and
Nassau, who later became
William 111 of England) was
finished in 1756 it was the
largest academic building
in the colonies—and con-
tained the entire facilities
of the college. Shelled and
injured in the Revolu-
tionary War, it has served
such various nonacademic
functions as a barracks
and, for a brief time, as the
capitol of the fledgling
United States. The build-
ing was designed primarily
by Robert Smith, who,
fresh from his native
Scotland, was working in
Philadelphia. Nassau Hall
was his first independent
commission; Dr. William
Shippen was his associate.
The building displays a
dignified, straightforward
facade highlighted only by
its projected entry, or pavilion, and pediment. It is simply built of local stone, a material more
informal than the hall’s Georgian symmetry would normally suggest but one that creates a
sympathetic ambiance. Following a fire in 1804 it was repaired by Benjamin Latrobe. The
cupola was remodeled (and overly enlarged) in 1855 when the building was rebuilt (John
Notman, architect) after another serious fire destroyed much of the interior. Two of the origi-
nal three front doors were also then removed. The faculty room, which was formerly the
chapel, projects at right angles to the building at the rear; it possesses a particularly handsome
interior. Nassau Hall was, for its time and the experience of its designer, a surprisingly com-
petent and original building. It exerted considerable influence on New England college build-
ing in the late eighteenth century from Harvard (Hollis Hall, 1763), to Brown (University Hall,
1771), to Dartmouth (Dartmouth Hall, 1791).

Open to the public Monday—Friday 9:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M. The interior and exterior of Nassau Hall are part of a free campus tour
given by the Orange Key Guide Service. Tours given Monday—Saturday at 10:00 A.M., 11:00 A.M., 1:30 P.M., and 3:30 P.M.,
Sunday at 1:30 and 3:30 P.M. No tours given on major holidays or during winter or spring recesses. For more information call
(609) 258-3603.
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TROXELL-STECKEL HOUSE (1755-56)
4229 Reliance Street
Egypt, Pennsylvania

The Troxell-Steckel House and the barn facing
it are prime examples of the rural vernacular of
eastern Pennsylvania of two hundred years ago.
Although most of the region’s settlers came
from western Germany and Switzerland, hence
were more accustomed to constructing with
half-timbering and brick than with stone, the
limestone ledge that runs just below the soil of
the eastern part of Pennsylvania proved an irre-
sistible material. It is this lovely stone—some-
times naively employed (with few arches or corbels)—the direct geometry of its use, and its
frequent conjunction with red-painted wood that make this area the home of some of the
finest autochthonous farm buildings in the country. The steep roof of the house, its half-tim-
bered interior walls, and its oversized fireplaces suggest medieval German influences in its
design. Recently, new shakes have been put on the roof and on the pent roof that marks the
top of the ground floor (and helps protect its windows), while the interior has been complete-
ly redone. The property was acquired by the Lehigh County Historical Society (1942) and
restored by them (1943), with John K. Heyl, architect. It is one of the few farm groups in the
Pennsylvania Dutch country accessible to the public. (The “Dutch” misnomer arose either
from a garbled “Deutsch” or from the fact that most of the German immigrants to Pennsyl-
vania in the eighteenth century left for the New World from the port of Rotterdam.) The stone
lower floor of the barn, the vibrant red paint on the upper wooden section, and the Hexenfoos
decoration—here indicating propitiation for rain—are typical of the region. (Hexe means
“witch” or “sorceress” in German.) House and barn are now a most welcome museum.

Located 6 miles/9.6 kilometers north of Allentown on PA 145, left on PA 329. June—September open Saturday-Sunday 1:00—
4:00 P.M. Closed for holidays. June-October guided tours are available Saturday—Sunday 1:00-4:00 P.M. For more informa-
tion call (610) 435-4664. The barn buff will find other examples in the area, though they are not open to the public. PA 143
and pa 662 provide reasonable hunting for examples that can be seen (only) from the road.

GUNSTON HALL (1755-59)
10709 Gunston Road
Mason Neck, Virginia

William Buckland, interiors and woodwork

The exterior of this small but ambitious house, which measures 6o x 40 feet/18 x 12 meters,
will not startle the observer. The interior, however, never descends to a level less than hand-
some, and in the Palladian drawing room achieves the sumptuous. Moreover, the box gardens
behind the house are worth the trip themselves.

It is said that George Mason, author of the Virginia Declaration of Rights, had started
building Gunston Hall, and had the exterior walls up when he realized that he needed a mas-
ter joiner to complete the dwelling properly. As his brother Thomson was then finishing his
study of law in England, George asked him to find a skilled man there to work as an inden-

92



tured servant to finish the house. William Buckland, who had just completed his lengthy
apprenticeship in the Joiners’ Guild, was chosen—happily for the future development of archi-
tecture in the colonies—and came to Virginia as an indentured servant, like many before him.
Gunston Hall was his first independent work in a career that reached its climax in the famous
Hammond-Harwood House (1774-80) in Annapolis, Maryland (see page 116). It is astonish-
ing that Buckland, then in his early twenties, could produce such knowledgeable design and
detail as the interior of Gunston, but his innate cleverness and his access to the usual books
turned out a rich result.

The drawing room, as mentioned, is the climax of the house, but the dining room, the so-
called “Chinese room,” was more innovative in that it was one of the first Oriental-influenced
examples in the colonies, at a time when the style was coming into high fashion in England
(influenced by the China tea trade). (It is the only chinoiserie woodwork scheme to survive
from the colonial era.) The central hall, like many in the South, was often used in hot weath-
er as a parlor, as its doors could be opened at both ends, thus forming an enclosed dogtrot, so
to speak. The master bedroom was, as usual at that time, on the ground floor, with the chil-
dren’s rooms in the half story above—though room usage then was more flexible than today.

Gunston suffered after the Civil War—its kitchen dependency was replaced by an awkward
addition, and its other outbuildings demolished, while its famous garden was largely ignored.
Louis Hertie, the last private owner, purchased the house in 1912 and made many improve-
ments; in 1932 he generously willed the estate to the Commonwealth of Virginia. Since then
it has been fully restored, while the superb grounds and garden have been put back in impec-
cable shape under the expertise of the Garden Club of Virginia. Gunston Hall was opened to
the public in 1952 under the direction of the National Society of the Colonial Dames of
America. A second major renovation was begun in 1982.

In 1974 facilities for visitors were notably expanded by the Ann Mason Building, with
Philip Ives as architect. Avoiding specious references to Gunston Hall itself (which stands
some hundred yards away), or to the adjacent “Colonial” office block (1957), Ives took the brick
and slate used in the eighteenth-century house and built a complex that is both architectural-
ly comfortable with its neighbors and strictly of its time, appropriately scaled and with well-
canted roof lines. (Note also the freedom displayed by the outsized panes of glass.) The facili-
ties include reception, exhibition space and museum, gift shop, and a 200-seat auditorium
with kitchen adjacent, and extensive parking on two sides.

Located 4 miles/6.4 kilometers east of us 1 on vA 242 (near Lorton). Open 9:30 A.M.—5:00 P.M. daily. Grounds open until 6:00
p.M. Closed on Thanksgiving, Christmas, and New Year's Day. Admission is $5 for adults, $4 for senior citizens, $1.50 for chil-
dren ages 6—17. Free tours given every half-hour. For more information call (703) 550-9220.
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MOUNT VERNON (1757-58/1777-84/1787)
Mount Vernon, Virginia

Ann Pamela Cunningham has not as yet appeared on a United States postage stamp. She
should. For this energetic South Carolinian woman not only alerted the women that saved
Mount Vernon from disintegration in the 1850s, she and her cohorts saw to it that funds were
raised to purchase (1858) and restore the house and grounds. (Unbelievably, the U.S.
Government and the Commonwealth of Virginia had each refused to buy the house and prop-
erty, when, through the decline of its farming potential, the estate was offered for sale.) During
the Civil War they personally kept off troops of both sides. This great mansion was preserved,
and America was made dramatically conscious of its significant architectural heritage and the
need to preserve it. (George Washington’s headquarters in Newburgh, New York, built in
1750, had been rescued from demolition in 1850, but this is a small structure.)

In a way it can be said that Thomas Jefferson’s Monticello (see page 110) and Washington’s
Mount Vernon, violently dissimilar though they appear, share several key characteristics: they
are both Palladian in plan (with semidetached dependencies in the case of Mount Vernon) and
they both took a great many years
to build and rebuild, each starting
life with a small initial core that
was expanded enormously. More-
over, both buildings freely de-
ployed “textbook” details in doors
and windows.

The additions to Washington’s
dwelling were so substantial and
often so poorly coordinated in ar-
chitectural terms that a price was
paid: that price can be seen on the
entrance side (only), where we are
left with a less than satisfactory
facade. A pediment (1778), seem-
ingly tacked on as an afterthought,
tries valiantly to pull this flat front
together, while the irregular win-
dow spacing, instead of lending
liveliness, merely looks amateur-
ish. The second-story windows at
the northeast end are fake (to dis-
guise the high-ceilinged banquet
room that fills this end of the
house). Let us say that the rest of
the exterior compensates. At the
northeast end, a broken-pediment
Palladian window—taken direct
from Batty Langley’s Treasury of
Designs of 1740—embellishes the
end, while along this inspired
southeast front we find the coun-
try’s first two-story, full-width,
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squared column portico, a feature that is as functional as it is beautiful, as it ties the house to
its natural setting.

This “piazza” pioneered a unique architectural development we now imprecisely call
“southern Colonial” (even though it took place after the Revolution). Domestic porticos were
not previously unknown. Scores of houses—f{rom Andrea Palladio’s Villa Capra (possibly the
first), to Colin Campbell’s Mereworth Castle and Lord Burlington’s Chiswick in England—had
Palladian-inspired porticos adorning their fronts (and often sides and backs). But these were
abutments, so to speak—a focal point on the facade. Washington made his airy, princely porch
the facade itself, its ample depth (14 feet/4.3 meters) shielding the southeast wall from sum-
mer sun by day, while enabling the upper rooms to keep their bedroom windows open day and
night, even in heavy rain. As a place to sit in the late afternoon, with its glorious panoramic
view of the Potomac River, this porch was Washington’s open-air living room and entertain-
ment center for much of the year. Like an urban arcade it served as a spatial intermedium
between architecture and landscape, tying both together in mutual harmony. It was probably
Washington’s “ignorance” of “correct” architecture—abetted by his natural desire for an out-
door “room”—that prompted its creation.

The first Mount Vernon—ironically named for a British admiral under whom Washing-
ton’s half-brother Lawrence had served—was a one-and-one-half-story, smallish dwelling
(erected mid-r730s). In 1754 George acquired the title to the house, and in r757—-58, in antici-
pation of his marriage to Martha Dandridge Custis (1759), enlarged the house by the addition
of a full second floor, and expanded it laterally by dependencies (which were later replaced).
The original farmhouse and its new height form the central part of Mount Vernon today; a hall
with two rooms on either side (of slightly unequal size) and chimneys at the ends was incor-
porated into the final building. The exterior of the house was sheathed with wood beveled in
imitation of stone and painted with a sand-finished paint—a Kentish and New England tech-
nique not previously used in the South. The popularity of the Washingtons—they were rarely
without guests—and the attendant need for larger entertainment space prompted George to
make the final expansions to the house, which were carried out from 1777-84, largely during
the General’s absence. Two additions were made to the central core, one at northeast (23 feet/7
meters) forming a multipurpose dining room, and one at southwest (22 feet/6.7 meters) pro-
viding for a study, another flight of stairs, and a pantry on the ground floor, with General
Washington’s room above. The present dependencies and their connecting colonnades were
also constructed at this time, as was the famous piazza. The cupola dates from 1787.

The interiors of Mount Vernon, while not as elaborate as those of some of the James River
plantations, are suitably rich; the delicate Adamesque plaster work in the ceiling of the dining
room is noteworthy. But the main impact of Mount Vernon does not derive just from the
house itself, or even its wonderful portico, but from the house, its situation, its outbuildings,
and its extensive gardens (which should by all means be seen). All have been woven together
to create a complex that provides one of the highlights of late-eighteenth-century American
architecture.

The Mount Vernon Ladies’ Association gives Washington complete credit for the design of
what we see today. As a surveyor he was, of course, familiar with drafting instruments (a set
of which is preserved in the house) and he had the usual English architectural books. Mount
Vernon’s house and grounds form one of our masterpieces—and not just because they shel-
tered our first president. The nation will be forever grateful to Ann Cunningham.

Located at end of George Washington Memorial Parkway, 14 miles/23 kilometers south of Washington, b.c. November—
February open daily 9:00 A.M.—4:00 p.M.; April-August open daily 8:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M.; March, September, and October open
daily 9:00 A.M.=5:00 P.M. Admission is $7 for adults, $6 for senior citizens, and $3 for children ages 6-11. There is a self-guid-
ed tour; guides are also available to answer questions.
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TOURO SYNAGOGUE (1759-63)
85 Touro Street at Division Street
Newport, Rhode Island

Peter Harrison, architect

Congregation Jeshuat Israel’s Sephardic
forebears had been attracted to Rhode
Island by Roger Williams’s espousal in the
1640s of religious tolerance—that startling
concept in the early colonies. They built in
Newport what is now the oldest synagogue
in North America. Peter Harrison, conve-
nient and talented, and with his Redwood
Library (see page 85) just up the street, was
chosen as its architect. The synagogue’s
beige exterior, highlighted by a small porti-
co, stands calmly on its open site, its un-
usual angle to the street arising from the
necessity to have the ark face east.

After the reticence of the outside the
closely packed architectural activity of the
interior hits one with surprising force: it is
one of the most accomplished rooms in the
American colonies. Slightly longer than it
is wide (approximately 40 x 30 feet/12 x 9
meters), the temple’s modest size is impacted on three sides by the balconies for the women
and by the prominent bema and sanctuary that occupy much of the central floor space. The
men of the original congregation sat only on wainscot benches along the sides under the bal-
conies, not in the center. The galleries are supported by twelve columns—Ionic below,
Corinthian above—which, of course, recall the twelve tribes of Israel. Columns, balustrade,
and entablature are precisely detailed, the balusters around the bema and sanctuary repeating
those defining the balconies. Most of these architectural elements, including the basic inner
form, were freely adopted from English books, with many details inspired by James Gibbs, but
they were incorporated with an innate feeling for both space and detail. Some authorities be-
lieve that Bevis Marks, the Spanish and Portuguese synagogue (1701) on Hencage Lane in
London—the oldest in England and a building that Harrison had almost undoubtedly seen—
was influential in the Newport building, particularly for its interior. The Sephardic synagogue
in Amsterdam is also seen by some as a model for this structure.

The synagogue experienced difficult days after the Revolution (as did Newport itself), and
almost all of the congregation dispersed to New York; for much of the nineteenth century the
synagogue was closed. If it had not been for the thoughtful generosity of the sons of the first
rabbi, Isaac Touro, who left funds in their wills for the preservation of the synagogue, and for
their sister who saw that those funds were put to proper use—hence giving this structure the
popular name it now carries—the building would have vanished. Today, fortunately, it stands
in excellent shape, and is in use for services by an active congregation.

In summer, open Sunday—Friday 10:00 A.M.—4:00 P.M. In winter, open Sunday—Friday 1:00-3:00 p.M. All visits are guided; free
half-hour tours are given. For more information call (401) 847-4794.
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WENTWORTH-GARDNER HOUSE (1760)
50 Mechanic Street
Portsmouth, New Hampshire

Peter Harrison, architect

Locally held to be one of the most nearly perfect examples of Georgian architecture in
America, this riverfront house was once owned by New York’s Metropolitan Museum of Art.
Recent evidence suggests that Peter Harrison was the house’s architect and Michael Whidden
the master builder. Its ocher facade sports a flat, pine, “blocked front”—that is, wide boards
cut in imitation of stone—a lapidary presumption accentuated by the white painted quoins.
Clapboards sheathe the other three sides. The plan measures 46.8 x 36.6 feet/14.2 x 11 meters.
The magnificent Baroque entry, the neatly pedimented shutterless lower windows, and the hip
roof with dormers create a quietly positive presence. The original garden extension to the river
has been severed by the road. The interior is notable for its exuberant late Georgian carving—
done by local artisans—and for its scenic wallpaper, particularly the hand-painted paper in the
dining room. The spacious upstairs hall reels with a parade of pilasters, architrave, frieze, cor-
nice, and cove ceiling. The kitchen should also be seen, for, among other items, its 6.5-foot-
/2-meter-wide chimney. The four rooms of the first floor, each with fireplace, some with orig-
inal English tiles, are directly mirrored above. The whole house was beautifully restored some
years ago by a former owner, Wallace Nutting, who removed non-original clapboards from the
front and even discovered its lovely stair in another house. It has been well furnished and was
opened to the public in 1940.

Open mid-June through mid-October Tuesday—Sunday 1:00-4:00 p.m. Closed July 4 and Labor Day. Admission is $4 for adults,
$2 for children over 12. Half-hour tours are available. For more information call (603) 436—4406 (June to October only).
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LADY PEPPERRELL HOUSE (1760/1923)
24 Pepperrell Road
Kittery Point, Maine

The Lady Pepperrell House, overlooking the Piscataqua River, stands in somewhat lonely
grandeur outside the town of Kittery Point. It attains a highly patrician quality through its cen-
tral pedimented pavilion boldly delineated by two-story Ionic pilasters. The richness of these
pilasters is reemphasized by the simplicity of the sides of the house and the dormer-less roof.
(An open porch added by John Mead Howells in 1923 stands at the left end.) Though this
Georgian mansion is built entirely of wood, the smooth siding of the pavilion and the quoins
at the corners both imitate stone, as was often the fashion of the day. The Lady Pepperrell
House was given to the Society for the Preservation of New England Antiquities in 1942, the
house donated by Mrs. Lovell Hodge, the contents by Hodge and Catharine Parry. The fire-
places, mantels, and woodwork are outstanding. “This truly elegant house may be counted as
one of the very finest Colonial mansions ever built in Maine.” (Maine Forms of American
Architecture, Deborah Thompson, ed., Downeast Magazine, 1976. This book is a highly rec-
ommended survey of Maine’s notable buildings.)

Located on ME 103, 2 miles/3.2 kilometers west of Kittery Point and 4 miles/6.4 kilometers from Portsmouth, New Hampshire.
Privately owned since 198s. The interior is not open to the public.
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MOFFATT-LADD HOUSE (1760-63)
154 Market Street
Portsmouth, New Hampshire

Though it was built only three years after the Wentworth-Gardner House, the Moffatt-Ladd
House expresses on the exterior far more New England than England with its foursquare,
commanding bulk surmounted by a balustraded captain’s walk. Records show that it was built
under the supervision of Michael Whidden. The house’s box form hints of the Federal Style,
which reached its zenith years later in the famous town houses of Charles Bulfinch and
Samuel McIntire. Moffatt-Ladd establishes a unity with its setting, which is masterminded by
the picket fence angling to the front door and by the extensive garden to the rear. The house
enjoys a splendid sweep of the Piscataqua River in front—its captain’s walk was an active one.
The most distinctive features of the facade—one of the first in the town to have three stories—
are the line of theatrically pedimented second-floor windows and the subdued portico with
flanking windows at entry level. The top-floor windows abut and almost disappear into the cor-
nice. A spacious and elaborate stair-hall, instead of being a routine central divider of the house,
occupies the northeast corner, a location more of English than Colonial derivation. Paneling,
cornice, and stair are outstanding. In the yellow bed chamber, the unique wallpaper border
depicting hunting scenes (taken from copper prints) should be noted, as should the French
wallpaper in the hall (1815-20) and the detailing and carving throughout the house. Be certain
to see the garden and the separate Counting House (183132, off Market Street). The Colonial
Dames of America in the State of New Hampshire owns the house, having acquired it from
the heirs in 1912.

June 15-October 15 open Monday—Saturday 11:00 A.M.=5:00 P.M., Sunday 2:00-5:00 P.M. Open by appointment the rest of the
year. Admission is $4 for adults, $1 for children ages 7—12. All visits are guided; 45-minute tours are given every half-hour. For
more information call (603) 436-8221.
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BRICK MARKET (1762-72)
Washington Square at Thames Street
Newport, Rhode Island

Peter Harrison, architect

For this market Peter Harrison adopted the design of Somerset House by Inigo Jones and
John Webb published in Vitruvius Britannicus, volume 1 (1715-25). (See Carl Bridenbaugh,
Peter Harrison, First American Architect, University of North Carolina Press, 1949.) Instead of
a five-bay frontal design, the Newport version is a three-by-seven-bay freestanding building 33
x 66 feet/10 x 20 meters in size. Thus Harrison, in this, his last major work, as in his first (the
Redwood Library—see page 85), was heavily dependent upon his phenomenal collection of
architectural books, a not unreasonable possession for an architectural dilettante. The Brick
Market, though built for the transaction of goods—its ground floor was originally open in the
approved market fashion, while its upper two stories contained offices—was remodeled as a
theater in 1793, then from 1853 to 1900 used as the city hall. The exterior was restored (1928)
and the interior rebuilt (1930), as the plaque outside proclaims, under Norman M. Isham
through the generosity of John Nicholas Brown. The building is owned by the city of Newport.
In 1988 it was restored, and in 1993 the Newport Historical Society took over the structure to
house the Museum of Newport History.

January—March open Tuesday-Saturday 11:00 A.M.—4:00 P.M., Sunday 1:00-4:00 P.M. April-December open Monday,
Wednesday—Saturday 10:00 A.M.—5:00 P.M., Sunday 1:00-5:00 p.M. Closed New Year's Day, Thanksgiving, and Christmas.
Admission is $5 for adults, $4 for senior citizens, $3 for children ages 6-13, and $13 per family. Guided tours are available.
For more information call (401) 846-0813.
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MOUNT CLARE (c. 1763/1906)

1500 Washington Boulevard at Monroe Street (us 1)
Carroll Park

Baltimore, Maryland

Mount Clare—Baltimore’s only remaining pre-Revolutionary mansion—does not fall into the
routine pattern of Georgian tidewater plantation houses. On the north side it projects an
unusual central bay with open portico below and enclosed room above emblazoned with a
large Palladian window, and, on the river front, it carries four two-story, two-toned brick
pilasters. (The a